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PART I

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking statements within the meaning of Sectioh @&#the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the S&EsiExchange Act of 1934, including statemerds ithvolve
expectations, plans or intentions (such as thotsing to future business or financial results, nieatures or
services, or management strategies). You can fgehtse forward-looking statements by words ssctray,”
“will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar
expressions. These forward-looking statementswevisks and uncertainties that could cause ouunalctesults to
differ materially from those expressed or implirdur forward-looking statements. Such risks anceutainties
include, among others, those discussed in “ltemRi&k Factors,” of this Annual Report on Form 1a&well as
our consolidated financial statements, related sptend the other financial information appearingeshere in this
report and our other filings with the SecuritiesdaBxchange Commission, or the SEC. We do not interttd
undertake no obligation, to update any of our fomvbooking statements after the date of this reponteflect
actual results or future events or circumstancase® these risks and uncertainties, readers ardioaad not to
place undue reliance on such forwtlooking statements.

” o ”u ” o« ” o ” o

ITEM 1: BUSINESS

Overview

eBay Inc. was formed as a sole proprietorship pt&@aber 1995 and was incorporated in Californisay
1996. In April 1998, we reincorporated in Delawaad in September 1998, we completed the initilipwffering
of our common stock. Our principal executive offigge located at 2145 Hamilton Avenue, San Joddo@éa
95125, and our telephone number is (408) 376-7M0n we refer to “we,” “our” or “eBay” in this Anmal Report
on Form 10-K, we mean the current Delaware corpmrgeBay Inc.) and its California predecessomnvel as all of
our consolidated subsidiaries. When we refer taaleBom,” we mean the online marketplace located at
www.ebay.comand its localized counterparts. When we refer tayfRal,” we mean the online payments platform
located atvww.paypal.conand its localized counterparts. When we refer toyf,” we mean the Voice over
Internet Protocol, or VolP, offerings provided hyrsubsidiary Skype Technologies S.A.

Our purpose is to pioneer new communities arouadatbrid built on commerce, sustained by trust awsgired
by opportunity. We provide online marketplacestf@ sale of goods and services as well as othereoocbmmerce,
or ecommerce, platforms, online payments servindsoaline communications offerings to a diverse camity of
individuals and businesses.

We have three operating segments: Marketplacesn®atg and Communications. Our Marketplaces segment
enables online commerce through a variety of platfy including the traditional eBay.com platforndasur other
online platforms, such as our classifieds webs#esyell as Half.com, Rent.com, Shopping.com antt$ub. The
wide array of websites that comprise our Marketpdagegment brings together millions of buyers afidrs every
day on a local, national and international basis. Payments segment, which consists of PayPal|enatdividuals
and businesses to securely, easily and quickly aaddeceive payments online. Our Communicatiogmset,
which consists of Skype, enables VolP communicatlmtween Skype users and provides low-cost canitgdb
traditional fixed-line and mobile telephones.

Marketplaces

Our Marketplaces segment is comprised of onlinernernse platforms that enable a global community of
buyers and sellers to interact and trade with om¢heer. Our goal is to create, maintain and exghadunctionality,
safety, ease-of-use and reliability of our onlimenterce platforms while supporting the growth ametess of our
community of users.
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Marketplaces Value Propositio

We seek to attract buyers and sellers to our contynbp offering:

Buyers Sellers

* Selectior * Access to broad global marke

* Value » Cost effective marketing and distributi
« Convenienct * Access to large buyer ba

* Entertainmen » Good conversion rate

We believe our Marketplaces platforms make ineffitimarkets more efficient because:

» Our global community of users can easily and inaegpely communicate, exchange information and
complete transaction

* Our Marketplaces platforms include more than a heghanillion items on any given day and make avédab
to our users a wide variety and selection of goadd

« We bring buyers and sellers together for lower thas traditional intermediarie

We seek to create a global platform that enabldisioluals and businesses of all types and sizestess broa
markets. We have aggregated a significant numbbuyérs, sellers and items listed for sale, whichyrn, has
resulted in a vibrant online commerce environménui: sellers generally enjoy good conversion ratesaur buyer
enjoy an extensive selection of goods and serviéeg.components of our community philosophy arentzning
honest and open marketplaces and treating indivitkeas with respect. We seek to maintain thefsatisn and
loyalty of our buyers and sellers by offering aiegr of community and support features, such a®ancement and
bulletin boards, customer support boards and petsages, as well as other topical or categmgeific informatiol
exchanges.

Markets of goods with broad buyer and seller bas&le product ranges and moderate shipping costs ha
generally been successful on our Marketplacesgtat. Generally speaking, our Marketplaces platfoame more
effective, relative to available alternatives, a@tl@essing markets of scarce new goods, end-optidducts and used
and vintage items. Our highest growth, however i@ in our fixed-price listing format, primarfigr new
in-season items.

Our historical success has resulted largely froensibe of our community of active users. We had
approximately 83 million active users at the en@@®7, compared to approximately 82 million atehe of 2006.
We define an active user as any user who bid amglito or listed an item during the most recent I&h period.

Marketplaces Platforms Overview

Our Marketplaces platforms seek to bring buyerssaiiérs together through fully automated and dasyse
online websites that are available 24 hours a siewgn days a week, from any place in the worldhatiane. The
platforms include software tools and services, samalable at no charge and others for a fee alat buyers and
sellers to trade with one another more easily dficiently. The Marketplaces platforms consist oir @ore online
commerce platform, eBay.com and its localized cenparts, and adjacent platforms consisting of ¢tassifieds
websites, as well as Half.com, Rent.com, Shoppiomg.and StubHub. Our Marketplaces platforms earameg
from, as the case may be, listing, feature, supson and final value fees paid by sellers, leddrral fees,
transaction fees and advertising fees.

eBay.com Platform

Our Marketplaces core platform, eBay.com, includi@straditional auction-style format and fixpdice format:
such as Buy-It-Now and eBay Stores. We offer tire ptatform on localized websites in 28 countrla2007, our
auction-style listing format accounted for approately 60% of our Gross Merchandise Volume, or GMMich is
the total value of all successfully closed itemsudeen users on our Marketplaces trading platforrhsites during
the period, regardless of whether the buyer andrsadtually consummated the transaction
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(excluding Rent.com, Shopping.com and eBay'’s diassiebsites), while the fixed-price listing fortreccounted
for the remaining 40% of our 2007 GMV.

Auction-Style Listing Format

Our traditional auction-style format allows a sette select a minimum price for opening bids, vifie option
to set a reserve price for the item, which is theimum price at which the seller is willing to séike item. A seller
with appropriate feedback ratings can also sedl iMultiple Item Auction” format, which allows a ker to sell
multiple identical items to the highest bidders.

Fixed-Price Listing Format

Our fixed-price format allows buyers and sellerat¢oelerate the transaction process rather thamgéor the
auction period to expire. Sellers with appropriaedback ratings can choose to use the “Buy-It-Nfeature at the
time an item is listed, which allows sellers to maanprice at which they would be willing to sektitem to a buyer.
Our Half.com subsidiary also provides a fixed-prigerson-to-person online commerce platform tHata people
to buy and sell new and previously owned books,iggymusic and games at discounted prices.

In addition, eBay Stores enable sellers to exfaibivf their listings in one place on our eBay fiain and to
describe their respective businesses through cistdrpages. eBay Stores provides sellers with Ussdis to
build, manage, promote and track their businesS¢gre Inventory Format” listings allow sellerslist items for a
minimum 30-day listing period at a lower insertfee and higher final value fee than regular auetityte and
fixed-price listings. As of December 31, 2007, thetere over 532,000 online storefronts establidtyedsers in
locations around the world.

Other Marketplaces Platforms and Services
Classifieds Websites

Our classifieds websites are available in hundodaities and regions around the world and aregiesl to
LoQUo.com, OpusForum, Marktplaats.nl and mobileldeaddition, we have a minority equity investmant
craigslist, Inc., which operates the craigslisssifieds websites around the world. Our classifiethsites are
monetized primarily through advertising.

Rent.com

Rent.com is a leading U.S. listing website in thetal housing industry. The website is designdatitg
apartment seekers and apartment managers togetaerfficient manner. Landlords pay a fee to Remnt. for
renters who indicate that they have found theirtapents through Rent.com.

Shopping.com

Shopping.com is a leading comparison shopping mktstn featuring products from thousands of merthan
across the Internet. Shopping.com offers one ofatgest product catalogs on the Internet — seateHay
thousands of attributes — along with consumer peodeviews through Epinions.com, which help useaken
informed buying decisions. Retailers pay a feetltogping.com for shoppers directed to their siteShgpping.con

StubHub

StubHub is a leading U.S. ticket marketplace, e@nglfins to buy and sell tickets to a large sebectf
sporting, concert, theater and other live entemaint events. StubHub provides a marketplace dedicatlely to
tickets and is designed to enable users to buglbtheir tickets in a secure, convenient and higbliable
environment. Buyers and sellers pay fees to Stubkhan tickets are bought and sold.




Table of Contents

Online Advertising and Other Services

We work with strategic partners in a variety ofamesuch as online advertising, mailing and otberises, that
allow us to extend the monetization of our platferamd user base.

Key Services for Buyers and Sellers

We have developed a number of features on ouropiatf in the areas of Trust and Safety, Customep&@utip
and Value-Added Tools and Services, as well as lbpyaograms. These features are designed to msdes more
comfortable dealing with unknown trading partnerd aompleting commercial transactions on the Irgern

Trust and Safety

Feedback Forum: Our Feedback Forum encourages users to provédtbéek ratings and comments on other
users with whom they trade. Users’ profiles, whittlude these feedback ratings and comments, carebed by
any of our other users. Every registered user Hasdback profile that may contain complimentgjasms
and/orother comments by users who have conducted busiitisthat user. The Feedback Forum requires fesk
to be related to specific transactions and provadesasy tool for users to match specific trangastivith the user
names of their trading partners. This informati®ndcorded in a profile that includes a feedbatkgéor the user,
with feedback sorted according to whether the faekihas been provided over the past month, six msamt twelve
months. Users who develop positive reputations leal@r-coded star symbols displayed next to theérunames to
indicate the number of positive feedback ratingythave received. In addition to leaving an ovedfaktdback ratin
(positive, neutral or negative) for a seller, bsyaiso can leave anonymous Detailed Seller Ra(iifsR”) that
cannot be viewed by the seller in four areas: igsndescribed, communication, shipping time andpshigpand
handling charges. The Feedback Forum has sevaoahated features designed to detect and prevetaircéorms
of abuse, such as a user leaving positive feeddlagut himself or herself through multiple accouliie recently
announced updates to our feedback system, includimgving the ability of sellers to leave negafwedback for
buyers and providing sellers with additional todésigned to avoid negative feedback.

SafeHarbor Program: We also offer the SafeHarbor program, which ptesiguidelines for trading and user
dispute resolution. Our SafeHarbor staff investgatsers’ complaints of possible misuse of eBatygutas and
takes appropriate action, including issuing warsitgusers, ending and removing listings, or susipgnusers fron
bidding on or listing items for sale.

Verified Rights Owner (VeRO) Progranithe VeRO Program lets intellectual property rigbivners request
the removal of listings that offer items or contaiaterials that infringe on their rights. This hetp protect
community members from purchasing items that magdumterfeit or otherwise unauthorized.

Customer Support

We devote significant resources to providing peasiaad, accurate and timely support services to our
community of users. Buyers and sellers can contmtiirough a variety of means, including emailjrantext chat
and, in certain circumstances, telephone. We coatin focus our resources on improving our acciisgib
increasing our capacity, expanding our categorgifipesupport, extending our online self-help featiand
improving our systems and processes to allow psdeide efficient and effective support. In additidop eBay
sellers who qualify for our PowerSeller programeige prioritized customer support.

Value-Added Tools and Services

i

eBay users have access to a variety of “pre-tradd™post-trade” tools and services to enhance theer
experience and to make trading faster, easier aied ®r them. “Pre-trade” tools and services aterided to
simplify the listing process. “Post-trade” tooldaservices are designed to make transactions eagianore
convenient to complete.
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These tools and services include:

« Turbo Lister, eBay Blackthorne, ProStores, SelManager and Selling Manager Pro, each of whichshilp
automate the selling proce:

* Picture Services, which enables sellers to inchideires in their listings

 Shipping Calculator, which makes it easier for lrayand sellers to calculate shipping co
 Shipping Labels, which allows sellers to print agrtpostage and UPS labe

« Shipment Tracking, which enables sellers to traelrtshipped package

« eBay Toolbar, which helps eBay users stay connegtiideBay wherever they are on the Inter

« eBay Desktop, which helps eBay users stay connedgtbceBay from their desktop comput

« eBay Countdown, which helps eBay users bid andftmny anywhere on the Internt

» eBay Sales Reports and eBay Sales Reports Plush whivide sales and fee information to sell
« eBay Marketplace Research, which enables sellandtyze sales in categories across the

* Reviews and Guides, which assists shoppers in makore informed choice

« eBay Neighborhoods, which assists users in comgeatiound items in which they have a mutual inte
e eBay To Go, which allows users to embed item Iggtim their own Internet website

« Best of eBay, where eBay users can vote for tlagioriite items

« PayPal, which facilitates the online exchange afiftj anc

» Skype, which enables VolP communications betwegeisuand seller:

We currently provide these services directly ootiyh contractual arrangements with third parties.

PowerSeller program: PowerSellers are eBay’s top sellers who haveistamly sustained a high volume of
monthly sales and who have a high level of posiiaezlback. Members of the PowerSeller program gehge of
special benefits, including pricing discounts, gtined customer support, promotional offers, eaymotional
merchandise, advanced selling education, oppoisrtid participate in research and other speciedrés. The
PowerSeller program is free of charge and a spPoialerSeller icon is located next to the sellessriname if the
seller qualifies for the program. In January 2008 ,announced that we would raise the standardseftars to
qualify for our PowerSeller program and would pd®/additional benefits, such as pricing discountsjtialified
PowerSellers with high DSR ratings.

Top buyer program: Our top buyers benefit from having a special ghoamber to call if they have an
unsatisfactory user experience in connection wittaasaction on our websites, and we recently amcedithat we
would also offer special coupon initiatives to tmpyers.

Marketplaces Growth Strategy

We intend to continue to work toward our missiorciating the world’s leading ecommerce franchige b
investing in our core Marketplaces segment andicointy to build our adjacent Marketplaces busingsse

We intend to continue to enhance our core Markegdaegment by reinvesting in our customers, impgothe
buyer experience and seller economics by enhameingroducts and services, improving Trust and tgafed
customer support, extending our product offerimgs hew formats, categories and geographies, aperiexenting
with various pricing and buyer retention strategi®® have made significant efforts to improve teeriexperience
over the course of 2007, including improvementtheeBay.com homepage, the site’s search functigntie ease
with which sellers can list items, visual searatg ¢he expansion of our customer support infrafiirec We have
begun tailoring the features of our business mtwlie needs of specific categories, such as mdtotelp drive
revenue, as we recognize that a single user experimay not be optimal for all products. Furthemmoeve are
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invested heavily in promotions through marketingipaigns in the U.S. and pricing promotions on digrte drive
traffic and continue the growth in GMV. We beliebat these measures will improve the number ofstsoid on
our site and, in turn, lead to higher GMV.

Another element of our growth strategy is to buaitjacent Marketplaces businesses, such as ouifieldss
platforms and StubHub, which offer new formats aed/ monetization models, as well as opportunitiegfowth
beyond our core businesses. We plan to contingeoto our adjacent Marketplaces businesses, inajuaim
classifieds websites, Half.com, Rent.com, and Simgpgom. In addition, we intend to expand our maion
models through advertising partnerships.

Payments

Our global payments platform, PayPal, enables adiyidual or business with an email address to rsbgu
easily and quickly send and receive payments oiirever 190 markets worldwide. We believe our gllob
payments platform makes online commerce more efftatompared to traditional payment alternativehas
checks, money orders and credit cards via merd@munts. These traditional payment alternativeseqt various
obstacles to the online commerce experience, induengthy processing time, inconvenience and biggts.
PayPal delivers a product well-suited for onlinechants and individuals by allowing them to send mteive
online payments securely, conveniently and cosfetiffely. The PayPal network builds on the exisfingncial
infrastructure of bank accounts and credit cardséate a global, real-time payment solution.

PayPal Value Proposition

Providing a more efficient and effective paymen¢madative for users is essential to creating afasiasier and
safer online commerce experience. Our PayPal opliyenents solution allows account holders, as aglisers of
other online businesses, to pay for their transastsecurely, easily and quickly.

Buyer Value Proposition

PayPal enables buyers to pay merchants withoutnghsensitive financial information. To make payisen
buyers need to disclose only their email addressescipients. Many buyers wary of disclosing fioih
information online find this level of personal pay attractive. Buyers also benefit from PayPaliy& Protection
Program, which reimburses buyers using PayPal wipect to certain qualified purchases made on.eBay

Seller Value Proposition

PayPal offers online merchants an all-in-one paympestessing solution that is less expensive thastm
merchant accounts, offers industry-leading frawelention, and enables merchants to conduct busividss
approximately 57 million PayPal registered actigeaunts in over 190 markets. PayPal also offer&haets the
ability to maintain a direct relationship with theustomers.

A merchant can generally open a PayPal accounbegith accepting credit card payments within a few
minutes. Most merchants are approved instanthafBayPal account, and do not need to provide ampars
guaranty, acquire any specialized hardware, pregaapplication, contact a payment gateway or ghaystomer
data. Furthermore, PayPal charges lower transafgti@sthan most merchant accounts, and chargestun fees ar
few or no recurring monthly fees.

The account-based nature of PayPal’'s network hedfge detect and prevent fraud when funds entaw, fl
through, and exit the PayPal network. Sellers ¢sm@duce the risk of transaction losses resuftiog
unauthorized credit card use and fraudulent chagebif they comply with PayPal’'s Seller Protectialicy.

PayPal Overview
Joining the Network

PayPal offers three types of accountBersonal, Business and Premier. A new accoudehg}pically opens
an account to send money for an eBay purchas@orchase on another website, a payment for servécetered,
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or a payment to an individual in lieu of cash. Allag new account holders to join the network whegytmake or
receive payments encourages PayPal’s natural dusemn growth. PayPal’s account sign-up process askh new
account holder to provide PayPal his or her natnegssaddress, phone number and email addressacEoeint
holder’s email address serves as the unique acaemtifier. PayPal also offers certain customehn®sell on their
own websites the ability to accept credit card payts from buyers without requiring the buyer toropePayPal
account.

Payment Transaction Overview

Buyers make payments at the PayPal website (inajufdir items listed on eBay.com by sellers thatatc
PayPal as a payment method), at other online bssiseor platforms where the seller has integraag@®#®'s Instan
Purchase feature, or at the websites of merchhatdiive integrated PayPal’'s Website Paymentsréeako make a
payment at PayPal’'s website, a buyer logs in t@htser account and enters the recipient’s emaites$ and the
amount of the payment. To make a payment througtafh Purchase or Website Payments, a buyer saledism
for purchase, confirms the payment information entérs his or her email address and password ho@ze the
payment. The buyer chooses whether PayPal debitsitimey from the buyer’'s PayPal balance, credi,aarbank
account and the payment is then credited to thpiest's PayPal balance. In the case of an eChagkpnt, the
transaction is held until the funds have clearedséndes bank, which typically takes three to five bussdays. It
turn, the recipient can make payments to othevgithidraw his or her funds at any time via checktfia U.S.),
electronic funds transfer, or a PayPal-brandedtaeld (which is only available to U.S. users).

PayPal earns revenues in several ways. First, PagR# transaction fees when a Business or Prernéaunt
receives a payment. Second, PayPal earns a fardrange fee when an account holder converts ademfeom
one currency to another. Third, PayPal earns fees merchants who utilize PayPal’s online paymeatessing
services. Fourth, PayPal earns fees when a ussvesmayments from outside the U.S. Fifth, PayRat earn fees
when a user withdraws money to a non-U.S. bankuatcdepending on the amount of the withdrawaltt&ix
PayPal earns a return on certain customer balahoedly, PayPal may earn ancillary revenues frosuige of
financial products, described below.

PayPal incurs funding costs on payments at vargnels based on the source of the payment. Costeiased
with credit card and debit card funded paymentssayeificantly higher than bank account or balahasded
payments. U.S. account holders who choose to nimiRtyPal balances in U.S. dollars have the alityweep
balances into the PayPal Money Market Fund. Thisé§aViarket Fund, which is invested in a portfoliamaged b
Barclays Global Fund Advisors, bore a current conmgbannual yield of 3.62% as of February 14, 2008.

Verification of Account Holders

To fund payments from their bank accounts in théddnStates, account holders must first becomdiedrby
PayPal. The primary method for verification is ®amdom Deposit technique. Under this techniquePBRbamakes
two deposits ranging from 1 cent to 99 cents toatt@ount holder’s bank account. To verify ownersifithe
account, the account holder then enters the twaiata@as a four-digit code at the PayPal websitadtition to
allowing funding through bank accounts, verificatmlso removes some spending limits on accouniensid
accounts and gives them reputational advantages wéwesacting with other members of the PayPal conity.

Withdrawing Money

Each account holder in the U.S. and in 34 othentt@s may withdraw money from his or her PayPabaat
through an electronic fund transfer to his or heamkbaccount or, in the U.S., by a mailed check fRagPal.
Automated Clearing House, or ACH, withdrawals melyetthree to five business days to arrive in tto®aict
holder’s bank account, depending on the bank. Aeyehno can receive funds can make withdrawals toSa blank
account. Mailed checks may take one to two weeksrive, and PayPal charges $1.50 per check. QirgjiPayPa
business users in the U.S. can receive a PayPal/éddit card, which provides these users with irtstaoess to
their PayPal account balances. ATM/debit cardhsl@an withdraw cash, for a $1.00 fee per transactiom any
ATM connected to the Cirrus or Maestro networks ead make purchases at any merchant accepting iCaste
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PayPal's Trust and Safety Programs

We have developed a number of PayPal trust antygafegrams, including PayPal’s Seller Protectiod a
Buyer Protection Programs. These programs provddé@ianal protection to certain account holders vlag or
receive payment for their transactions through RagR eBay. PayPal's Seller Protection Program ksosellers for
up to $5,000 per year on certain reversed trarma:tPayPa$ Buyer Protection Program covers qualified purek
on eBay.com for up to $2,000 coverage at no cogh @ifferent terms for transactions denominated in
non-U.S. currencies)n addition, our Fraud Investigation Team focusesdentifying and preventing fraud befort
occurs, detecting fraud in process, mitigating ibf®ud does occur and delivering informationaw enforcement
around the world to better combat online fraud.

PayPal Growth Strategy

We seek to become the online payment network ocetaround the world through our focus on simpfityihe
customer experience, striving to be the most semathiod of payment on the Internet, enhancing thdyzt
offering for our merchants and utilizing multiplales channels. To establish PayPal as the glodoadiatd in online
payments, we intend to continue focusing on inadaser adoption of PayPal on our Marketplaces$qotas, and
continued expansion of PayPal's Merchant Servicsiniess and our financial products business.

Marketplaces

PayPal’s services are integrated into the chedkourtof the eBay.com platform in our key markets;luding
the U.S., Germany, the U.K. and Canada. In 200@ye®m generated more than $59 billion in GMV. Rdym
turn, generated approximately $28 billion of netal ®ayment Volume from eBay.com transactions, tvhic
represented approximately 58% of PayPal’s net Teaigiment VVolume during 2007. Net Total Payment Yadus
the total dollar volume of payments, net of paynrenersals, successfully completed through the Blagydtem,
excluding PayPal’'s payment gateway business.

We intend to increase PayPal’s penetration of GM\tlee eBay.com platform globally by continuing to
integrate with eBay listings and new formats, idahg our adjacent Marketplaces businesses, focusirguyer
protection programs and adding product featuresramal/ations important to the Marketplaces commurwe
believe that our expansion into an increased numbi@ternational markets and currencies will cong to make
cross-border transactions easier and more effidiemtefiting both our Marketplaces and Paymentmseds.

Merchant Services

Our Merchant Services business offers a differeadi@roduct solution for each merchant categorylevh
providing a cost-effective and secure payment smiwdcross all categories. In 2007, PayPal expaitdgulesence
to ecommerce websites such as Southwest AirlinegNBle.com, Lindt Chocolatier, Toys R Us and Bare
Noble. We intend to continue to market our globafments solution to spur our growth as a paymeatiea off of
eBay.com for sole proprietors and small, mediumlarge businesses.

We also intend to grow our Merchant Services bussilyy enhancing our product offering and leveraging
multiple sales channels to expand our network aftchrents globally.
Financial Products

We will continue to identify transactions and maskeot served adequately by existing payment systamd
seek to develop product features that improve upose legacy systems. In addition, we intend t@eghe
breadth of products and services available to ocoant holders and have begun offering financiatlpcts such as
the following:

< PayPal Buyer Credit, a personal credit accouneiddfry GE Money Bank, which allows users to buy ame
pay later for their PayPal purchas

» PayPal ATM/Debit Card, which enables business usansthdraw funds from their PayPal accounts at
ATMs, pay for offline purchases with funds fromitheayPal account, and qualify to receive cash &
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« PayPal Plus Credit Card and eBay MasterCard issy€&E Money Bank, which allow users to earn rewards
on purchases made offline or using PayPal. Weddfso a PayPal Credit Card to UK users through
GE Money;

« PayPal Plug In, which allows users to use theiffhgccount to make payments on the Internet evregav
that MasterCard is accepted (including websitesdbanot accept PayPa

» PayPal Pay Later, which is a personal transactiomeglit account issued by GE Money Bank that alloga:
to finance PayPal purchases; :

« PayPal Money Market Fund, which allows participaotsarn a yield on the funds in their PayPal ant«

Communications

We added the Communications segment through owigitign of Skype in October 2005. Founded in Augus
2003, Skype is a leading global Internet commuiaoatcompany and is headquartered in Luxembourtt, effices
in Europe, the U.S. and Asia.

Skype Value Proposition

Skype seeks to set the standard in providing nelweasy ways to stay in touch over the Internet.\@sion is
to enable our users to communicate freely at hetneprk and on the move. Skype offers a simpleyenient, and
cost-effective way for people anywhere in the waddommunicate from their computers over the haeto other
computers, landlines and mobile phones.

Skype Overview

Millions of people everyday make free Skype-to-Skypice and video calls and send instant messagijeg u
Skype. Skype users pay a low per-minute fee fagHdistance and international calls to landlines autbile
phones, and pay fees for other features such as(&wSmessaging), voicemail and call forwardinigy|® users
can also purchase a variety of subscription plaasgrovide an unlimited number of calls.

Highlights of Skype’s activities in 2007 includegkype’s launch of th8 Skypephonim partnership with
mobile operator 3; an agreement with Wal-Mart b Skype-certified hardware devices and prepaidisavith
Skype credit throughout Wal-Mart stores in the {JaSglobal partnership between Skype and MySpabeing
Internet voice communications to MySpace users;thadntroduction of Skype Send Money, which allavgers to
send/receive money using PayPal through the Skigrg.cWe continue to make improvements to the &kyp
product, and late in 2007, we launched Skype 3t6¢clwprovides High Quality Video calling through a
collaboration with Logitech.

User Base

Skype software has been downloaded more than tillicn times and is available in over 34 languages of
December 31, 2007, Skype had over 276 million tegesl users and was used in almost every courdgnndrthe
world.

Skype software is designed to be extremely sesustainable and scalable. At peak times, thereae
11 million concurrent users and over 180,000 siamdbus calls.
Ecosystem
Skype has a large and expanding ecosystem thatieeihearly 6,000 developers and over 50 partAsref
December 31, 2007, there were more than 190 Skgp#i€d hardware products.
Skype Growth Strategy

To expand upon Skype’s position as a leading glbtiatnet communications company, we will continoe
focus on acquiring new users and converting usepseémium offerings, while further developing twaméad areas
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of Skype’s business: existing telephony productsraaw ecommerce opportunities. Part of our strategcquire
new users is to achieve a desktop presence. Im twd® this, we have partnered with certain coraput
manufacturers to include Skype software in theiw cemputers.

Existing Internet Communications (VolP) Products

Our strategy for driving growth from existing Intet communications (VolP) products relies on adgginew
users and developing better products and innovativefeatures. In 2007, we launched a new globeingy
structure that gives users an easy-to-understadit-@he Skype package. This package offers a sipganvenient
and cost-effective way for consumers worldwideab kandlines and mobile phones over the Internet.

To continue growing the number of Skype users amgtaving the Skype experience, we will continuevtrk
with our partners to develop and introduce new 8k@prtified devices, including telephones and asariss, many
of which eliminate the need for a computer to m&kgpe calls over the Internet. In 2007, Skype aralr@obile
phone operator, launched a 3G Internet phone toatsausers to make free Skype-to-Skype calls amdl $ree
Skype instant messages with the push of a buttan their mobile phone to other Skype users no mattere they
are.

In addition to working with our partners, we wibmtinue to make Skype Certified products availatectly to
our users through Skype’s Internet store as wethiasigh other retail channels.

New Ecommerce Opportunities

We plan on expanding Skype’s presence within oistieg businesses because communication via emalle—
traditional way for buyers and sellers to commut@ca- can be a source of friction in the online gking
experience, due primarily to delays in response tifkype enables us to create new channels forraecre
activity that help to streamline the online shogp@xperience. Communication via Skype allows bugessellers
to benefit from being able to communicate direetlth each other in an instantaneous and privaté@mwent.
Skype also offers Skype Prime, which creates a etipldce for users to share their knowledge, tailts and
services with other users.

Other Items
Employees

As of December 31, 2007, eBay Inc. and its subsatimployed approximately 15,500 people (inclgdin
temporary employees), approximately 9,500 of whasnedocated in the U.S.

Competition

We encounter vigorous competition in our busine§ses numerous sources. Our users can find, bulyasd
pay for similar items through a variety of compgtehannels. These include, but are not limite@mdine and
offline retailers, distributors, liquidators, imp@nd export companies, online and offline aucteagcatalog and
mail-order companies, classifieds, directoriesi@eangines, products of search engines, virtuallgnline and
offline commerce participants (consumer-to-consymfnesiness-to-consumer and business-to-busineds)e @and
offline shopping channels and networks. As our pobafferings continue to broaden into new categgpdf items
and new commerce formats, we expect to face additicompetition from other online and offline chatmfor
those new offerings. We also compete on the bégisee, product selection, and services. Our ghorates in our
most mature markets have significantly slowed ardave losing market share in some segments. Fd?ayuments
segment, our users may choose to pay through etyafi alternative means, including other onlingrpant
services, offline payment methods such as casltckatremoney order, and traditional online or ofliaredit card
merchant accounts. For our Communications segroanysers may choose to use their local telephompanies,
cable providers and other VolP providers. To comgéfectively, we may need to expend significasbreces in
technology and marketing. These efforts may be esige and could reduce our margins and have a ialyer
adverse effect on our business, financial positigerating results and cash flows and reduce #uing price of ou
stock. We believe that we will be able to maintaiafitability by preserving and expanding the
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abundance and diversity of our users’ online comtywmnd enhancing our user experience, but we noape able
to continue to manage our operating expenses tid avaeduce a decline in our consolidated netimeoFor more
information regarding these risks, see the infoiomain “Item 1A: Risk Factors” under the captiond@ndustry is
intensely competitive, and other companies or guvental agencies may allege that our behaviortis an
competitive.”

Seasonality

Our fourth quarter has historically been our stesigjuarter of sequential revenue growth. We expect
transaction activity patterns on our websites tweasingly mirror general consumer buying pattassur
businesses continue to mature. Please see thenation in “ltem 7: Management's Discussion and Am of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” urtle heading “Seasonality.”

Technology
Marketplaces and Payments

Our Marketplaces and Payments platforms utilizeraluination of proprietary technologies and serveesvel
as technologies and services provided by othersh&Ve developed intuitive user interfaces, custaoas and
transaction processing, database and network afipiis that help enable our users to reliably @udirely
complete transactions on our sites. Our technolefggistructure simplifies the storage and procegsinarge
amounts of data, eases the deployment and opertlargescale global products and services and automateh
of the administration of large-scale clusters ahpaters. Our infrastructure has been designed drimatustry-
standard architectures to reduce downtime in tle@teof outages or catastrophic occurrences. Weargnually
improving our technology to enhance the custompegg&nce and to increase efficiency, scalability sacurity. Fc
information regarding technology related risks, eeinformation in “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” undéetcaptions
“Our failure to manage growth could harm our busi&and “System failures could harm our business.”

Communications

Skype’s VolP communication and other services aliwered through a peer-to-peer network architegtim
which users joining the network provide a significportion of the technology resources (for exampdenputer
bandwidth and hardware) that enable Skype’s sesvibe access Skype'’s services, users download Sofpeare
over the Internet. Skype utilizes a combinatiopmiprietary technologies and services as well esntglogies and
services provided by others to design, developsapgort its products. For more information regagdikype’s
technology risks, see the information in “ltem Risk Factors” under the caption “Skype dependsen k
technology that is licensed from third parties.”

Intellectual Property

We regard the protection of our intellectual prapas critical to our success. We have entered into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreemaitls our employees and contractors, and nondisctos
agreements with parties with whom we conduct bugsime order to limit access to and disclosure ofpvaprietary
information.

We aggressively protect our intellectual propeigjts by relying on federal, state and common lahts, as
well as a variety of administrative procedures. &gtvely pursue the registration of our trademackgyrights,
patents and domain names in the U.S. and interradtjorisdictions. The expansion of our businessreguired us
to protect our trademarks, patents and domain nameesincreasing number of jurisdictions, a preddsit is
expensive, may require litigation, and may noteressful in every location. We have registeredcove brands ¢
trademarks and domain names in the U.S. and atangder of other jurisdictions and have in placaetive
program to continue to secure trademarks and dongaires that correspond to our brands in markdtgexest. If
we are unable to secure our trademarks or domaimesave could be adversely affected in any jurtsmian which
our trademarks or domain names are not registered.
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Third parties have from time to time claimed, atlteos may claim in the future, that we have infedgheir
intellectual property rights. We currently are itwexd in several such legal proceedings. Pleaséhsdaformation i
“Iltem 3: Legal Proceedings” and in “Item 1A: Riskdtors” under the captions “We are subject to gditgation”
and “We may be unable to protect or enforce our mtgllectual property rights adequately.”

Segments and Geographic Information

For an analysis of financial information about seagments as well as our geographic areas, see 4Nete

Segments” to our consolidated financial statemigrtisided elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

Available Information

Our Internet address veww.ebay.conOur investor relations website is locatedhtp://investor.ebay.conwe
make available free of charge on our investor ieatwebsite under the heading “SEC Filings” ounAal Reports
on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Qurfeeports on Form 8-K and amendments to thosateas
soon as reasonably practicable after we electriyiile or furnish such materials to the SEC.

ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS

Risk Factors That May Affect Results of Operationsaand Financial Condition

The risks and uncertainties described below aretm@tnly ones facing us. Other events that weado n
currently anticipate or that we currently deem inter@l also may affect our results of operationgldimancial
condition.

Our operating results may fluctuate.

Our operating results have varied on a quarteryysbduring our operating history. Our operatingifssmay
fluctuate significantly as a result of a varietyfaftors, many of which are outside our controttbes that may
affect our operating results include the following:

« our ability to retain an active user base, attreet users, and encourage existing users to lissifer sale,
purchase items through our websites, or use ounpai/service or communication software and prodgl

* our ability to increase activity of the users of darketplaces business, especially with respeoutdop
buyers and sellers, in our most mature geograpbgggcially the U.S., Germany and the U

« the volume, size, timing, monetization, and compfetates of transactions using our websites dirtelogy;

« the amount and timing of operating costs and chgijpenditures relating to the maintenance andmsipa
of our businesses, operations, and infrastruc

« the effect of recently announced changes to ogimj products and policies, including our buydkse
feedback feature:

« the effect of recently announced management cha

« general economic conditions, including higher itifla, the possibility of a recession in the U.Sd amterest
rate fluctuations, as well as those economic carditspecific to the Internet and ecommerce incthss!

« regulatory and legal actions imposing obligationsoar businesses or our use

« new laws or regulations, or interpretations of gxgslaws or regulations, that impose liability os for
actions of our users or otherwise harm our busimesdels or restrict the Internet, electronic contaer
online payments, or online communicatio

* the actions of our competitors, including the idurotion of new sites, services, and produ

« consumer confidence in the safety and securityaofsactions using our websites or technology and ou
ability to manage the costs of our user protegiimyrams
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« our ability to manage PayF s transaction loss rate and payment funding
« the costs and results of litigation that involves
« our ability to successfully integrate and managgrmsses that we acqui

* the cost and availability of online and traditioadlvertising, and the success of our brand buileimdy
marketing campaign:

* our ability to develop product enhancements, progreand features at a reasonable cost and in &/time
manner;

« our ability to upgrade and develop our systemsasifucture, and customer service capabilities to
accommodate growth and to improve our websites@asonable cost while maintaining 24/7 operati

« technical difficulties or service interruptions @iving our websites or services provided to uswrusers by
third parties

« our ability to comply with the requirements of ¢ies whose services are required for our operatgunsh as
credit card associations and bar

« our ability to expand PayPal’s product offeringsside of the U.S. (including our ability to obtany
necessary regulatory approva

« our ability to increase the acceptance of PayPalrityne merchants outside of our Marketplaces ptais,
which may require long implementation cycles arakirtives to merchants that are initially diluti

* our ability to integrate, manage, and profitablpa&xd and more effectively monetize the Skype bssi
* our ability to attract new personnel in a timelylaifective manner and to retain key employ:

« the continued healthy operation of our technolaggpéiers and other parties with whom we have conorak
relations;

 continued consumer acceptance of the Internenaasdium for commerce and communication in the fdce o
increasing publicity about fraud, spoofing, phighixiruses, spyware, and other dangers of therlateanc

 geopolitical events such as war, threat of wateoorist actions

The increased variety of services offered on oursites makes it difficult for us to forecast thedkor source
of our revenues or earnings accurately. In viewhefrapidly evolving nature of our business andlimited
operating history, we believe that period-to-perodhparisons of our operating results may not barmmgful, and
you should not rely upon them as an indicationutdife performance. We do not have backlog, andtantially all
of our net revenues each quarter come from traiesacinvolving sales or payments during that quaiele to the
inherent difficulty in forecasting revenues, itiso difficult to forecast income statement expsrasea percentage
net revenues. Quarterly and annual income stateexpeinses as a percentage of net revenues magnifecantly
different from historical or projected rates. Opeacating results in one or more future quarters fathypelow the
expectations of securities analysts and investothat event, the trading price of our common stwould almost
certainly decline.

We may not maintain our level of profitability orates of growth.

We believe that our continued profitability and gtb will depend in large part on our ability to the
following:

« attract new users, keep existing users active @activate former users on our websites and seréres
increase the activity levels of our active us

* react to changes in consumer use of the Interrtethanging customer demands, and develop new ssra
well as new sources of revenues from our existargises;
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* manage the costs of our business, including thies essociated with our workforce and with maintagnand
enhancing our websites, customer support, tramsaliss rate, user protection programs, product
development and international expansi

¢ maintain sufficient transaction volume to attragyérs and seller:
« cost effectively increase the awareness of ourds;aanc

 provide our customers with superior community, costr support, and trading, communication, and pay
experiences

We invest heavily in marketing and promotion, costo support, and further development of the opegati
infrastructure for our core and recently acquirpdrations. Some of this investment entails longiteontractual
commitments. As a result, we may be unable to adusspending rapidly enough to compensate for any
unexpected revenue shortfall, which may harm oafiability. Growth rates in our most establishedriets, such
as the U.S., Germany and the U.K., have continoelbtline. Despite our efforts to stem these desligrowth
rates in these and other markets may continuedingeand may become negative. As our penetrati@siablished
markets grows, we will increasingly need to focnskeeping existing users, especially our top bugarssellers,
active and increasing their activity level on oities for growth. In addition, our Marketplaces mgsis is facing
increased competitive pressure. If we are unabbddamge our services in ways that reflect the cingndemands of
the ecommerce marketplace, particularly the higihewth of sales of fixed-price, new in-season items business
will suffer.

In January 2008, we announced significant charmesit Marketplaces business in three major areas: f
structure, seller incentives and standards, ardbfeek, as discussed above under “ltem 1 — Busingsgse
changes have been controversial with many of dierself these changes cause sellers to move llisiness away
from our websites or otherwise fail to improve groserchandise volume or the number of successtiridis, our
operating results and profitability will be harmed.

In addition, because a large percentage of Paydtaddctions originate on the eBay platform, deslinegrowtr
rates in major Marketplaces markets also adveedfédgt PayPal's growth rate. The growth in Skypeser activity
has slowed somewhat as Skype has increased its émcmonetization of users. The expected futurevtrof our
PayPal, Skype, StubHub, Shopping.com, and othegrowargin businesses may also cause downward peessu
our profit margins because those businesses hawr l[gross margins than our Marketplaces platforms.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchamgées and interest rates.

Because we conduct a significant and growing pomibour business outside the United States buirteur
results in U.S. dollars, we face exposure to adversvements in currency exchange rates. In coramegiith its
multi-currency service, PayPal fixes exchange ratése per day, and may face financial exposureiifcorrectly
fixes the exchange rate or if exposure reportslal@yed. PayPal also holds some corporate andmeastoinds in
non-U.S. currencies, and thus its financial resatésaffected by the translation of these non-tu&encies into
U.S. dollars. In addition, the results of operagi@fi many of our internationally focused websitesexposed to
foreign exchange rate fluctuations as the finarresiilts of the applicable subsidiaries are traedl&om the local
currency into U.S. dollars upon consolidationhié U.S. dollar weakens against foreign currendestranslation ¢
these foreign currency denominated transactiorlge@gllt in increased net revenues, operating esggerand net
income. Similarly, our net revenues, operating esps, and net income will be negatively impactadef
U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign currendies.revenues in the fiscal year ended Decembe2®1] were
positively impacted by foreign currency translatafr276 million, compared to the prior fiscal ye@perating
income for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2085 positively impacted by foreign currency tratistaof
$146 million, compared to the prior fiscal year. &shange rates vary, net sales and other operasits, when
translated, may differ materially from expectatiolmsparticular, to the extent the U.S. dollar sg#hens against the
Euro, British pound, Australian dollar, and Canadi®llar, our foreign revenues and profits willdeeluced as a
result of these translation adjustments. While ftone to time we enter into transactions to hedg#igns of our
foreign currency translation exposure, it is imlassto perfectly predict or completely eliminateeteffects of this
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exposure. In addition, to the extent the U.S. dateengthens against the Euro, the British pothnel Australian
dollar, and the Canadian dollar, cross-border tratiged to purchases of dollar-denominated gogds b
non-U.S. purchasers may decrease, and that deenegseot be offset by a corresponding increasedascborder
trade involving purchases by U.S. buyers of goasdinated in other currencies.

In addition, we face exposure to fluctuations iteiast rates. For example, reductions in U.S. ésteiates may
reduce our investment income, which in turn woolddr our net interest income.

The listing or sale by our users of pirated or caenfeit items may harm our business.

We have received in the past, and we anticipatviag in the future, communications alleging tbattain
items listed or sold through our service by oursisefringe third-party copyrights, trademarks aratle names, or
other intellectual property rights. Although we Basought to work actively with the owners of intetiual property
rights to eliminate listings offering infringingeins on our websites, some rights owners have esqutdke view th:
our efforts are insufficient. Content owners arfteotintellectual property rights owners have begtiva in assertin
their rights against online companies, includinggBAllegations of infringement of intellectual jperty rights hav
resulted in threats of litigation and actual litiga against us from time to time, including littgmn brought by
Tiffany & Co. in the U.S., Rolex S.A. in Germanyguis Vuitton Malletier and Christian Dior Couturekrance,
L'Oréal SA, Lancome Parfums et Beauté & Cie, anddratoire Garnier & Cie in several European coestrand a
number of other owners of intellectual propert)htgy The plaintiffs in these cases seek to holdydiaale for
counterfeit items listed on our sites by third jgtfor “tester” and other not for resale consupreducts listed on
our sites by third parties, for the misuse of tradeks in listings or in connection with paid seaatlvertisements, «
for alleged violations of selective distributionacimel laws. Such plaintiffs seek, among other thimgjunctive relie
and damages. In the aggregate, these suits caulll ire significant damage awards and could adWeeftect our
business. Other luxury brand owners have also §ilédagainst us or have threatened to do so.ditiad to
litigation from rights owners, we may be subjecttminal penalties if the authorities feel we haiged in the sale
of counterfeit goods. While we have had some earbcess in defending against such litigation, mecent cases
have been based, at least in part, on differeial xgories than those of earlier cases, and there guarantee that
we will continue to be successful in defending agasuch litigation. For example, the German Fdd&uipreme
Court has ruled against us in tRelexandIVD cases. Plaintiffs in recent cases have arguedviatre not entitled
to safe harbors under the Digital Millennium Cogti Act in the U.S. or as a hosting provider in Eheopean
Union because of the active nature of our involveiméth our sellers, and that, whether or not ss&fe harbors at
available, we should be found liable because we Imat adequately removed counterfeit listings teatiively
suspended users who have created such listings.

Content owners and other intellectual propertytdgiwners may also seek to bring legal action afj&intities
that are peripherally involved in the sale of infing items, such as payment companies. To theettat
intellectual property rights owners bring legaliastagainst PayPal based upon the use of Paypayment service
in a transaction involving the sale of infringirtgrns, including on our websites, our business cbaltlarmed.

Litigation and negative publicity has increasedaswebsites gain prominence in markets outsideet.S.,
where the laws may be unsettled or less favorablest Such litigation is costly for us, could resnldamage
awards, injunctive relief, or increased costs ahddusiness through adverse judgment or settlementd require
us to change our business practices in expensiye,wacould otherwise harm our business. Litigaigainst othe
online companies could result in interpretationtheflaw that could also require us to change osiness practices
or otherwise increase our costs. In addition, dipyerception that counterfeit or pirated items eommonplace on
our site could damage our reputation and our basine

We are subject to patent litigation.

We have repeatedly been sued for allegedly infriggither parties’ patents. Some of these ongoiitg ate
described under the heading “Item 3: Legal Proceg]i below. We are a defendant in other paterns suid we
have been notified of several other potential gadésputes, and expect that we will increasinglysbbject to patent
infringement claims as our services expand in seopkcomplexity. In particular, we expect that wayrface
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additional patent infringement claims involving ioars aspects of our Marketplaces, Payments and Qmications
segments. These claims, whether meritorious oramettime consuming and costly to resolve, andccreduire
expensive changes in our methods of doing busicestd require us to enter into costly royalty ioehsing
agreements, or could require us to cease conducirgin operations.

Use of our services for illegal purposes could haour business.

The law relating to the liability of providers ofiline services for the activities of their userstiogir service is
often challenged in the U.S. and internationallgrt@in goods, such as weapons, adult materialctabaroducts,
alcohol, and other goods that may be subject tolagign have been listed and traded on our servitkesmay be
unable to prevent our users from selling unlawhods or services or selling goods or services inrdawful
manner, and we may be subject to allegations dfaricriminal liability for unlawful activities caied out by users
through our services. We have been subject to akelavsuits based upon such allegations. In Dece2®@4, an
executive of Baazee.com, our Indian subsidiary, aressted in connection with a user’s listing gioanographic
video clip on that website. Similarly, our Korearmsidiary and one of its employees were found cratty liable foi
listings on the Korean subsidiary’s website. Then@ Federal Supreme Court has ruled that we may aaluty
to take reasonable measures to keep prohibited OkDsbeing sold on our site to minors and that petitors ma;
be able to enforce this duty. Although we have itritdd the listing of certain items and implementider
protective measures, in the future, we may be redub spend substantial resources to take additfipotective
measures or discontinue certain service offeriagg,of which could harm our business. Any costsiired as a
result of potential liability relating to the sal&éunlawful goods or the unlawful sale of goodsldduarm our
business. In addition, we have received signifigant continuing media attention relating to thergs or sale of
unlawful goods using our services. This negativielipity could damage our reputation and diminisé alue of ot
brand names. It also could make users reluctamsemur services.

PayPal’s payment system is also susceptible tafially illegal or improper uses. These may incliitegal
online gambling, fraudulent sales of goods or s&wjiillicit sales of prescription medications ontolled
substances, piracy of software and other intellgitoperty, money laundering, bank fraud, childnography
trafficking, prohibited sales of alcoholic beverage tobacco products, and online securities frRetent changes
in law have increased the penalties for interméebguroviding payment services for certain illegetivities.
Despite measures PayPal has taken to detect amhld® risk of this kind of conduct, including Paj/s ability to
fine users in certain jurisdictions up to $500aket legal action to recover its losses for cen@iations of PayPa$
acceptable use policy, including online gamblind dlegal sales of prescription medications. Illegetivities could
still be funded using PayPal.

PayPal is subject to anti-money laundering and @otterrorist financing laws and regulations thathibit,
among other things, its involvement in transferting proceeds of criminal activities. Although PalyRas adopted
a program to comply with these laws and regulatianyg errors or failure to implement the programperly could
lead to lawsuits, administrative action, and prasiea by the government. In July 2003, PayPal atjwei¢h the
U.S. Attorney for the Eastern District of Missothat it would pay $10 million as a civil forfeitute settle
allegations that its provision of services to oalgambling merchants violated provisions of the UMW RIOT Act
and further agreed to have its compliance progernewed by an independent audit firm. PayPal is aitject to
regulations that require it to report suspiciousvites involving transactions of $2,000 or mordanay be require
to obtain and keep more detailed records on théessrand recipients in certain transfers of $3@0@More. The
interpretation of suspicious activities in this text is uncertain. Future regulations under the P RIOT Act
may require PayPal to revise the procedures it sesrify the identity of its customers and to ritoninternational
transactions more closely. As PayPal localizesétsice in other countries, additional verificatanmd reporting
requirements may apply, which in some cases are stadngent. Several countries, including Australlanada and
Luxembourg, are in the process of implementing aatirmoney laundering and counterforist financing laws ar
regulations, and the impact of these laws and adigus on PayPal’s business is uncertain. Thesdatons could
impose significant costs on PayPal and make it rdifieult for new customers to join its networkayPal could be
required to learn more about its customers befpesimg an account, to obtain additional verificatad customers
and to monitor its customers’ activities more clgs&hese requirements, as well as any additioestrictions
imposed by credit card associations, could raiséBlés costs
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significantly and reduce the attractiveness oprtsduct. Failure to comply with federal, state anefign country
money laundering and counter-terrorist financingdaould result in significant criminal and civéiwsuits,
penalties, and forfeiture of significant assets.

We are subject to risks associated with informatidisseminated through our service.

The law relating to the liability of online serviceompanies for information carried on or disseteiddahrough
their services is currently unsettled. Claims cdagdmade against online services companies undieih8. and
foreign law for defamation, libel, invasion of paisy, negligence, copyright or trademark infringetmenother
theories based on the nature and content of therialatdisseminated through their services. Seyenahte lawsuit
seeking to impose liability upon us under a numdfehese theories have been brought against @ldition,
domestic and foreign legislation has been proptisgdwould prohibit or impose liability for the tramission over
the Internet of certain types of information. Oansce features a Feedback Forum, which includesrimation fron
users regarding other users. Although all suchifeeklis generated by users and not by us, clairdsfamation or
other injury have been made in the past and coailehdéde in the future against us for content pastéite Feedbac
Forum. Several court decisions have narrowed tbpesof the immunity provided to Internet servicevpders like
us under the Communications Decency Act. This trénmbntinued, may increase our potential liagitio third
parties for the user-provided content on our sibeg. liability for such claims may be higher inigdictions outside
the U.S. where laws governing Internet transactaesunsettled. If we become liable for informatmovided by
our users and carried on our service in any justizh in which we operate, we could be directlyrhad and we me
be forced to implement new measures to reducexqasere to this liability. This may require us t@end
substantial resources or to discontinue certaivicepfferings, which would negatively affect oinmdncial results.
In addition, the increased attention focused ujadsility issues as a result of these lawsuits &giklative proposals
could harm our reputation or otherwise impact trengh of our business. Any costs incurred as alrethis
potential liability could harm our business.

Government inquiries may lead to charges or penedti

A large number of transactions occur on our websiBovernment regulators have received a significan
number of consumer complaints about both eBay aytP&, which, while small as a percentage of otal to
transactions, are large in aggregate numbers.rdsudt, from time to time we have been contactegdjous
foreign and domestic governmental regulatory agenitiat have questions about our operations anstépe we
take to protect our users from fraud. PayPal hesived inquiries regarding its restriction and lisare practices
from the Federal Trade Commission and regardingetlamd other business practices from the attomeysral of a
number of states. In September 2006, PayPal eniteied settlement agreement with the attorneyeiganf a
number of states under which it agreed to pay 8illibn to the attorneys general, shorten and stiee its user
agreement, increase educational messaging to aiseus funding choices, and communicate more inftiona
regarding protection programs to users. We ardylilcereceive additional inquiries from regulat@gencies in the
future, which may lead to action against us. Weeh@sponded to all inquiries from regulatory agesdiy
describing our current and planned antifraud effartistomer support procedures, operating procedcumg
disclosures. If one or more of these agenciestisatisfied with our response to current or futagiries, we coul
be subject to enforcement actions, fines or otkeafties, or forced to change our operating prastio ways that
could harm our business.

We are subject to general litigation and regulatodysputes.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispude regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of
business. The number and significance of thesaittis@nd inquiries are increasing as our busingsanels and our
company grows larger. We have in the past beerdbtw litigate such claims. We may also become more
vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such &sDfgital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aanhd the
Communications Decency Act are interpreted by thets and as we expand geographically into jurigatis where
the underlying laws with respect to the potentaility of online intermediaries such as ourselaes either unclear
or less favorable. In Germany, the German FedenateBne Court has ruled that we may owe duties, rucetain
circumstances, to content owners and competitdaiing to taking reasonable steps to prevent gim§ of
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illegal, counterfeit, and pirated items. Any claiorsregulatory actions against us, whether medtaior not, could
be time consuming, result in costly litigation, uée significant amounts of management time, asdltén the
diversion of significant operational resources.

Failure to deal effectively with fraudulent transdions and customer disputes would increase our lostg and
harm our business.

PayPal’s highly automated and liquid payment sermi@akes PayPal an attractive target for fraud. In
configuring its service, PayPal continually strivesnaintain the right balance of appropriate messto promote
both convenience and security for customers. Itetitieves and those committing fraud using staledit card or
bank account numbers can potentially steal largeuats of money from businesses such as PayPal el\éé that
several of PayPal’s current and former competitothe electronic payments business have gonefdutsiness or
significantly restricted their businesses largalg do losses from this type of fraud. While Payl&as advanced
anti-fraud technologies, we expect that technidatigwledgeable criminals will continue to attemptircumvent
PayPal’s anti-fraud systems. In addition, PayPsdivice could be subject to employee fraud or atiternal
security breaches, and PayPal may be requirednduese customers for any funds stolen as a reéslich
breaches. Merchants could also request reimburgenrestop using PayPal, if they are affected byebdraud.

PayPal incurs substantial losses from merchantfriagluding claims from customers that merchaatgenot
performed or that their goods or services do ndtimthe merchant’s description. PayPal also inmsses from
claims that the customer did not authorize the lpase, from buyer fraud, from erroneous transmissiand from
customers who have closed bank accounts or hawufigient funds in them to satisfy payments. In iidd to the
direct costs of such losses, if they are relatextadit card transactions and become excessive cthdd result in
PayPal losing the right to accept credit cardpfyment. If PayPal were unable to accept creditszahe velocity
of trade on eBay could decrease, in which casdosiness would further suffer. PayPal was assesgdestantial
fines for excess chargebacks in 2001, and exceskamgebacks may arise in the future. PayPal tkas tameasures
to detect and reduce the risk of fraud, but thesasures need to be continually improved and mapaeffective
against new forms of fraud or in connection withvrgroduct offerings. If these measures do not seaceur
business will suffer.

PayPal offers a buyer protection program for tratisas on eBay.com that refunds up to $2,000 tebuwho
used PayPal in transactions with selected sefiéhg ibuyer did not receive the goods they purathaséf the goods
differed significantly from what was described bg tseller and up to $200 in most other eBay traise PayPal
has expanded this program to many eBay interndtinaeketplaces, in most cases with lower reimbuesgm
amounts. If PayPal makes such a refund, it may &eeéllect reimbursement from the seller, but maybe able to
receive any funds from the seller. The PayPal bpyetection program has increased PayPal's lossarad could
cause future fluctuations in PayPal’s loss rate.the full years ended December 31, 2006 and DeeeBth 2007,
PayPal’s transaction loss (including both diressks and buyer protection payouts) totaled $128liémrand
$139.3 million, representing 0.35% and 0.29% offRd\s net Total Payment Volume, respectively.

eBay faces similar risks with respect to frauduksetivities on its websites. eBay periodically riges
complaints from users who may not have receivedytosls that they had purchased. In some casesdodis have
been arrested and convicted for fraudulent aatiwitising our websites. eBay also receives complfiom sellers
who have not received payment for the goods ttatyar had contracted to purchase. Non-payment roeyro
because of miscommunication, because a buyer lagel his or her mind and decided not to honocdiméract to
purchase the item, or because the buyer bid oitettremaliciously in order to harm either the setieeBay. In
some European jurisdictions, buyers may also haeeight to withdraw from a sale made by a profassi seller
within a specified time period.

While eBay can suspend the accounts of users vihto falfill their payment or delivery obligation® other
users, eBay does not have the ability to requiessu® make payment or deliver goods, or otherwiake users
whole other than through our limited buyer protectprograms. Other than through these programs; d8as not
compensate users who believe they have been deftdydother users, although users who pay throagP& may
have reimbursement rights from their credit canshpany or bank, which in turn will seek reimburseinen
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from PayPal. eBay also periodically receives cotinpdafrom buyers as to the quality of the goodschased. We
expect to continue to receive communications fr@@rs requesting reimbursement or threatening ontmaing
legal action against us if no reimbursement is maxe liability for these sort of claims is onlydiening to be
clarified and may be higher in some non-U.S. judsoins than it is in the U.S. Litigation involvidgbility for
third-party actions could be costly for us, dive@nagement attention, result in increased cosisiafy business,
lead to adverse judgments, or otherwise harm osinbas. In addition, affected users will likely quain to
regulatory agencies that could take action agaisisincluding imposing fines or seeking injunctions

Negative publicity and user sentiment generateal r@sult of fraudulent or deceptive conduct by sieéour
eBay and PayPal services could damage our reputagiduce our ability to attract new users or retair current
users, and diminish the value of our brand nameasb®lieve that negative user experiences are othe gfrimary
reasons users stop using our services.

Any factors which reduce cross-border trade couldrin our business

Cross-border transactions using our websites giyeravide higher gross margins than similar ti@gtioons
that take place within a single country due to kiginansaction fees we earn for those transactiamghe extent thq
any factors, including fluctuations in exchangesatr the application of specific national lawsisers in other
countries, result in a net reduction in cross-botdale, our business could suffer.

Our business is subject to online security risks¢iuding security breaches and identity theft.

To succeed, online commerce and communications pnagide a secure transmission of confidential
information over public networks. Our security m&&s may not detect or prevent security breactssctuld harr
our business. Currently, a significant number of wsers authorize us to bill their credit card acte directly for al
transaction fees charged by us. PayPal’s usersebuprovide credit card and other financial infation. We rely
on encryption and authentication technology liceinfsem third parties to provide the security anthautication to
effect secure transmission of confidential inforimatincluding customer credit card numbers. Adanio
computer capabilities, new discoveries in the fifldryptography or other developments may resu# i
compromise or breach of the technology used by psdtect transaction data. In addition, any pauty is able to
illicitly obtain a user’s password could accessuker’s transaction data. An increasing numbereiisites
including, recently, our Korean subsidiary, haveorted breaches of their security. Any compromiseun security
could harm our reputation and, therefore, our lesgnand could result in a violation of applicalmieacy and other
laws. In addition, a party that is able to circumiveur security measures could misappropriate ety
information, cause interruption in our operaticttemage our computers or those of our users, orvigedamage
our reputation and business. Under credit cardsramel our contract with our card processors, ifetfiea breach of
credit card information that we store, or thatteeed by PayPal's direct credit card processingarusrs, we could
be liable to the credit card issuing banks forrtest of issuing new cards and related expensesddition, if we
fail to follow credit card industry security stamds, even if there is no compromise of customasrimftion, we
could incur significant fines or lose our ability give customers the option of using credit caodfsihd their
payments or pay their fees. If we were unable teptcredit cards, our business would be sericdestyaged.

Our servers are also vulnerable to computer vifysggsical or electronic break-ins, and similaraiigions,
and we have experienced “denial-of-service” typackis on our system that have made all or portdmsar
websites unavailable for periods of time. We magchi® expend significant resources to protect agj@ecurity
breaches or to address problems caused by breddtese issues are likely to become more difficsifive expand
the number of places where we operate. Securigches, including any breach that results in theass of our
users’ personal information, could damage our @#par and expose us to a risk of loss or litigago possible
liability. Our insurance policies carry low coveealimits, which may not be adequate to reimbursuksses
caused by security breaches.

Our users, as well as those of other prominentietecompanies, have been and will continue taltgeted by
parties using fraudulent “spoof” and “phishing” éle&o misappropriate passwords, credit card nusyb@rother
personal information or to introduce viruses thitmtigojan horse” programs to our users’ computétese emails
appear to be legitimate emails sent by eBay, Paykgbe, or a user of one of those businesseglitaat
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recipients to fake websites operated by the seofdbie email or request that the recipient sendssword or other
confidential information via email or download agram. Despite our efforts to mitigate “spoof” eladrough
product improvements and user education, “spood’‘@hishing” remain a serious problem that may dgenaur
brand, discourage use of our websites, and incr@aseosts.

Changes in regulations or user concerns regardingvyacy and protection of user data could adversaffect
our business.

We are subject to laws relating to the collectigse, retention, security and transfer of personidétifiable
information about our users, especially for finah@iformation and for users located outside ofth®. In many
cases, these laws apply not only to third-partydastions but also to transfers of information leetwourselves and
our subsidiaries, and between ourselves, our siabigis, and other parties with which we have conuiaérelations
New laws in this area have been passed by seweigdictions, and other jurisdictions are consiagiimposing
additional restrictions. The interpretation andleggpion of user data protection laws are in aestdtflux. These
laws may be interpreted and applied inconsistendiyn country to country and our current data prioecpolicies
and practices may not be consistent with thosegrgéations and applications. Complying with theagying
international requirements could cause us to isabstantial costs or require us to change our bssipractices in
manner adverse to our business. In addition, we had post on our websites our own privacy poliaigd practice
concerning the collection, use and disclosure ef data. Any failure, or perceived failure, by acomply with our
posted privacy policies or with any regulatory negonents or orders or other federal, state or iv@gonal privacy
or consumer protection-related laws and regulattangd result in proceedings or actions againgtyus
governmental entities or others, subject us toifsagmt penalties and negative publicity and adebraffect us. In
addition, as noted above, we are subject to thsilpiis/ of security breaches, which themselves mesult in a
violation of these laws.

Our revenue from advertising is subject to factdseyond our control.

We derive an increasing portion of our revenuesfemvertising on our websites. Revenues from online
advertising are sensitive to events and trendsatfiett advertising expenditures, such as gen&iatges in the
economy and changes in consumer spending, as svisleaeffectiveness of online advertising verstigef
advertising media and the value our websites petadadvertisers relative to other websites. lfexperience a
reduction in our advertising revenues due to ecaoorompetitive or other factors, including if weeainable to
provide value to our advertisers, our businessfismaghcial results would suffer.

Our growth will depend on our ability to develop obrands, and these efforts may be costly.

Our historical growth has been largely attributablevord of mouth, and to frequent and high vigipihational
and local media coverage. We believe that contmntonstrengthen our brands will be critical to @efg
widespread acceptance of our services, and willire@n increased focus on active marketing effactess all of
our brands. The demand for and cost of online eaditional advertising have been increasing, anyg coatinue to
increase. Accordingly, we will need to spend insieg amounts of money on, and devote greater reestio,
advertising, marketing, and other efforts to creatd maintain brand loyalty among users. Since 28@%have
significantly increased the number of brands wesapgporting, adding Rent.com, Shopping.com, KijiubHub,
and Skype, among others. Each of these brandsresdts own resources, increasing the costs obrmarding
efforts. Brand promotion activities may not yielttieased revenues, and even if they do, any iredeasenues
may not offset the expenses incurred in buildingloands. Also, major search engine operatorswiaise to
advertise our brands have frequently-changing rihlasgovern their pricing, availability and placemh of online
advertisement (e.g., paid search, keywords), andgds to these rules could negatively affect oarafi®nline
advertising to promote our brands. If we do attreet users to our services, they may not condansactions usir
our services on a regular basis. If we fail to poterand maintain our brands, or if we incur suligahaxpenses in
an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintait@nds, our business would be harmed.
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New and existing regulations could harm our busirse

We are subject to the same foreign and domestis &sother companies conducting business on ardeoff
Internet. It is not clear how existing laws govemissues such as property ownership, copyrigt#detmarks and
other intellectual property issues, parallel impamd distribution controls, taxation, libel andageation, obscenity
and personal privacy apply to online businessels asours. The majority of these laws were adopiid to the
advent of the Internet and related technologies asn@ result, do not contemplate or address tiggi@iissues of th
Internet and related technologies. Those lawsdbatference the Internet, such as the U.S. Dilylthénnium
Copyright Act and the European Union’s Directiveldistance Selling and Electronic Commerce, aregein
interpreted by the courts, but their applicabiéityd scope remain uncertain. Furthermore, as oivitas and the
types of goods and services listed on our websitpand, including through acquisitions such asamguisition of
StubHub, an online ticket marketplace, in Febr2097, regulatory agencies or courts may claim ¢ Heat we or
our users are either subject to licensure or pitgulfrom conducting our business in their jurigidia, either with
respect to our services in general, or with resfiectale of certain items, such as real estaentdickets, cultural
goods, boats, and automobiles.

Our success and increased visibility has driveneseristing businesses that perceive our busineggelnmbe
a threat to their business to raise concerns ahoutusiness models to policymakers and regulaparsicularly in
the U.S. and Europe. These established businesddheir trade association groups employ signiticasources in
their efforts to shape the legal and regulatorymeg in countries where we have significant operati They may
employ these resources in an effort to changeetp@ kand regulatory regimes in ways intended tacedhe
effectiveness of our businesses and the abilitysefs to use our products and services. In paatictilese
established businesses have raised concerns gelatpricing, parallel imports, professional setddtigations, stole
goods, copyrights, trademarks and other intellégit@perty rights, and the liability of the providef an Internet
marketplace for the conduct of its users relatetiése and other issues. Success in changingghkderegulatory
regimes in a manner that would increase our lighfitir third party listings could negatively impamir business.

Over the last few years some large retailers aeid ttade associations have sought legislatiorumerous
states and the U.S. Congress that would make e&alg for the sale of stolen property or would lartain
categories of goods from sale on our platform udiig gift cards and health and beauty productssind
legislation has passed. Nonetheless, the propooentsiue to seek passage of such legislationjfarty of these
laws are adopted it could harm our business.

Numerous states and foreign jurisdictions, inclgdime State of California, where our headquartexdacated,
have regulations regarding “auctions” and the hagdbf property by “secondhand dealers” or “pawikers.”
Several states and some foreign jurisdictionsyufiolg France, have attempted, and may attempeifutiare, to
impose such regulations upon us or our users. Attednenforcement of these laws against some ofigens
appears to be increasing and such attempted enferts could harm our business. In France, we hage bued by
Conseil des Ventes, the French auction regulatottyosity. The agency alleges that sales on ourdfrevebsite
constitute illegal auctions which cannot be perfedmithout their consent. This and other regulatorg licensure
claims could result in costly litigation or coulequire us to change the way we or our users doéssiin ways that
increase costs or reduce revenues or force ustohitr listings of certain items for some locatiokiée could also b
subject to fines or other penalties, and any adehmutcomes could harm our business.

A number of the lawsuits against us relating tdéraark issues seek to have our websites subjectfévorabl
local laws. For example, “trademark exhaustionhpiples provide trademark owners with certain rggiiot control
the sale of a branded product until it has beeogdl@n the market by the trademark holder or wighttolder’s
consent. The application of “trademark exhaustiprriciples is largely unsettled outside of the Bud if trademar
owners are able to force us to prohibit listings@ftain items in one or more locations, our bussreould be
harmed.

As we expand and localize our international adgésitwe become obligated to comply with the lawthef
countries in which we operate. In addition, becauseservices are accessible worldwide, and wditttei sales of
goods to users worldwide, one or more jurisdictioray claim that we or our users are required toptpwith their
laws based on the location of our servers or ormeare of our users, or the location of the producervice being
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sold or provided in an ecommerce transaction. Liagslating Internet and ecommerce companies outdities
U.S. may be less favorable than those in the diing greater rights to consumers, content owres)petitors,
users and other third parties. Compliance may bermastly or may require us to change our busipesstices or
restrict our service offerings, and the impositidrany regulations on our users may harm our bgsine addition,
we may be subject to overlapping legal or regujategimes that impose conflicting requirements snQur failure
to comply with foreign laws could subject us to akies ranging from criminal prosecution to sigeédnt fines to
bans on our services.

If PayPal were found to be subject to or in violati of any U.S. laws or regulations governing bankinmoney
transmission, or electronic funds transfers, it clolibe subject to liability and forced to change hssiness
practices.

Nearly all U.S. states and territories have enaggdlation regulating money transmitters. To d&®ayPal has
obtained licenses in 41 of these jurisdictions iaerpretations in six states that licensing isneofuired under their
existing statutes, and is applying for licensesvio additional states. The remaining U.S statestamdories do not
currently regulate money transmitters. As a licen®®ney transmitter, Paypal is subject to bondayirements,
restrictions on its investment of customer fundporting requirements, and inspection by stateladony agencies.
In July 2005, PayPal entered into a settlementesgeat and agreed to pay $225,000 to the Calif@ej@artment o
Financial Institutions in connection with allegeidlations of the California Financial Code relatitagthe use of a
receipt form for international payments that hatibeen pre-approved by the Department, and incampéporting
to the Department. If PayPal were found to be alation of other money services laws or regulatidtesyPal could
be subject to liability, forced to cease doing hass with residents of certain states, or forcezhtmge its business
practices. Any change to PayPal’s business practit makes the service less attractive to cus®oreprohibits
its use by residents of a particular jurisdictiould decrease the velocity of trade on eBay, whiolld further
harm our business. Even if PayPal is not forcezhtinge its business practices, it could be requaedtain
additional licenses or regulatory approvals thatiddmpose a substantial cost on PayPal.

Although there have been no definitive interpretadito date, PayPal has assumed that its serscijsct to
the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulatiorf Ehe Federal Reserve Board. As a result, amongr dkiings,
PayPal must provide advance disclosure of chamgigs $ervice, follow specified error resolutioropedures and
reimburse consumers for losses above $50 fromactions not authorized by the consumer. PayPatotiyr
voluntarily reimburses consumers for all finand¢tases from transactions not authorized by thewoes, not just
losses above $50. PayPal seeks to pass most efltssgs on to the relevant merchants, but PagBails losses if
the merchant does not have sufficient funds iR&gPal account. In addition, PayPal is subjediedinancial
privacy provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Adiate financial privacy laws, and related reguladios a result,
some customer financial information that PayPatings is subject to limitations on reuse and dmale. Existing
and potential future privacy laws may limit PayBadbility to develop new products and services tiate use of
data gathered through its service. The provisidrikase laws and related regulations are complicdieen
technical violations of these laws can result ingiges of up to $1,000 for each non-compliantgeaion. PayPal
processed an average of approximately 1.96 mitli@nsactions per day during the year ended DeceBihe2007,
and any violations could expose PayPal to signititiability. Any negative change in the public’srpeption of
PayPal’s compliance with privacy laws and policiesid also negatively impact PayPal’s business.

PayPal is subject to regulation as a bank in Luxemlyg, and its status under banking or financial sdéces
laws or other laws in markets outside the U.S. ixclear.

PayPal currently allows its customers with creditds to send payments from 190 markets, and altsws
customers to receive payments in 65 of those ma(katluding the U.S.). Customers can only withdfends
electronically to local bank accounts in 35 of 65 markets. In 26 of these 65 markets custonzersvithdraw
funds electronically to their credit or debit caldtwo of these 65 markets customers can onlydréttv funds
locally by receiving a bank draft in the mail, andanother two of these 65 markets, customers damitiodraw
locally and can only withdraw funds if they havel&. bank account. These limitations affect PayPatbility to
grow in these markets. PayPal also offers custotherability to send or receive payments denomahate
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17 currencies. Of the 190 markets whose residamtsise the PayPal service, 31 (27 countries plusHiench
overseas departments) are members of the Europgan.Wreviously, PayPal delivered services inBEhethrough
a subsidiary in the United Kingdom licensed to apemls an Electronic Money Institution. As of Ja007, PayPal
provides localized versions of its service to costts in the EU through PayPal (Europe) S.A.R.ICiet SCA., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of PayPal that is licenasda bank in Luxembourg. Accordingly, PayPal (Eajdp
subject to significant fines or other enforcemaegiiam if it violates the disclosure, reporting, iamoney laundering,
capitalization, funds management, corporate govemar other requirements imposed on Luxembourgdan
PayPal does not have experience in operating aslg bnd any fines or other enforcement action®sag by the
Luxembourg regulator could adversely affect PayPalisiness. PayPal (Europe) implements its loghkeevices i
EU countries through an expedited “passpodtification process through the Luxembourg reguléd regulators i
other EU member states pursuant to EU Directived heas completed the “passport” notice procesH Bla
member countries. The regulators in these countdatl notify PayPal (Europe) of local consumertgction laws
that will apply to its business, in addition to lambourg consumer protection law. The regulatothése countries
could also seek to persuade the Luxembourg regutatarder PayPal (Europe) to conduct its actisitiethe local
country through a branch office. Any such respoffisea these regulators could increase the cosiralglay,
PayPal’s plans for expanding its business.

In markets other than the U.S., EU, Australia ahth&, PayPal serves its customers through PayRghBore
Private Ltd., a whollyawned subsidiary of PayPal that is based in Singapn many of these markets, it is not ¢
whether PayPal’s Singapore-based service is suigjéatal law or, if it is subject to local law, wther such local
law requires a payment processor like PayPal ficbrsed as a bank or financial institution or otfise. Even if
PayPal is not currently required to obtain a lieeimsthose countries, future localization or taggemnarketing of
PayPal’s service in those countries could reqitenkure. PayPal could be required to obtain liesms regulatory
approvals that could impose a substantial cost and involve considerable delay to the provisiodevelopment
of its product. Delay or failure to receive suclicanse would require PayPal to change its busipesgices or
features in ways that would adversely affect PagRatiernational expansion plans and could reqiagPal to
suspend providing services to customers in oneareroountries. PayPal may also be subject to daley and
regulations of one or more countries in which it/es its customers, such as data protection arndrenmey
laundering laws, which vary from country to courdryd are subject to change. In some cases, theseriay
require expensive changes to PayPal’'s current essipractices. If PayPal were found to be subpeand in
violation of any foreign laws or regulations, itudd be subject to liability, forced to change itsslmess practices or
forced to suspend providing services to customease or more countries.

In addition, if PayPal were to seek to expand tharfcial products that it offers outside of the Uesther alone
through a commercial alliance, or through an aétioiis PayPal could become subject to additior@drisure
requirements, additional laws and regulationsnoraased regulatory scrutiny, which could impodestantial costs
and delay the introduction of any new products.

Changes to credit card networks or bank fees, rylespractices could harm PayPal’s business.

PayPal does not belong to or directly access ceadit networks, such as Visa and MasterCard. Asualtr
PayPal must rely on banks or other payment proces$sgrocess transactions, and must pay a feaifoservice.
From time to time, credit card associations mayease the interchange fees that they charge fbrtemtsaction
using one of their cards. PayPal's credit card @ssors have the right to pass any increases itlatege fees on to
PayPal as well as increase their own fees for ggieg. These increased fees increase PayPal'stiogecasts and
reduce its profit margins. PayPal is also requingdts processors to comply with credit card assomn operating
rules, and PayPal has agreed to reimburse its ggocefor any fines they are assessed by creditasasociations as
a result of any rule violations by PayPal or PalgRalstomers. The credit card associations setraatpret the
credit card rules. Credit card networks could admt operating rules or liaterpret existing rules that PayPal or
processors might find difficult or even impossitiefollow. As a result, PayPal could lose its dbito give
customers the option of using credit cards to filvedr payments. If PayPal were unable to accepiceards, its
business would be seriously damaged. In additf@yelocity of trade on eBay could decrease andosiness
would further suffer.
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PayPal is required to comply with credit card nekgspecial operating rules for Internet paymentises.
PayPal and its credit card processors have implerdepecific business processes for merchant cessoim order
to comply with these rules, but any failure to céymgould result in fines, the amount of which wotiel within the
credit card networks’ discretion. PayPal also cdddsubject to fines from credit card networks fhils to detect
that merchants are engaging in activities thatliegal or that are considered “high risk,” primfgrihe sale of
certain types of digital content. For “high risk’enchants, PayPal must either prevent such mercfrantsusing
PayPal or register such merchants with credit oatdiorks and conduct additional monitoring withpest to such
merchants. PayPal has incurred fines from its teedd processor relating to PayPal’s failure tedethe use of its
service by “high risk” merchants. The amount ofsthénes has not been material, but any additifinas in the
future would likely be for larger amounts, coulccbme material, and could result in a terminatioPayPal's
ability to accept credit cards or changes in PdgRabcess for registering new customers, whichldiseriously
damage PayPal’s business.

Changes in PayPal’s funding mix could adversely et PayPal’s results.

PayPal pays significant transaction fees when gsrfdad payment transactions using credit cardsiimal
fees when customers fund payment transactionsduayrehic transfer of funds from bank accounts, mmdees whe
customers fund payment transactions from an egifeyPal account balance or use buyer credit idsy €=
Money Bank. Senders fund a significant portion ajPal’s payment volume using credit cards, and Blég/P
financial success will remain highly sensitive lmnges in the rate at which its senders fund patsnesing credit
cards. Senders may prefer funding using creditsceather than bank account transfers for a numfoerasons,
including the ability to dispute and reverse chardieectly with their credit card provider if mesnidise is not
delivered or is not as described, the ability tmdeequent flier miles or other incentives offetedcredit card
issuers, the ability to defer payment, or a relucgato provide bank account information to PayPehddition, som
of PayPals newer offerings, including the ability to makBnaited number of payments without opening an aot(
have a higher rate of credit card funding than R#igasic product offering. In September 2006,FRdyentered
into a settlement agreement with the attorneysmonéa number of states under which it agreepap $1.7 millior
to the attorneys general, shorten and streambngsiér agreement, and communicate more informegigerding
protection programs to users. Also in Septembe62B@yPal announced that it had reached a preligngwtiemer
agreement under which it agreed to pay approxim&®I5 million into a settlement fund for the beahef a class
represented by plaintiffs in a suit that allegedpag other things, that PayPal’s disclosure regarthe effects of
users’ choice of funding mechanism was deceptités Jettlement was rejected by the court. AlthoBghPal did
not admit any liability for any of the allegatioimsthe two cases, changes to our disclosure pesctiould result in
increased use of credit card funding, which wowdPayPal’s business.

PayPal’s failure to manage customer funds propeviypuld harm its business.

PayPal’s ability to manage and account accuratelgdistomer funds requires a high level of integaattrols.
In some of the markets that PayPal serves andrmie®that PayPal offers, PayPal has a limitedaijmer history
and limited management experience in managing tinésenal controls. As PayPal’s business contirtaggow, it
must strengthen its internal controls accordinBlgyPals success requires significant public confidendésiability
to handle large and growing transaction volumesamndunts of customer funds. Any failure to maintaécessary
controls or to manage accurately customer fundilatiminish customer use of PayPal’'s product sdyere

System failures could harm our business.

We have experienced system failures from timent@ tiand any interruption in the availability of auebsites
will reduce our current revenues and profits, cdwddm our future revenues and profits, and coulgest us to
regulatory scrutiny. Our eBay.com website has hetemrupted for periods of up to 22 hours, andayPal
website has suffered intermittent unavailability feriods as long as five days. In August 2007 p8lkgxperienced
an interruption during which the majority of Skypeisers were unable to use its products for apmeabely two
days. Any unscheduled interruption in our serviessilts in an immediate, and possibly substaritiag of
revenues. Frequent or persistent interruptionsuirservices could cause current or potential usebglieve that
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our systems are unreliable, leading them to swidabur competitors or to avoid our sites, and cqddnanently
harm our reputation and brands. Reliability is jgatarly critical for PayPal, especially as it se¢& expand its
Merchant Services business. Because PayPal isiated financial entity, frequent or persisteng sitterruptions
could lead to fines, penalties, or mandatory charigd>ayPal’s business practices, and ultimataljdccause
PayPal to lose existing licenses it needs to opemaprevent it from obtaining additional licensiest it needs to
expand. Finally, because our customers may usproducts for critical transactions, any systemufait could
result in damage to our customers’ businesses.eltiestomers could seek significant compensatian fre for
their losses. Even if unsuccessful, this type afncllikely would be time consuming and costly ferto address.

Although our systems have been designed aroundtndstandard architectures to reduce downtiméen t
event of outages or catastrophic occurrences,réragin vulnerable to damage or interruption fromtepakes,
floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication fagkirterrorist attacks, computer viruses, compearadtof-service
attacks, and similar events. Some of our systemskjding our Shopping.com and Skype websites, aréutly
redundant, and our disaster recovery planning tisuificient for all eventualities. Our systems algo subject to
break-ins, sabotage, and intentional acts of vasrdaDespite any precautions we may take, the oenoe of a
natural disaster, a decision by any of our thirdyphosting providers to close a facility we us¢hsut adequate
notice for financial or other reasons, or othernireépated problems at our hosting facilities corddult in lengthy
interruptions in our services. We do not carry bass interruption insurance sufficient to compensatfor losses
that may result from interruptions in our serviseaaresult of system failures.

There are many risks associated with our internatal operations.

Our international expansion has been rapid andnd@mational business, especially in Germany aedt.K.,
has also become critical to our revenues and prafiet revenues outside the U.S. accounted foioappately 48%
and 51%, respectively, of our net revenues in figear 2006 and fiscal 2007. Expansion into intdomal markets
requires management attention and resources aogteeas to localize our services to conform t@lawiltures,
standards, and policies. The commercial, Intelarad, transportation infrastructure in lesdexeloped countries m
make it more difficult for us to replicate our tithohal Marketplace business model. In many coestrive compete
with local companies that understand the local migbktter than we do, and we may not benefit friost-fo-market
advantages. We may not be successful in expandiagarticular international markets or in genegtievenues
from foreign operations. For example, in 2002 wthdiew our eBay marketplace offering from the Jasan
market, and in 2007 we contributed our busineszhima to a joint venture with a local Chinese compdven if
we are successful in developing new markets, wenafkpect the costs of operating new sites to exceenet
revenues for at least 12 months in most countries.

As we continue to expand internationally, includthgough the expansion of PayPal, Skype, Shopping.c
and our classified businesses, we are increasgudject to risks of doing business internationafigjuding the
following:

« strong local competitor:

* regulatory requirements, including regulation dehnet services, communications, auctioneering,
professional selling, distance selling, data pitiwe¢ banking, and money transmitting, that mayitlion
prevent the offering of our services in some judsdns, prevent enforceable agreements betwedgrsaind
buyers, prohibit the listing of certain categomégoods, require product changes, require spbcalsure,
subject us to various taxes, penalties or auditimit the transfer of information between eBaydayur
affiliates;

« greater liability or legal uncertainty regarding diability for the listings and other content pided by our
users, including uncertainty as a result of legateams that are less developed with respect tinthenet,
unique local laws, conflicting court decisions dack of clear precedent or applicable I

« difficulties in integrating with local payment pridkers, including banks, credit and debit card aissions,
and electronic fund transfer systems or with tlealléelecommunications infrastructu

« differing levels of retail distribution, shippingpmmunications, and Internet infrastructul
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- different employee/employer relationships and tkistence of worke’ councils and labor union

« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign optoas;

« challenges associated with joint venture relatiggshincluding dependence on our joint venturergas;

« difficulties in implementing and maintaining adetpiaternal controls

* longer payment cycles, different accounting prastj@and greater problems in collecting accountsivable;
* potentially adverse tax consequences, includingl ltaxation of our fees or of transactions on oabsites

« higher telecommunications and Internet service idencosts

- different and more stringent user protection, gaitdection, privacy and other law

« cultural ambivalence towards, or r-acceptance of, online tradir

» seasonal reductions in business acti\

* expenses associated with localizing our productduding offering customers the ability to transhgsiness
in the local currency

 laws and business practices that favor local comapgtor prohibit foreign ownership of certain esses
« profit repatriation restrictions, foreign currenexchange restrictions, and exchange rate fluctosy

« volatility in a specific countr's or regio’'s political, economic or military conditions; a

« differing intellectual property law:

Some of these factors may cause our internatimsas ®f doing business to exceed our comparableshien
costs. As we expand our international operatiomshave additional portions of our internationaleeuves
denominated in foreign currencies, we also coultbbe subject to increased difficulties in collegtaccounts
receivable, repatriating money without adversecaixsequences, and risks relating to foreign cuyremchange ra
fluctuations. The impact of currency exchange flatetuations is discussed in more detail under “&e exposed to
fluctuations in currency exchange rates and intestss,” above.

In addition, we conduct certain functions, inclugliproduct development, customer support and other
operations, in regions outside the U.S., partidyliarindia and China. We are subject to both @&l local laws
and regulations applicable to our offshore acegitiand any factors which reduce the anticipatedfiis, including
cost efficiencies and productivity improvementsagsated with providing these functions outside¢hef U.S. could
adversely affect our business.

We are continuing to expand PayPal’s servicesnaternally. In some countries, expansion of PayPal’
business may require a close commercial relatipnsfth one or more local banks, a shared ownerisitgpest with
a local entity or registration as a bank underlitama. Such requirements may reduce our profitabdr limit the
scope of our activities in particular countries yAimitation on our ability to expand PayPal intationally could
harm our business.

We maintain a portion of Shopping.com'’s researahdagvelopment facilities and personnel in Israed| i
January 2008 we acquired Fraud Sciences Ltd.,rasli€sompany. As a result, political, economic amititary
conditions in Israel affect those operations. Tiitare of peace efforts between Israel and its fighg countries
remains uncertain. Increased hostilities or tesrarwithin Israel or armed hostilities between Isea®l neighboring
states could make it more difficult for us to conmgé our operations in Israel, which could increasecosts. In
addition, many of our employees in Israel coulddwpired to serve in the military for extended pési of time
under emergency circumstances. Our Israeli op@stiould be disrupted by the absence of employaeesa
military service, which could adversely affect dwsiness.
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Acquisitions and joint ventures could result in opaing difficulties, dilution, and other harmful casequences

We have acquired a number of businesses in theipalstding, most recently, Fraud Sciences Ltd. and
StumbleUpon. We expect to continue to evaluatecandider a wide array of potential strategic tratieas,
including business combinations, acquisitions aegasitions of businesses, technologies, servpresiucts and
other assets. At any given time we may be engagdibcussions or negotiations with respect to onaare of
these types of transactions. Any of these trarmaeitould be material to our financial conditior aesults of
operations. The process of integrating any acquitesiness may create unforeseen operating difiésuétnd
expenditures and is itself risky. The areas whexenay face difficulties include:

« diversion of management time, as well as a shifoofis from operating the businesses to issuetetkta
integration and administration, particularly givie large number and size and varying scope ofemant
acquisitions

« declining employee morale and retention issuedtiagudrom changes in, or acceleration of, compénsa
or changes in management, reporting relationshipsie prospects, or the direction of the busin

« the need to integrate each company’s accountingagement, information, human resource and other
administrative systems to permit effective managenand the lack of control if such integratiordeayed
or not implementec

« the need to implement controls, procedures andipslappropriate for a larger public company at ganies
that prior to acquisition had lacked such contrptecedures and policie

« in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need tegrate operations across different cultures anmguages and
to address the particular economic, currency, ipalitand regulatory risks associated with specifiantries;

* in some cases, the need to transition operatiGesspuand customers onto our existing platformd;

« liability for activities of the acquired companyfbee the acquisition, including violations of laws|es and
regulations, commercial disputes, tax liabilitiesl ather known and unknown liabilitie

Moreover, we may not realize the anticipated bésefi any or all of our acquisitions, or may nadlize them
in the time frame expected. For example, in conoeatith the Skype transaction, we recorded a galbdw
impairment charge of approximately $1.4 billionour financial statements during 2007. Future aétjois or
mergers may result in a need to issue additionagityegecurities, spend our cash, or incur debbjliizes,
amortization expenses related to intangible assetsite-offs of goodwill, any of which could redeiour
profitability and harm our business.

In addition, we have made investments in certadint jentures in which we have a minority equityeirgtst, and
lack management and operational control. Thesestments in joint ventures may involve risks, indhggdthe risk
that the controlling joint venture partner may hawusiness interests, strategies or goals thahaomsistent with
ours, and the risk that business decisions or @tigons or omissions of the controlling joint vt partner or the
joint venture company may result in harm to oumtapon or adversely affect the value of our inwestt in the
joint venture.

Our business and users may be subject to salestakother taxes.

The application of indirect taxes (such as salesus® tax, value-added tax, or VAT, goods and sesviax,
business tax, and gross receipt tax) to ecommersiadsses such as eBay and to our users is a coarle
evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutesragulations that impose these taxes were edtablisefore the
growth of the Internet and ecommerce. In many ¢asissnot clear how existing statutes apply te thternet or
electronic commerce or communications conducted tivelnternet. In addition, some jurisdictions dav
implemented or may implement laws specifically &dding the Internet or some aspect of electrommoeerce or
communications on the Internet. From time to tis@me taxing authorities have notified us that theljeve we ow
them certain taxes. The application of existindubure laws could have adverse effects on our lassin
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Several proposals have been made at the U.Sastdtiecal level that would impose additional tagashe sal
of goods and services or communications throughriteznet. These proposals, if adopted, could subisilly
impair the growth of ecommerce and our brands,caudd diminish our opportunity to derive financimnefit from
our activities. The U.S. federal government’s mariaim on state and local taxation of Internet asa¥smultiple or
discriminatory taxes on ecommerce was extendedigfrdlovember 2014 through legislation enacted itoler
2007. This moratorium does not prohibit federalfestor local authorities from collecting taxesoam income or
from collecting certain taxes that were in effedébpto the enactment of the moratorium and/oe of its extension
If the moratorium were to expire there could beadwerse effect on our business.

In conjunction with the Streamlined Sales Tax Ribje- an ongoing, multi-year effort by U.S., statad local
governments to require collection and remittancdistant sales tax by out-of-state sellers — ilse been
introduced in the U.S. Congress to overturn the&up Court’Quill decision, which limits the ability of state
governments to require sellers outside of their stae to collect and remit sales taxes on goodshpsed by in-
state residents. An overturning of ®Qeill decision without a robust small business exempitionld harm our use
and our business.

We do not collect taxes on the goods or servickslgousers of our services. One or more statélseofederal
government or foreign countries may seek to imgotax collection or reporting or record-keepingigdaion on
companies that engage in or facilitate ecommengeh &n obligation could be imposed by legislatimended to
improve tax compliance (and legislation to sucleefhas been discussed in the U.S. Congress, bstates, and a
number of foreign jurisdictions) or if an eBay caany was ever deemed to be the legal agent of #rs o our
services by a jurisdiction in which eBay opera@se or more jurisdictions may also seek to impazecbllection
or reporting obligations based on the locatiorhef product or service being sold or provided irreommerce
transaction, regardless of where the respectivis @se located. Imposition of a record keepingaardollecting
requirement could decrease seller activity on @assnd would harm our business. Foreign autlesritiay also
require eBay to help ensure compliance by our usihslocal laws regulating professional sellers;luding tax
requirements. In addition, we have periodicallyeieed requests from tax authorities in many jugsdns for
information regarding the transactions of largessts of sellers on our sites, and in some casésveebeen legally
obligated to provide this data. The imposition 0§ aequirements on us to disclose transaction dscfar all or a
class of sellers to tax or other regulatory autiesior to file tax forms on behalf of any sellerspecially
requirements that are imposed on us but not omaliee means of ecommerce, and any use of thesed®to
investigate, collect taxes from, or prosecute sglleould decrease seller activity on our sitestearth our business.

We pay input VAT on applicable taxable purchasehiwithe various countries in which we operatemiost
cases, we are entitled to reclaim input VAT frora #arious countries. However, because of our unigisiness
model, the application of the laws and rules thlatxasuch reclamation is sometimes uncertain. Acessful
assertion by one or more countries that we aremigtied to reclaim VAT could harm our business.

We continue to work with the relevant tax authestand legislators to clarify eBayobligations under new a
emerging laws and regulations. Passage of newld¢igis and the imposition of additional tax or teetated
reporting requirements could harm our users anduosiness. There have been, and will continue teidestantial
ongoing costs associated with complying with theotes indirect tax requirements in the numerouskeiarin
which eBay conducts or will conduct business.

The current regulatory environment for Voice oventiernet Protocol (VolIP) is uncertain, and Skype’sifiness
could be harmed by new regulations or the appliceatiof existing regulations to its products.

The current regulatory environment for VolP is utai® and rapidly changing. Skype’s voice commutiices
products are currently subject to few, if any, e same regulations that apply to traditional tedeyy and VolP-
based telephone replacement services. VolP conmpargegenerally subject to different regulatoryimess in
different countries, and in most cases are subjelower, or no, regulatory fees and lesser, orspecific regulatory
requirements. Regulatory agencies may require Stypenform to rules that are difficult or impodsilfor it to
comply with due to the nature of its communicatiteshnologies, which could adversely affect itsibess. For
example, while suitable alternatives may be dewaddp the future, Skype is currently unable to tdgrithe exact
geographic origin of the traffic traversing thedmtet or to provide detailed calling informatioroabcomputer-to-
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computer communications, either of which may makmpulying with future regulatory requirements, sash
emergency service requirements, difficult or imildes

Governments may impose new or increased fees,,tardsadministrative burdens on VolP companies, or
Skype may change its product offerings in a maitimermakes it become subject to telecommunicatiegslations
Increased fees could include access and otherehaayable to local exchange carriers to carryt@mainate
traffic, contributions to federal or state UnivdrSarvice Funds in the United States and elsewlage other
charges. In addition, such fees may be assessgoMeynments retroactively or prospectively. Skyme/he
required to meet various emergency service reqeingsn disability access requirements, user pratecti
requirements, number assignment and portabilityireqents, and interception or wiretapping requaets, such ¢
the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcemesttitithe U.S. and similar laws in other jurisdicts. Such
regulations could result in substantial costs ddjpenon the technical changes required to accomtedta
requirements, and any increased costs could eroglgeS pricing advantage over competing forms of
communication. Regulations that decrease the degnevacy for users of Skype’s products couldadw its
adoption. The increasing growth and popularityhef VolP telephony and Internet communications ntarkeghten
the risk that governments will seek to regulate®/ahd Internet communications, and Skype has redein
increasing number of inquiries from regulators ahsuproducts and services. Competitors, includiregincumben
telephone companies, may devote substantial loblsfiforts to seek greater protection for their #xgbusinesses
and increased regulation of VolIP. In the United&tavarious state legislatures and regulatory @gsrare
beginning to impose their own requirements andgaxeVolP. Some countries have prohibited Skypendmy
countries in which Skype products are available |#iws that may relate to its offerings are unclé#e cannot be
certain that Skype or its customers are currentfyli compliance with regulatory or other legajugrements in all
countries in which Skype is used. Skype’s failur¢he failure of those with whom Skype transactsitess to
comply with these requirements could materiallyeadely affect our business, financial condition eegllts of
operations. In addition, increased regulatory nements on VolP would increase Skypebsts, and, as a result,
business would suffer.

New rules and regulations with respect to VolPkaiag considered in various countries around theédyand
at least some of these rules and regulationslaly lio be adopted and to be applicable to Skypeh®ew rules
and regulations are likely to increase our costoifig business and could prevent us from deligeoiar products
and offerings over the Internet, which could adebraffect Skype’s customer base, and thus itsmese

Skype depends on key technology that is licensedfthird parties.

Skype licenses technology underlying certain kepponents of its software from third parties it does
control, including the technology underlying itsepdo-peer architecture and firewall traversal rexthgy, and the
video compression/decompression used to provideVideo quality. Although Skype has contracts iamcpl with its
third party technology providers, there can be sgugance that the licensed technology or othentdobgy that we
may seek to license in the future will continudé&available on commercially reasonable termst al.aThe loss
of, or inability to maintain, existing licenses ¢duesult in a decrease in service quality or lofsservice until
equivalent technology or suitable alternatives lmameveloped, identified, licensed and integrat¢kiile we believe
Skype has the ability to either extend these liesrs commercially reasonable terms or identify @tdin or
develop suitable alternative products, the coste@ated with licensing or developing such prodecisid be high.
Any failure to maintain these licenses on commdsciaasonable terms or license or develop altéraat
technologies would harm Skype’s business.

Our businesses depend on continued and unimpedexkss to the Internet. Internet service providersyrize
able to block, degrade, or charge us or our usedslgional fees for our offerings.

Our customers rely on access to the Internet tmus@roducts and services. In many cases thasadse
provided by companies that compete with at leastesof our offerings, including incumbent telephaoenpanies,
cable companies, mobile communications companies|aage Internet service providers. Some of tipeseiders
have stated that they may take measures that deglde, disrupt, or increase the cost of customsesof our
offerings by restricting or prohibiting the usetbéir lines for our offerings, by filtering, bloalg, delaying, or
degrading the packets containing the data assdoiath our products, or by charging increased feass or our
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users for use of their lines to provide our offggnSome of these providers have contractuallyicesd their
customers’ access to VolP offerings (which wouldude Skype) through their terms of service withiith
customers. These activities are technically feasilold may be permitted by applicable law. In adnjtinternet
service providers could attempt to charge us eanh dur customers use our offerings. Worldwideymber of
companies have announced plans to take such acti@re selling products designed to facilitatehsaictions.
Interference with our offerings or higher chargassdccess to our offerings, whether paid by usyosr customers,
could cause us to lose existing customers, impaiability to attract new customers, and harm ewenue and
growth.

Our tickets business is subject to regulatory, catifive, and other risks that could harm this busiss.

Our tickets business, which includes our StubHukinmss, is subject to numerous risks. Many jurigths
have laws and regulations covering the resale efietickets, and some jurisdictions prohibit theate of event
tickets at prices above the face value of the ticka addition, new laws and regulations may kesed that would
limit our or our users’ ability to continue this$iness. Regulatory agencies or courts may claiholat that we are
responsible for ensuring that our users comply wi#se laws and regulations or that we or our usergither
subject to licensure or prohibited from resellivgmt tickets in their jurisdictions.

Some event organizers and professional sports thawesexpressed concern about the resale of theit e
tickets on our sites. In November 2006, the Newl&mdy Patriots filed suit against StubHub allegingttStubHub’s
resale activities violate Massachusetts’ tickealesaws and constitute intentional interferencéhhe team’s
relationship with its season ticket holders. IniRpB07, Ticketmaster filed suit against eBay d/8tabHub alleging
that StubHub had improperly interfered with TickeBter's contracts with its clients by wrongfullytalming tickets
for sale in violation of Ticketmaster’s exclusiventractual rights to sell such tickets. Such litig)a could result in
damage awards, could require us to change ourdsssjgractices in harmful ways, or could otherwisgatively
affect our tickets business. Our tickets businesdso subject to seasonal fluctuations and thergéaconomic and
business conditions that impact the sporting evamdslive entertainment industries. Our ticketsitess also faces
significant competition from a number of sources)uding ticketing service companies (such as TiMster and
Tickets.com), event organizers (such as profeskapmats teams and leagues), ticket brokers, amer anline and
offline ticket resellers, such as TicketsNow (whieds entered into an agreement to be acquireddiefMaster)
and RazorGator. If we are unable to effectively pete with these competitors, our tickets businessdche
harmed.

We depend on key personnel.

Our future performance depends substantially orc¢imtinued services of our senior management dret &ey
personnel and our ability to retain and motivathin January 2008, we announced that Meg Whitnithive
resigning as our president and chief executiveeffeffective March 31, 2008, and that John Dondtasebeen
named by our board of directors to succeed Ms. Méritas our president and chief executive officanup
Ms. Whitman'’s resignation, as well as other siguaifit changes in our executive management. Thesgebanay
result in increased attrition of our personnel ew neporting relationships are established andtees companies
may increasingly target our executives. We do @moeHong-term employment agreements with any okeyr
personnel, we do not maintain any “key person”ilifeurance policies, and many members of our senior
management team have fully vested the vast majofitiyeir in-themoney equity incentives. The loss of the sen
of any of our executive officers or other key enygles could harm our business. Our new businedsgspend on
attracting and retaining key personnel. Our fuirecess also will depend on our ability to attrain, retain and
motivate highly skilled technical, managerial, metikg, and customer support personnel. Competitiothese
personnel is intense, and we may be unable to ssitdly attract, integrate, or retain sufficientjyalified personne
In making employment decisions, particularly in theernet and high-technology industries, job cdatés often
consider the value of the equity awards they aredeive in connection with their employment. Fliations in our
stock price may make it more difficult to retairdamotivate employees whose stock option strikegsrare
substantially above current market prices. Simjlatecreases in the number of unvested inatloeey stock option
held by existing employees, whether because ouk giice has declined, options have vested,
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or because the size of follow-on option grantsdedined, may make it more difficult to retain andtivate
employees.

Problems with or price increases by third partiebevprovide services to us or to our users could maour
business.

A number of parties provide services to us or toumers that benefit us. Such services includersglbls that
automate and manage listings, merchant tools thaage listings and interface with inventory managsm
software, storefronts that help our users list #eoaching services that make our sites load faester shipping
providers that deliver goods sold on our platfoamong others. In some cases we have contractiegragnts with
these companies that give us a direct financiarést in their success, while in other cases we hane. PayPal is
dependent on the processing companies and bartdgthRayPal to the credit card and bank cleariatyvorks.
Financial, regulatory, or other problems that printkese companies from providing services to usuorusers
could reduce the number of listings on our websitemake completing transactions or payments omalsites
more difficult, and thereby harm our business. énereases by companies that provide servicesrtasers could
also reduce the number of listings on our websitesake it more difficult for our users to complétensactions,
thereby harming our business. For example, we\zeliecent changes in postal rates that affectadindower-
weight packages and mailings between the U.S. am&da may have reduced listing volume on our gitesrtain
categories. Any security breach at one of thesepamies could also affect our customers and harnbasiness. In
addition, we have outsourced certain functiondit@tparty outside providers, including customepsart and
product development functions, which are criticabtir operations. If our service providers do rexfgrm
satisfactorily, our operations could be disruptedich could result in user dissatisfaction and askely affect our
business, reputation and operating results. Althoug generally have been able to renew or extemdetims of
contractual arrangements with third parties whovjg® services to us on acceptable terms, therdearo assuran:
that we will continue to be able to do so in theifa, and there can be no assurance that thirgtpavho provide
services directly to our users will continue tosaoat reasonable rates or at all.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about atrstomer support or anti-fraud measures could dinish
use of our services.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about@ustomer support could severely diminish consumer
confidence in and use of our services. Measuresonetimes take to combat risks of fraud and bresachprivacy
and security have the potential to damage relatigtisour customers or decrease activity on owssity making
our sites more difficult to use or restricting #nivities of certain users. These measures haighteneed for
prompt and accurate customer support to resolegutarities and disputes. Effective customer supgquires
significant personnel expense, and this expensetifnanaged properly, could significantly impaat profitability.
Failure to manage or train our customer supporesgntatives properly could compromise our abitithandle
customer complaints effectively. If we do not handlstomer complaints effectively, our reputaticayrauffer and
we may lose our customers’ confidence.

Because it is providing a financial service andrapieg in a more regulated environment, PayPalkaréBay,
must provide telephone as well as email customgpatt and must resolve certain customer contadtéimghorter
time frames. As part of PayPal’s program to reduaed losses and prevent money laundering, it ramypbrarily
restrict the ability of customers to withdraw thieinds if those funds or the customer’s accounviagiare identifiec
by PayPal’s risk models as suspicious. PayPalrtwipast received negative publicity with respedts customer
support and account restrictions, and has beesuthject of purported class action lawsuits ancesitbrney genet
inquiries alleging, among other things, failure¢solve account restrictions promptly. If PayPalnsble to provide
quality customer support operations in a cost-éffeananner, PayPal’s users may have negative exmpas,
PayPal may receive additional negative publicityability to attract new customers may be damaged,it could
become subject to additional litigation. As a restirrent and future revenues could suffer, andperating
margins may decrease. In addition, negative pupladout or experiences with customer support farkdtplaces,
PayPal or Skype could cause eBay’s reputationffersor affect consumer confidence in the eBay bsaas a
whole.
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Our industry is intensely competitive, and othermapanies or governmental agencies may allege that
behavior is anti-competitive.

Marketplaces

Marketplaces businesses currently or potentialmpete with a number of companies providing bothigaar
categories of goods and broader ranges of goodslriférnet provides new, rapidly evolving and irs&li
competitive channels for the sale of all typesadds. We expect competition to intensify in theufat The barriers
to entry into these channels are relatively low emglent offline and new competitors can easilyntduonline sites
at a nominal cost using commercially availablewafe or partnering with any one of a number of sastul
ecommerce companies.

Our broad-based competitors include the vast ntgjofitraditional department, warehouse, discoant
general merchandise stores (as well as the onfiaeations of these traditional retailers), emergintine retailers,
online classified services, and other shopping ehBrsuch as offline and online home shopping nedsvd@ hese
include most prominently: Wal-Mart, Target, Se&scy’s, JC Penney, Costco, Office Depot, Stapldic€Max,
Sam'’s Club, Amazon.com, Buy.com, AOL.com, Yahoob@bing, MSN, QVC, and Home Shopping Network.

A number of companies offer a variety of servidest provide channels for buyers to find and bumgdrom
sellers of all sizes, including online aggregatmm classifieds websites such as craigslist (irchvhie own a

U.S. In many markets in which it operates, inclgdimthe U.S., our classified platforms competeraganore
established online and offline classifieds platferm

In 2005, we acquired Shopping.com Ltd., an onlimgpping comparison site. Shopping.com competes with
sites such as Buy.com, Google’s Product Searchtageoom, Pricegrabber.com, Shopzilla, and Yahoot&et
Search, which offer shopping search engines thawalonsumers to search the Internet for specjrediucts.
Recent legal developments may affect the utilitglidpping comparison sites if manufacturers beggjuiring more
uniformity in product pricing. In addition, sellease increasingly acquiring new customers by pafangearch-
related advertisements on search engine sitesasuGoogle and Yahoo!. We use product search engimepaid
search advertising to channel users to our sitgghlese services also have the potential to divssts to other
online shopping destinations.

We also compete with many local, regional, andamati specialty retailers and exchanges in eacheofrtajor
categories of products offered on our websites.ekample, category-specific competitors to offesinmgour
Computers, Consumer Electronics, and Cameras &oRtategories include Abt Electronics, Amazon.compple,
Best Buy, Buy.com, Circuit City, CNET, CompUSA, Cputer Discount Warehouse, Dell, Electronics Bougiqu
Fry’s Electronics, Gamestop, Gateway, Hewlett Packamdgvo, MicroWarehouse, Overstock.com, PC Conneg
PCMall.com, Radio Shack, Ritz Camera, Tech DepigefDirect, Tweeter Home Entertainment, uBid, majo
wireless carriers, and computer, consumer eleaspaind photography retailers

Our international Marketplaces websites competh siinilar online and offline channels in each dith
vertical categories in most countries. In addititvey compete with general online ecommerce sitesh) as Quelle
and Otto in Germany, Yahoo-Kimo in Taiwan, Daum &wdarket in South Korea, OZtion and Aussie Bidder i
Australia, and Amazon in the United Kingdom andeottountries. In some of these countries, ther@ualige sites
that have much larger customer bases and greaitied becognition than we do, and in certain of thesdedictions
there are competitors that may have a better utadhelisig of local culture and commerce than we do.

The principal competitive factors for Marketpladesiude the following:
« ability to attract and retain buyers and sell

» volume of transactions and price and selectioroofdg;

 customer service; ar

 brand recognition
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With respect to our online competition, additionampetitive factors include:

e community cohesion, interaction and si
» website eas-of-use and accessibilit

« system reliability

« reliability of delivery and paymen

« level of service fees; ar

 quality of search tools

Some current and potential competitors have longerating histories, larger customer bases andegrbeand
recognition in other business and Internet sed¢tas we do. Other online trading services may logiiaed by,
receive investments from, or enter into other comumérelationships with well-established and wiglanced
companies. As a result, some of our competitorks wfiher revenue sources may be able to devote resoairces to
marketing and promotional campaigns, adopt moreesgiye pricing policies and devote substantialbyen
resources to website and systems development tharam Some of our competitors have offered ses\fimefree
and others may do this as well. We may be unabtetapete successfully against current and futunepeitors. In
addition, certain offline competitors may encouraggnufacturers to limit or cease distribution aitlproducts to
dealers who sell through online channels such ay.e® may attempt to use existing or future gorrent
regulation to prohibit or limit online commercedartain categories of goods or services. The aolofoy
manufacturers or government authorities of policiesegulations discouraging the sales of goodseorices over
the Internet could force eBay users to stop seltiegain products on our websites. Increased catigrebr anti-
Internet distribution policies or regulations magult in reduced operating margins, loss of maskate and
diminished value of our brand.

Conversely, other companies and government agehaiasin the past and may in the future allegedhat
actions violate the antitrust or competition lavishe U.S. or other countries, or otherwise coatiunfair
competition. Such claims, even if without foundatitypically are very expensive to defend, invahegjative
publicity and diversion of management time andréffand could result in significant judgments agaims.

In order to respond to changes in the competithidrenment, we may, from time to time, make prigiegrvice
or marketing decisions or acquisitions that cowdhiour profitability. In January 2008, we annouhsgnificant
changes to our Marketplaces business in three raggas: fee structure, seller incentives and stasdand
feedback While these changes are intended to inepsav users’ buying experience and increase actvitour
sites, certain users may be negatively affectedrivgact negatively to these changes, which coaichtour
operating results and profitability. In additiomrtain competitors may offer or continue to offieref shipping or
other transaction related services, which could@actical or inefficient for eBay sellers to miatdNew
technologies may increase the competitive presqiyre@mabling our competitors to offer a lower caestvice.

Although we have established Internet traffic agements with several large online services anctheargine
companies, these arrangements may not be renewazhunercially reasonable terms or these companégs m
decide to promote competitive services. Even is¢harrangements are renewed, they may not resoltreased
usage of our services. In addition, companiesdbatrol user access to transactions through netacckss, Intern
browsers, or search engines, could promote our etitaps, channel current or potential users tortheitically
integrated electronic commerce sites or their athars’ sites, attempt to restrict our access harge us substantial
fees for inclusion. Search engines may increasihgbome a starting point for online shopping, amtha costs of
operating an online store decline, online selleay mcreasingly sell goods through multiple chaspathich could
reduce the number and value of transactions thegssconduct through our sites.
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PayPal

The market for PayPal’'s product is emerging, intinsompetitive, and characterized by rapid tecbhgichl
change. PayPal competes with existing online afith@fpayment methods, including, among others:

« credit card merchant processors that offer thewises to online merchants, including American g,
Cardservice International, Chase Paymentech, Batt, and Wells Fargo; and payment gateways, ingjud
CyberSource and Authorize.net (which has mergeld @GjtberSource]

* money remitters such as MoneyGram and Western {J
« bill payment services, including CheckFr

 processors that provide online merchants the phdibffer their customers the option of paying poarchase
from their bank account, including Certegy, PayBydimand TeleCheck, a subsidiary of First Datapgray
on credit, including Bill Me Latel

« providers of traditional payment methods, partidylaredit cards, checks, money orders, and Autecdhat
Clearing House transactior

« issuers of stored value targeted at online paymerdisiding VisaBuxx, NetSpend and GreenDot (forger
known as Next Estate

« Amazon Payments, which acts as a credit processbcan be linked to a personal bank account;
« Google Checkout, which enables the online paymemteschants using credit carc

Some of these competitors have longer operatirigrigs, significantly greater financial, techniomarketing,
customer service and other resources, greater reaognition, or a larger base of customers iniaféid businesses
than PayPal. PayPal's competitors may respondwoanemerging technologies and changes in customer
requirements faster and more effectively than Playitane of these competitors may also be subjdeister
licensing, anti-money laundering, and other reguiatequirements than PayPal, which is subjectttitenal
regulations based on its licensure as a bank irinpourg. They may devote greater resources togbhelapment,
promotion, and sale of products and services tlzafP 8, and they may offer lower prices. For exampleogle
Checkout extended its free payment processing piomthrough February 1, 2008, and currently offeeg
payments processing on transactions in an amoopbpionate to certain advertising spending witto@e.
Competing services tied to established banks amer éinancial institutions may offer greater ligitydand engender
greater consumer confidence in the safety andagffiof their services than PayPal.

Overseas, PayPal faces competition from similanchbs and payment methods. In each country, nuraerou
banks provide standard online credit card acquiging processing services, and these banks typitallg leading
market share. In addition, PayPal faces competftimm Visa's Visa Direct, MasterCard’s MoneySenayRl Bank
of Scotlands World Pay and ClickandBuy in the EU, NOCHEX, Mgbeokers, NETeller and FirePay in the Un
Kingdom, CertaPay and HyperWallet in Canada, Pagraatl BPay in Australia, Alipay, YeePay, and 99ill
China and Inicis in South Korea. In addition, imtaan countries, such as Germany and Australigteeic funds
transfer is a leading method of payment for botinerand offline transactions. As in the U.S., bbthed banks ar
other financial institutions that do not currentffer online payments could quickly and easily depesuch a
service.

Some of PayPad’ competitors, such as Wells Fargo, First Data, #gae Express, and Royal Bank of Scotle
also provide processing or foreign exchange sesvizc®ayPal. If PayPal were to seek to expanditiaadial
products that it offers, either alone or througtoenmercial alliance or an acquisition, these prsiogsand foreign
exchange relationships could be negatively affeaethese competitors and other processors coaldrit more
difficult for PayPal to deliver its services.

Skype

The market for Skype’s products is also emerginggrisely competitive, and characterized by rapid
technological change. Many traditional telecommatians carriers, Internet companies, and cableigeos
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offer, or have indicated that they plan to offeal® products or services that compete with thensoft Skype
provides. Microsoft recently announced the expanseiats Office communications suite to include YoWe
expect competitors to continue to improve the penémce of their current products and introduce pevducts,
software, services, and technologies. If Skypetapetitors successfully introduce new products ¢raece their
existing products, this could reduce the markeSkype’s products, increase price competition, akenSkype’s
products obsolete, which could lower Skype’s adoptates, decrease its ability to attract new usecause its
current users to migrate to a competing compangdtition, some of Skype’s competitors, such as
telecommunications carriers and cable televisiavigers, are bundling services and products thgp&kloes not
offer. These include various forms of wireless caminations, voice and data services, Internet aceesl cable
television. This form of bundling may put Skypeaatompetitive disadvantage if these providers cembine a
variety of service offerings at a single attractprece. Furthermore, competitors may choose to niiadie services
interoperable with one another, rather than prégnye which could increase the attractiveness eif thervices
relative to Skype and decrease the value of Skymetisork of users.

Many of Skype’s current and potential competitcaisehlonger operating histories, are substantialigdr, and
have greater financial, marketing, technical, afegtoresources. Some also have greater name réicogand a
larger installed base of customers than SkypeAma.result of their greater resources, many ctiaed potential
competitors may be able to lower their prices ststlly, thereby eroding some or all of Skype’stcadvantage.

Our business may be adversely affected by factbad tause our users to spend less time on our websi
including seasonal factors, national events and ieased usage of other websites.

Anything that diverts our users from their custoynlavel of usage of our websites could adverseigcafour
business. We would therefore be adversely affdayegieopolitical events such as war, the threataf, wr terrorist
activity, and natural disasters, such as hurricanesrthquakes. Similarly, our results of operaibistorically hav:
been seasonal because many of our users reducadtieities on our websites with the onset of goehther
during the summer months, and on and around natimidays. In addition, increased usage of sawélvorking o
other entertainment websites may decrease the @ambtime users spend on our websites, which cadigersely
affect our financial results.

Our failure to manage growth could harm our busings

We have expanded our headcount, facilities, andstiucture in the U.S. and internationally, anticgrate tha
further expansion will be required as we contiruexpand into new lines of business and geogragkias. This
expansion has placed, and we expect it will comtittuplace, a significant strain on our managenadrational,
and financial resources. The areas that are pursichin by our growth include the following:

« Website Usability. User activity rates on our websites depend i gathe quality of our users’ experiences
on those sites. The rapid growth in the numbercamdplexity of products and features on our sites ha
occasionally caused users to become confused owbgbmed or has otherwise impaired users’ expeegnc
on those sites. We are in the process of makingenoms improvements to our eBay websites, includimg
attempt to improve the user experience on thoseitesh These attempts at improvement could faitoold
decrease activity among users who had grown usedpreferred the existing experience on our sh@y.
impairment of customer satisfaction as a resusiitef usability issues could lead to a loss of aqusie or
impair our ability to add customers, either of whigould harm our busines

« Website Stability. We must constantly add new hardware, update aoftand add new engineering
personnel to accommodate the increased use ohdunwr subsidiaries’ websites and the new prodats
features we regularly introduce. This upgrade pgsde expensive, and the increased complexity of ou
websites and the need to support multiple platfaameur portfolio of brands grows increases thé¢ abs
additional enhancements. Failure to upgrade otmniogy, features, transaction processing systeatsirity
infrastructure, or network infrastructure to accooaate increased traffic or transaction volume cdaliin
our business. Adverse consequences could inclugeticipated system disruptions, slower responsegjm
degradation in levels of customer support, impagedlity of user experiences of oL

37




Table of Contents

services, impaired quality of services for thirdtpapplication developers using our externallyessible
Application Programming Interface, or API, and gslén reporting accurate financial information. Wiay
be unable to effectively upgrade and expand ouerysin a timely manner or smoothly integrate agnylg
developed or purchased technologies or businesfie®w existing systems, and any failure to desold
result in problems on our sites. For example, itober 2004, we experienced unscheduled downtinteen
PayPal website over a period of five days relabeslystem upgrades, and in the second quarter af, 200
PayPal experienced an interruption during whichynarPayPal’s services were unavailable for
approximately four hours. In August 2007, Skypeegignced an interruption to its services duringolitthe
majority of Skype’s users were unable to use itglpcts for approximately two days. Despite our refto
increase site scalability and reliability, our atructure could prove unable to handle a largkmve of
customer transactions. Some of our more recentjyieed businesses may be particularly subjectisoribk
given their shorter histories and, in some casgbeh growth rates. Any failure to accommodate eantion
growth could impair customer satisfaction, lead oss of customers, impair our ability to add ouostrs, or
increase our costs, all of which would harm ourifiesss. Further, steps to increase the reliabihty a
redundancy of our systems are expensive, reduceargins, and may not be successful in reducing the
frequency or duration of unscheduled downti

» Customer Account Billing.Our revenues depend on prompt and accurategpliocesses. Our failure to
grow our transaction-processing capabilities taaunodate the increasing number of transactionantiigt
be billed on any of our websites would harm ourifiesss and our ability to collect reven

« Customer Support.We are expanding our customer support operatmascommodate the increased
number of users and transactions on our websitshenincreased level of user protection activiy w
provide worldwide. If we are unable to provide theperations in a cost-effective manner, userainf o
websites may have negative experiences, currenfuame revenues could suffer, and our operatinggma
may decreast

We must continue to effectively hire, train, andnage new employees. If our new hires perform podfriye
are unsuccessful in hiring, training, managing, emegrating these new employees, or if we aresnotessful in
retaining our existing employees, our business belgarmed. To manage the expected growth of ouatipes an
personnel, we will need to improve our transacpoocessing, operational and financial systems,quioes, and
controls. This is a special challenge as we acqére operations with different systems. Our cureant planned
personnel, systems, procedures, and controls mayenadequate to support our future operations.atlaitional
headcount and capital investments we are addiddgneiease our cost base, which will make it maféadilt for us
to offset any future revenue shortfalls by expeweskictions in the short term.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipatex|tabilities.

The determination of our worldwide provision focome taxes and other tax liabilities requires eatiiom and
significant judgment and there are many transast&nd calculations where the ultimate tax detertitinas
uncertain. Our determination of our tax liabilisydlways subject to review by applicable domestit fareign tax
authorities. Any adverse outcome of such a reviewdhave a negative effect on our operating resit financia
condition. Although we believe our estimates assomable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ ftamamounts
recorded in our financial statements and may nmalhgmffect our financial results in the periodpmriods for which
such determination is made.

We depend on the continued growth of online commeeemd communications.

The business of selling goods over the Internetiquéarly through online trading, is dynamic aradatively
new. Concerns about fraud, privacy, and other problmay discourage additional consumers from aadppiie
Internet as a medium of commerce. In countries sisane U.S. and Germany, where our services alittkon
commerce generally have been available for some éind the level of market penetration of our sewis high,
acquiring new users for our services may be mdfedlt and costly than it has been in the pastider to expand
our user base, we must appeal to and acquire carswao historically have used traditional meansashmerce t
purchase goods and may prefer Internet analogsctotsaditional retail means to our offerings, sashhe
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retailer’'s own website. If these consumers provieetdess active than our earlier users, and weraable to gain
efficiencies in our operating costs, including oast of acquiring new customers, our business coelddversely
impacted.

Our business depends on the development and magnter of the Internet infrastructure.

The success of our services will depend largeltherdevelopment and maintenance of the Internet
infrastructure. This includes maintenance of al#é network backbone with the necessary speeda cdatcity, an
security, as well as timely development of completasy products, for providing reliable Internet @ss and
services. The Internet has experienced, and ilyltkecontinue to experience, significant growththie numbers of
users and amount of traffic. The Internet infrastinee may be unable to support such demands. liti@dd
increasing numbers of users, increasing bandwatibirements, or problems caused by “viruses,” “wsfrand
similar programs may harm the performance of therhet. The backbone computers of the Internet baea the
targets of such programs. The Internet has expazéba variety of outages and other delays as & mfsiamage to
portions of its infrastructure, and it could fagdages and delays in the future. These outagedelags could
reduce the level of Internet usage generally atagahe level of usage of our services.

We may be unable to protect or enforce our own Irgetual property rights adequately.

We regard the protection of our trademarks, copysigpatents, domain names, trade dress, anddezdets as
critical to our success. We aggressively protectimiellectual property rights by relying on a feale state and
common law rights, as well as a variety of admiatste procedures. We also rely on contractualimigtns to
protect our proprietary rights in products and B@v. We have entered into confidentiality and irtien assignmel
agreements with our employees and contractorscaniidentiality agreements with parties with whora eonduct
business in order to limit access to and disclostimur proprietary information. These contracta@hngements ai
the other steps we have taken to protect our @uielal property may not prevent misappropriatioowftechnolog
or deter independent development of similar teabgiek by others. We pursue the registration ofdmmain name
trademarks, and service marks in the U.S. andniatemally. Effective trademark, copyright, pated@main name,
trade dress, and trade secret protection is veygresive to maintain and may require litigation. kvast protect our
trademarks, patents, and domain names in an inegeagmber of jurisdictions, a process that is egpee and may
not be successful in every location. For exampkgp8 is in the process of applying to register$gpe name as a
trademark worldwide. In the EU, Skype’s applicatistoeing opposed. If these oppositions to Skyppjgications
were to be successful, Skype’s ability to protesbrand against third-party infringers would benpoomised. We
have licensed in the past, and expect to licentleeifiuture, certain of our proprietary rights, Isas trademarks or
copyrighted material, to others. These licensegstale actions that diminish the value of our piegarry rights or
harm our reputation.

We are subject to the risks of owning real property

We own real property, including land and buildimgkated to our operations. We have little expereinc
managing real property. Ownership of this propsettlgjects us to risks, including:

« the possibility of environmental contamination ahd costs associated with fixing any environmental
problems;

« adverse changes in the value of these propertiestadinterest rate changes, changes in the naigbbds in
which the properties are located, or other fact

« the possible need for structural improvements @eoto comply with zoning, seismic, disability aot,other
requirements; an

 possible disputes with tenants, neighboring owrarsthers

Some anti-takeover provisions may affect the pradfeour common stock.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai10,000,000 shares of preferred stock and teriaéne the
preferences, rights and privileges of those shaitt®ut any further vote or action by the stockteskl The
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rights of the holders of common stock may be harbyedghts granted to the holders of any prefestedk that
may be issued in the future. Some provisions ofceutificate of incorporation and bylaws could hélve effect of
making it more difficult for a potential acquirer &cquire a majority of our outstanding voting &tothese include
provisions that provide for a classified board ibédtors, prohibit stockholders from taking actimnwritten conser
and restrict the ability of stockholders to cakesjal meetings. We are also subject to provisidri3etaware law thi
prohibit us from engaging in any business combamatiith any interested stockholder for a periothoée years
from the date the person became an interestedtsitatee, unless certain conditions are met. Thigiati®n could
have the effect of delaying or preventing a chasfgeontrol.

ITEM 1B: UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

We own and lease various properties in the UnitateS and in 23 other countries around the world.u&k th
properties for executive and administrative offjateta centers, product development offices antbmes service
offices. As of December 31, 2007, our owned andddaroperties provided us with aggregate squatede of
approximately 1.7 million and 1.9 million, respeety. Our corporate headquarters of approximatetyn@illion
square feet are located in San Jose, CaliforniafAecember 31, 2007, the total square footagergdly used by
each of our Marketplaces, Payments and Communitatiegments was approximately 1.8 million, 1.4iariland
0.2 million, respectively.

From time to time we consider various alternatiredated to our long-term facilities needs. While batieve
our existing facilities are adequate to meet ounadiate needs, it may become necessary to leas=)oire
additional or alternative space to accommodatefataye growth.

ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In April 2001, two of our European subsidiariesagEsmbH and eBay International AG, were sued by s
Rolex S.A. and certain of its affiliates in the imtal court of Cologne, Germany. The suit subsetiy@ras
transferred to the regional court in Disseldorfir@any. Rolex alleged that our subsidiaries werariging Rolex’s
trademarks as a result of users selling counteRieiéx watches through our German website. Theadsnt alleged
unfair competition. Rolex sought an order enjointing sale of Rolex-branded watches on the websiteeli as
damages. In December 2002, a trial was held imimwter, and the court ruled in favor of eBay orcallses of
action. Rolex appealed the ruling to the HigheriBeal Court of Dusseldorf, and the appeal was haafactober
2003. In February 2004, the court rejected Rolapseal and ruled in our favor. Rolex appealedtliag to the
German Federal Supreme Court, a hearing took plefe that court in December 2006, and a writiecision wa:
issued in June 2007. The court’s decision fountiéBay must take reasonable measures to prevanteace once
it is informed of clearly identified infringemergnd that eBay may in certain circumstances bediapbn first
notice of infringement. The court referred the daaek to the Higher Regional Court to determine tivbe in some
circumstances, a low starting listing price wadisigit to indicate that a listing was infringinig. July 2007, the
German Federal Supreme Court extended the reable Bblexdecision inlvVD v. eBay. The court held that (i) in
certain circumstances, a duty of care could beddorexist to competitors requiring eBay to takasanable
measures to prevent illegal items from being lig@dn where the competitors were not directly heathand
(i) such duty would extend to listings by the saseéler in the same category (not just identicslidps). Prior to
these decisions, we had implemented proactive messoi find and remove illegal listings from ourhsies; these
decisions may require us to undertake further &ffand will subject us to liability if our effortge deemed to be
insufficient. We expect that this ruling will likeresult in increased costs and litigation agaissin Germany
although we do not currently believe that it wébuire a major change in our business practices.

In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrasti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af
Commerce against eBay Inc. and eBay Internatio&l Phe complaint alleges that we violated Frenchl&w by
negligently broadcasting listings posted by thiadtigs offering counterfeit items bearing plairgiffrademarks, and
by purchasing certain advertising keywords. Thénpifés seek approximately EUR 37 million in damage
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Around September 2006, Parfums Christian Dior, Keharfums, Parfums Givenchy, and Guerlain Société a
filed a lawsuit in the Paris Court of Commerce agaeBay Inc. and eBay International AG. The coimmplalleges
that we have interfered with the selective distiitrunetwork the plaintiffs established in France éhe European
Union by allowing third parties to post listingdering genuine perfumes and cosmetics for saleunmebsites.
The plaintiffs in this suit seek approximately EQRnillion in damages and injunctive relief. We dileur initial
briefs responding to the first complaint in Febyu2007, and initial briefs in response to the seccomplaint were
filed in April 2007. We believe that we have meriteis defenses to these suits and intend to defersklves
vigorously. Other luxury brand owners have alsedfisuit against us or have threatened to do skinge® hold us
liable for counterfeit items listed on our websibgsthird parties, for “tester” and other not fesale consumer
products listed on our websites by third partiestie misuse of trademarks in listings, for alkg@lations of
selective distribution channel laws, for non-coraptie of consumer protection laws or in connectigh paid
search advertisements.

In September 2001, MercExchange LLC filed a conmplagainst us, our Half.com subsidiary and RetugnBu
Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern tiicg of Virginia (No. 2:01-CV-736) alleging infrijiement of three
patents (relating to online consignment auctiohtetogy, multiple database searching and electromisignment
systems) and seeking a permanent injunction anéggesn(including treble damages for willful infrimgent).
Following a trial in 2003, the jury returned a vietdinding that we had willfully infringed the patts relating to
multiple database searching and electronic congggmisystems, and the court entered judgment focElehange
in the amount of approximately $30 million, pluggudgment interest and pgadgment interest. The U.S. Cour
Appeals for the Federal Circuit later reduced tvard to $25.5 million. In May 2006, following apge#o the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ahd U.S. Supreme Court, the Supreme Court remameechase
back to the district court for further action. largllel with the federal court proceedings, at@mguest, the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office agreed to reexammch of the patents in the suit, finding thastartial
guestions existed regarding the validity of thenstacontained in them. In separate actions in 26@5Patent and
Trademark Office initially rejected all of the afas contained in the three patents in suit. In Saper 2007, the
Patent and Trademark Office tentatively approvedesof the claims and rejected others containelddématent that
underlies the jury verdict, which relates to elentc consignment systems. We requested that thréctlisourt stay
all proceedings in the case pending the final autcof the reexamination proceedings, and MercExgph&ias
renewed its request that the district court granhainction. In July 2007, the court denied MercEange’s request
for an injunction and ruled that the proceedindategl to one of the patents will be stayed andraratf the patents
will not be stayed pending action by the Patent Bradiemark Office. MercExchange appealed the coorder
denying the injunction, and we filed a motion segkihat the court find the non-stayed patent imvati December
2007, the district court ruled that it could notsaler eBay’s motions for judgment as a matteaef &nd a new
trial, because it viewed the 2003 verdict for Metcliange (amounting to approximately $30 millionyspinterest)
as final, subject to an accounting. We have apgdalzt ruling.

With the appeals pending, in February 2008, thégsagreed to settle to dismiss all claims anckajsp
stemming from the lawsuit. As a part of the setdameBay will purchase all three patents involirethe lawsuit,
and related technology and inventions, as welllaase to another search-related patent porttblb was not
asserted in the lawsuit. These assets will alloayet® further enhance its operations and trustsaifety effort on it
ecommerce sites. The reserves recorded in our kdates financial statements properly reflect aability as of
December 31, 2007 in connection with this settlemen

In June 2006, Net2Phone, Inc. filed a lawsuit & thS. District Court for the District of New Jeyse
(No. 06-2469) alleging that eBay Inc., Skype Tedbgies S.A., and Skype Inc. infringed five patemtsmed by
Net2Phone relating to po-to-point Internet protocol. The suit seeks anrigfion against continuing infringement,
unspecified damages, including treble damages iltfulinfringement, and interest, costs, and fedg have filed
an answer and counterclaims asserting that thetsadee invalid, unenforceable, and were not ig&th The partie
have completed fact discovery and claim constradbidefing. The pretrial conference is scheduledlime 2008,
and we expect a trial date to be scheduled for s2m2®08. We believe that we have meritorious defeand
intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In August 2006, Peer Communications Corporatiadfa lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the tesis
District of Texas (No. 6-06CV-370) alleging thataBInc., Skype Technologies S.A., and Skype Irftinged two
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patents owned by Peer Communications relating tf@ium network access. The suit seeks an injundigainst
continuing infringement, unspecified damages, aerést, costs, and fees. The parties are in theeps of
conducting discovery and claim construction brigfiand a trial date has been scheduled for Oc®@s. We
believe that we have meritorious defenses and dntieilefend ourselves vigorously.

In September 2006, Mangosoft Intellectual Propény, filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Courtrfthe
Eastern District of Texas (No. 2-06CV-390) allegthgt eBay Inc., Skype Technologies S.A., and Si§piware
S.a.r.l. infringed a patent owned by Mangosofttietato dynamic directory services. The suit semksnjunction
against continuing infringement, unspecified dansaged interest, costs, and fees. We have filezhawer and
counterclaims asserting that the patents are mhvatienforceable, and not infringed. We receivethéial
scheduling order from the court that sets someodliesy deadlines, but not a trial date. The padiesin the process
of conducting discovery. We believe that we haveitm@ous defenses and intend to defend ourseligggrausly.

In February 2007, our StubHub subsidiary was sodlé U.S. District Court for the Central Distraft
California (No. CV-07-1328in a purported class action lawsuit alleging thab&lub violated the Fair and Accur
Credit Transaction Act by allegedly printing redsipontaining more than the last five digits ofedit card number
or the expiration date of a credit card by showtlrggsame on an on-screen receipt. The complaiks see
compensatory and punitive damages and attornegs\ée believe that we have meritorious defensesrdadd to
defend ourselves vigorously.

In March 2007, a plaintiff filed a purported antit class action lawsuit against eBay in the Wadbéstrict of
Texas alleging that eBay and its wholly owned dlibsy PayPal “monopolized” markets through various
anticompetitive acts and tying arrangements. Thafiff alleges claims under sections 1 and 2 ef$inerman Act,
as well as related state law claims. The compkeks treble damages and an injunction. In Ap6I72the plaintiff
re-filed the complaint in the U.S. District Couot fthe Northern District of California (No. 07-C\t882-RS), and
dismissed the Texas action. In May 2007, the caseagnsolidated with other similar lawsuits
(No. 07-CV-01882JF). In June 2007, we filed a motio dismiss the class action complaint. We belibat we
have meritorious defenses and intend to defencetuas vigorously.

In May 2007, Netcraft Corporation filed a lawsuitthe Western District of Wisconsin
(No. 07-C-0254C) alleging that eBay and PayPalngfd two of its patents entitled “Internet billingethods.” The
suit seeks an injunction against continuing infemgent, unspecified damages, and interest, costdgas. In
September 2007, we filed a motion for summary jueighof noninfringement on both patents. In Decen2®§7,
the U.S. District Court for the Western DistrictWisconsin entered a judgment granting our mot@rstimmary
judgment of no-infringement on both of the patents that Netcaaferted against eBay and PayPal. Netcraft
Corporation has appealed the judgment.

In October 2007, PartsRiver filed a lawsuit in Besstern District of Texas (No. 2-07CV-440-DF) aitegthat
eBay, Microsoft, Yahoo!, Shopziila, PriceGrabbed &riceRunner infringed its patent relating to shanethods.
The suit seeks an injunction against continuingrigement, unspecified damages, interest, costsfess. The
defendants have moved to transfer venue and thiepare conducting discovery. Fact discovery duso$chedule:
for July 2009, and trial is tentatively scheduled ®ctober 2009. We believe that we have meritaridefenses and
intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In October 2007, Flexiworld Technologies, Inc.dile lawsuit in Western District of Washington
(No. 3:07-CV-05565-BHS) alleging that Skype infrathits patent titled “Apparatus, Methods, and Systéor
Anonymous Communication.” The suit seeks an injiamcagainst continuing infringement, unspecifiethdges,
and interest, costs, and fees. Flexiworld has absgrved Skype. We believe that we have meriterdmfenses and
intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In December 2007, Klausner Technologies Inc. fidddwsuit in Eastern District of Texas
(No. 2-07CV-525) alleging that eBay, Apple, AT&T o, AT&T Mobility, Comcast Corp., CSC Holdings,
GotVoice Inc. and Simulscribe infringed Klausngratent titled “Telephone Answering Service Linkidgplayed
Data with Recorded Audio Message” (some of themnt#dats, but not eBay, are accused of infringingasd
Klausner patent). The suit seeks an injunctionresjaiontinuing infringement, unspecified damagesd, iaterest,
costs, and
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fees. Klausner has served its complaint but agiead extension of time to answer. We believe Wahave
meritorious defenses and intend to defend oursefigesously.

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haferiged
their intellectual property rights. We are subjicadditional patent disputes, and expect that Wiénereasingly be
subject to patent infringement claims as our sesviexpand in scope and complexity. In particul& gwpect that
we may face additional patent infringement claimslving various aspects of our Marketplaces, Paymand
Communications businesses. We have in the pastfbezed to litigate such claims. We may also becomoee
vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such a&sDigital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aand the
Communications Decency Act are interpreted by thets, and as we become subject to laws in jutiistis where
the underlying laws with respect to the potentatility of online intermediaries like ourselvesaither unclear or
less favorable. We believe that additional lawsaiksging that we have violated copyright or tradekiaws will be
filed against us, especially in Europe. Intelletpraperty claims, whether meritorious or not, &inee consuming
and costly to resolve, could require expensive gharin our methods of doing business, or couldireqs to enter
into costly royalty or licensing agreements.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispute regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of
business. The number and significance of theseitis@nd inquiries are increasing as our busingsmes and our
company grows larger. Any claims or regulatory@tsi against us, whether meritorious or not, coeltirne
consuming, result in costly litigation, requirersficant amounts of management time, and resuhéndiversion of
significant operational resources.

ITEM 4: SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDER

There were no submissions of matters to a voteairity holders during the quarter ended DecembgeR@07.
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PART Il
ITEM 5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS ANI
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE!
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on The Nasdagi@etect Market (formerly the Nasdaqg National M)
under the symbol “EBAY” since September 24, 1998 Tollowing table sets forth the high and low pkare
prices of our common stock, as reported by The Aaslobal Select Market.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 20

First Quartel $47.8¢  $36.9:

Second Quarte 40.8: 28.2(

Third Quartel 29.4¢ 22.8:

Fourth Quarte 33.9¢ 27.0(
Year Ended December 31, 20

First Quartel $34.3t $28.6(

Second Quarte 35.41 30.41

Third Quartel 39.5¢ 31.8i

Fourth Quarte 40.7: 30.9¢

As of February 15, 2008, there were approximatéd@ holders of record of our common stock, althowg
believe that there are a significantly larger nundfebeneficial owners of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our stocldantbt anticipate paying cash dividends in thedeeable
future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table gives information about shanésur common stock that may be issued upon theceseso
options, warrants and rights under all of our éxgsequity compensation plans as of December 307 Z@cluding
our 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 1998 Etnagntive Plan, 1998 Directors Stock Option Pl&894
Global Equity Incentive Plan, 2001 Equity IncentRian, and 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as veefitsares of
our common stock that may be issued upon the eseeafioutstanding options under our 1997 StockdDpfilan
(which plan terminated in 2007) and shares of ammon stock that may be issued under an individual
compensation arrangement that was not approvedibgtockholders, also referred to as our non-ptantg. No
warrants are outstanding under any of the foregplags.

@) (©

Number of Number of Securities
Securities (b) Remaining Available for
to Be Issuec Weighted Average Future Issuance under
upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plan:
Outstanding Options. Outstanding Options (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column(a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holder: 124,661,45(1) $ 32.7¢(2) 93,360,77(3)
Equity compensation plans not approvet
security holder: 153,63(4) 0.3¢ —
Total 124,815,08 $ 32.72 93,360,77
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(1) Includes 47,481 shares of our common stock issyableuant to deferred stock units, or DSUs, under o
2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, and 8,833,633 shairesr common stock issuable pursuant to resttisteck
units under our 1998 Equity Incentive Plan and1889 Global Equity Incentive Plan. DSUs and retdc
stock units represent an unfunded, unsecured togigceive shares of eBay common stock (or, irctse of
DSUs, the equivalent value thereof in cash or ptgjpeand the value of DSUs and restricted stodksuraries
directly with the price of eB¢s common stock

(2) Because DSUs and restricted stock units do not haexercise price, the 47,481 shares of our corrstomk
issuable pursuant to DSUs under our 2003 DeferteckSJnit Plan and 8,833,633 shares of our common
stock issuable pursuant to restricted stock umtietour 1998 Equity Incentive Plan and our 1998b@l
Equity Incentive Plan are not included in the ckltian of weighted average exercise pr

(3) Includes 5,212,281 shares of our common stock m@ngireserved for future issuance under our 1998
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or the ESPP, asaaniteer 31, 2007. Our ESPP contains an “evergreen”
provision that automatically increases, on eaclidgnl, the number of securities reserved for isseainder
the ESPP by the number of shares purchased urel&3RP in the preceding calendar year, providadhba
aggregate number of shares reserved for issuamiss the ESPP may not exceed 36,000,000 shared. As o
December 31, 2007, an aggregate amount of 11,77 2/8fes had been purchased under the ESPP since it
inception. An aggregate amount of 1,987,719 shaesspurchased under the ESPP in 2007, and the mwf
securities available for future issuance undeB&8€P was increased by that number on January &, 200
bringing the total number of shares reserved faurllissuance on January 1, 2008 to 7,200,000. Nbaer
other equity compensation plans ha<evergree” provision.

(4) Does not include: (i) 6,350 shares of our commonlstwith a weighted average exercise price of Gp&r
share, to be issued upon exercise of outstanditigngpassumed by us under the Half.com, Inc. 1994ti
Compensation Plan; (ii) 11,489 shares of our comstook, with a weighted average exercise pricedof B
per share, to be issued upon exercise of outstgrgiitions assumed by us under the X.com Corpora8&9
Stock Plan; (iii) 294,544 shares of our commonlistegth a weighted average exercise price of $1p29
share, to be issued upon exercise of outstanditigngpassumed by us under the PayPal, Inc. 200kyEqu
Incentive Plan; (iv) 85,875 shares of our commanlstwith a weighted average exercise price of $1per
share, to be issued upon exercise of outstanditigngpassumed by us under the Shopping.com Ltd3 200
Omnibus Stock Option and Restricted Stock Incerfilan; (v) 669,526 shares of our common stock, with
weighted average exercise price of $36.03 per shkatee issued upon exercise of outstanding optgssme
by us under the Shopping.com Ltd. 2004 Equity ItigerPlan; (vi) 335,678 shares of our common stedth
a weighted average exercise price of $4.15 peeskabe issued upon exercise of outstanding option
assumed by us under the Skype Technologies S.&k &ption Plan Rules; (vii) 364,267 shares of our
common stock, with a weighted average exercisemicé7.17 per share, to be issued upon exercise of
outstanding options assumed by us under the StubdHab2000 Stock Plan; or (viii) 162,733 sharesof
common stock, with a weighted average exercisemic0.93 per share, to be issued upon exercise of
outstanding options assumed by us under the Stlpblg Inc. 2006 Stock Plan. All of the options and
related plans referenced above were assumed loyaamnection with acquisitions. We cannot make
subsequent grants or awards of our equity secsititigler any of these plans. Prior to each acquisithe
stockholders of the acquired company approved¢haieed company’s plan. Our stockholders, howedigk,
not approve any of the plans in connection withabguisitions

The only outstanding non-plan grant as of DecerBtbe007 relates to an individual compensation
arrangement that was made prior to the initial jpudfering of our common stock in 1998. At the &raf this non-
plan grant, members of our Board of Directors, oafl, and their affiliates beneficially owned ircexs of 90% of
our then outstanding equity and voting intereskss Tion-plan grant was initially disclosed in onitial public
offering prospectus filed with the SEC on Septen#r1998 under the headings “Management — Director
Compensation” and “— Compensation Arrangementscelpx as set forth below, the terms and conditidribis
non-plan grant are identical to the terms of ogtigranted under our 1997 Stock Option Plan, a oépyhich was
filed as an exhibit to our S-1 Registration Statetr{Blo. 33-59097) filed in connection with our ialtpublic
offering.
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The outstanding non-plan grant involved the Boagalant of an option to purchase 3,600,000 sharesiiof
common stock at an exercise price of $0.39 to Soottk upon his joining our Board in June 1998 agdapender
director. These options granted to Mr. Cook wene-quoalified options and were immediately exercisahlith a
term of 10 years. These options fully vested ineJ2@02. Mr. Cook exercised options to purchase0@®0shares in
2002, exercised options to purchase 1,430,000 sta2003, exercised options to purchase 307,2d@&skduring
2005, exercised options to purchase 614,544 skaresy 2006, and exercised options to purchases@¥4&hares
during 2007. As of December 31, 2007, options txipase 153,637 shares remain outstanding undeoth@lan
grant and will expire on June 9, 2008.

Performance Measurement Comparison

The graph below shows the cumulative total stodkdoteturn of an investment of $100 (and the restment
of any dividends thereafter) on December 31, 200@ iour common stock, (ii) the Nasdagq Composgiigelx,
(iii) the S&P 500 Index and (iv) the GSTI Internetiex. We were added to the S&P 500 Index on JAy2002.
The GSTI Internet Index is a modified-capitalizatiweighted index of 14 stocks representing therhtieindustry,
including Internet content and access providetgyiret software and service companies and ecommergpanies.
Our stock price performance shown in the graphveédonot indicative of future stock price perforncan

The following graph and related information shalt he deemed “soliciting material” or be deemebdo
“filed” with the SEC, nor shall such information beorporated by reference into any future filiegcept to the
extent that we specifically incorporate it by refiece into such filing.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Stock repurchase activity during the three monttded December 31, 2007 was as follows:

Total Number of Maximum Dollar
Total Number Average Price Shares Purchased a Value that May Yet
of Shares Paid Part of Publicly be Purchased Unde

Period Purchased(2) per Share Announced Program¢«  the Programs(1)
October 1, 20C-October 31, 200 2,167,21. $ 35.3¢€(3) 2,083,000 $ 1,083,257,70
November 1, 20(-November 30, 200 4,290,85 $ 33.2¢ 4,290,851 $ 940,675,20
December 12007-December 312007 2,857,21 $ 33.3i(3) 2,857,14. $ 845,318,07

9,315,28. 9,230,99.

(1) In July 2006, our Board authorized a stock repwsetmogram for up to $2.0 billion of our commonckto
within two years from the date of authorizationJamuary 2007, our Board authorized the expanditinso
stock repurchase program to provide for the remsetof up to an additional $2.0 billion of our coomstock
by January 2009. Under this program, as of Decer@bg2007, we had repurchased in the aggregate
approximately $3.2 billion of our common stock ataverage price of $31.84 per share. As of Dece@ber
2007, $845.3 million remained available for furtipeirchases under this stock repurchase progradarinary
2008, our Board approved an additional stock remse program for $2.0 billion having no expiratitaie,
giving us the ability to repurchase up to $2.8%dyil of the common stock under our combined stock
repurchase program

(2) Includes 84,289 shares of stock returned to useopcertain agreements that we entered into eéttain of
Skype's former shareholders in 2007. We did not pay aogetary consideration for the return of these sh

(3) Represents the price paid per share for other sepkchased, along with the average of the recovdkie of
the shares of stock returned to us as a part cigheements noted abor
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ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial angmemental operating data should be read in cotipm
with the consolidated financial statements andsititereto and “Management’s Discussion and Anabyfsis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” @ppe) elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10FKe
consolidated statement of income and the conseliddalance sheet data for the years ended, arfd as o
December 31, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 areeddrom our audited consolidated financial stat@ets.

Consolidated Statement of Income Dat(1) :
Net revenue
Cost of net revenue
Gross profit
Operating expense
Sales and marketir
Product developmel
General and administratiy
Amortization of acquired intangible ass
Impairment of goodwill(5
Total operating expens
Income from operatior
Interest and other income, r
Interest expens
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
change and income tax
Provision for income taxe
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of 3
Net income

Per share basic amoun
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Cumulative effect of accounting chan
Per share basic amoul
Per share diluted amoun
Income before cumulative effect of accounting
change
Cumulative effect of accounting chan

Per share diluted amour

Weighted average shar¢
Basic

Diluted

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006(2) 2007(2)
(in thousands, except per share amount:

$2,165,09¢ $3,271,30' $4,552,40. $5,969,74. $7,672,32!
416,05¢ 614,41! 818,10« 1,256,79. 1,762,97.
1,749,031 2,656,89 3,734,29 4,712,94' 5,909,35
545,36¢ 815,46. 1,185,92' 1,619,85 1,925,39
159,31! 240,64 328,19 494,69 619,72°
364,45 475,61 649,52¢ 978,367 1,156,01!
50,65¢ 65,927 128,94: 197,07¢ 204,10
— — — — 1,390,93
1,119,79° 1,597,65. 2,292,591 3,289,99. 5,296,17
629,24: 1,059,24. 1,441,70 1,422,95 613,18(
28,99¢ 71,74¢ 111,09¢ 130,01° 154,27:
(4,319 (8,879 (3,479 (5916 (16,600
653,92. 1,122,10¢ 1,549,321 1,547,05 750,85:
(206,73 (343,88) (467,28 (421,419 (402,600
447,18 778,22. 1,082,04. 1,125,63! 348,25
(5,417 — — — —

$ 441,77: $ 778,227 $1,082,04.

$1,125,63' $ 348,25:

$ 03tE$ 05¢$ 07¢$ 080 $ 026

(0.00) — — _ —
$ 03tE$ 05¢$ 07¢$% 08 $ 026
$ 03/$% 051$ 07¢$ 07¢$  0.2F

(0.00) — — _ _
$ 03/$% 051$ 076$ 07¢$  02F
1,276,557 1,319,45: 1,361,70i 1,399,25 1,358,79
1,313,31. 1,367,720 1,393,87' 1,42547. 1,376,17-
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December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalel $1,381,51. $1,330,04! $ 1,313,58 $ 2,662,79; $ 4,221,19.
Shor-term investment 355,43! 837,40¢ 804,35. 554,84: 676,26«
Long-term investment 934,17. 1,266,28! 825,66 277,85: 138,23
Working capital(4. 1,498,600 1,826,27' 1,698,30: 2,452,19: 4,022,921
Total asset 5,820,13. 7,991,05. 11,788,98 13,494,01 15,366,03
Long-term obligations 124,47¢ 75 — — —
Total stockholder equity 4,896,24. 6,728,34. 10,047,98 10,904,63  11,704,60

(1) These results include acquired company resultpefations beginning on the date of acquisition. See
“Note 3 — Business Combination, Goodwill and Intdohgy Assets” to the consolidated financial statetsen
included in this report, for a summary of recegn#ficant acquisitions. Certain prior year amoumse been
reclassified to conform to current y’s presentatior

(2) Consolidated Statement of Income Data for the yeaded December 31, 2006 and 2007 includes stassdba
compensation expense under Statement of Financ@duting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004)
“Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123(Rp) $219.8 million and $209.1 million respectivehet of tax. Becau:
we implemented FAS 123(R) as of January 1, 2006r periods do not reflect stock-based compensation
expense related to this new accounting standasd:$ate 12 — Benefit Plans” to the consolidatedfinial
statements included in this repc

(3) The cumulative effect of the change in accountirigqiple arises from the adoption of FIN 4&dnsolidatior
of Variable Interest Entitie”

(4) Working capital is calculated as the differencenssn total current assets and total current ligdmsli

(5) Consolidated Statement of Income Data for the gaded December 31, 2007 includes a goodwill im pexirt
charge of $1.4 billion. See “Note 3 — Business Comation, Goodwill and Intangible Assets” to the
consolidated financial statements included in taport.

ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking statements within the meaning of Sectioh @&#the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the S&EsiExchange Act of 1934, including statemerds ithvolve
expectations, plans or intentions (such as thotsing to future business or financial results, niaatures or
services, or management strategies). You can igehese forward-looking statements by words sschhay,”
“will,” “should,” “could,” “expect, "

” o ”u ” o« ” o

anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar
expressions. These forward-looking statementswevisks and uncertainties that could cause ouunalctesults to
differ materially from those expressed or implindur forward-looking statements. Such risks anceutainties
include, among others, those discussed in “ltemRi&k Factors,” of this Annual Report on Form 1a&well as
our consolidated financial statements, related sptend the other financial information appearingeshere in this
report and our other filings with the SecuritiesdaBxchange Commission, or the SEC. We do not inert
undertake no obligation, to update any of our fordviboking statements after the date of this reponteflect
actual results or future events or circumstancase® these risks and uncertainties, readers ardioaad not to
place undue reliance on such forwtlooking statements.
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You should read the following Management’s Discossind Analysis of Financial Condition and Resafts
Operations in conjunction with the consolidatedfinial statements and the related notes that apfssavhere in
this document.

Overview
Our Business

We operate three primary business segments: Mdakety Payments and Communications. Our Marketplace
segment provides the infrastructure to enable ¢lobiéne commerce on a variety of platforms, indhglthe
traditional eBay.com platform, and our other onlphetforms, such as Shopping.com, StubHub, clasisfi
Half.com and Rent.com. Our Payments segment, wdookists of PayPal, enables individuals or busasets
securely, easily and quickly send and receive paysnenline. Our Communications segment, which ciasif
Skype, enables VolP calls between Skype users rmvibles low-cost connectivity to traditional fixdide and
mobile telephones.

We generate revenues from our Marketplaces segoniemarily from listing, feature and final value fepaid
by sellers and lead referral fees. For our Paynmszgsment, revenues are generated primarily byffeespayment
processing services. Our Communications segmemigpity generates revenues from fees charged t® tiser
connect them from Skype’s VoIP network to tradiibtelecommunication networks. These fees are eltaog a
per minute basis and we refer to these minutekgse®ut minutes. Revenues from advertising arevddri
principally from the sale of advertisements andrfri@venue sharing arrangements. Other revenuetedwed
principally from contractual arrangements with dhirarties that provide transaction services to eBal/PayPal
users and interest earned from banks on certaiRd@a@ystomer account balances.

Revenues are attributed to U.S. and internatioeagtaphies based upon the country in which, asake may
be, the seller, payment recipient, Skype wshiternet protocol address, online property tlesiegates advertising,
other service provider, is located. Because we rgémé¢he majority of our revenue internationallyctfuations in
foreign currency exchange rates will impact theultssof our operations.

Key Operating Metrics and Financial Information

Members of our senior management team regularigwnekey operating metrics such as active usetindis,
Gross Merchandise Volume (“GMV”), net Total Paym¥otume (“TPV”), transaction loss rates, registeusers
and SkypeOut Minutes. Members of our senior managéteam also regularly review key financial infation
including net revenues, operating margins, earngegshare, cash flows and financial metrics tRalugle certain
non-cash items. These financial measures allow usohitor the profitability of our business andet@luate the
effectiveness of investments that we have made dantinue to make) in the areas of marketing, pcodu
development, international expansion, customer au@md site operations. We believe that an undedéng of
these key operating and financial measures andtheyvchange over time is important to investorslysis and
other parties analyzing our business results atuwldumarket opportunities.

Financial Summary

During 2007, our combined businesses generatewnehues totaling $7.7 billion, representing a $illon,
or 29%, year-over-year increase, with each of egngents achieving double digit-growth. Overall, operations
were favorably impacted by the weakening of the.lddHar relative to foreign currencies, the gepdria mix of
taxable income, a tax benefit from a favorablengiissued by a tax authority and more efficientafsgur resource
as demonstrated by reducing our sales and markgtinduct development, and general and adminig&&xpense
as a percentage of revenues. Furthermore, ourtoperasults were negatively impacted by the $1llibh
impairment charge related to Skype goodwiill.

Revenue generated by our Marketplaces segmentsanle24% in 2007 as compared to 2006 as our core
business generated $59.4 billion in GMV in 200presenting a 13% increase over the prior year. Reygrowth
was primarily driven by StubHub (acquired in Feloyu2007), advertising, and the fixed-price formateBay. Our
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Marketplaces segment represents approximately fG86rdotal net revenues and continues to driventlagority of
our consolidated net revenue increase in dollars.

Revenue generated by our Payments segment, Payi?agsed 34% in 2007 as compared to 2006. PayPal
represents approximately 25% of our total net reeeand generated net TPV of $47.5 billion in 2G033%
increase over the $35.8 billion generated in 26@§/Pal continued to be a popular payment vehicleanious
Marketplaces platforms. Revenue derived from ourdiient Services business increased by approximaiéfyin
2007 compared to 2006 and represented approxim@&2étyof net TPV in 2007 compared to 35% in 2006.

Revenue generated by our Communications segmeypeSincreased 96% in 2007 as compared to 2006.
Revenue growth at Skype was due primarily to tleevgin in SkypeOut minutes driven by our expandingrisase
and the broadening of our product offerings andbwar strategic relationships. Skype representsoxjppately 5%
of our total net revenue.

Our operating margin was 8% in 2007, which reflddtee significant impact of the goodwill impairmeaftarge
related to Skype of $1.4 billion, which represent8&b of net revenues. In 2006, our operating masgis 24%.

Our diluted earnings per share was $0.25 in 208&.goodwill impairment charge related to Skype of
$1.4 billion reduced our diluted earnings per shr&1.01. In 2006 our diluted earnings per shaas $0.79.

We generated operating cash flow of $2.6 billio2@®7, which allowed us to repurchase approximately
44.6 million shares of our common stock for appmeadely $1.5 billion. As of December 31, 2007, oaslt and ca:
equivalents balance was approximately $4.2 billion.

We expect that our business will continue to grbaxvever, our growth rate has declined over timewaad
expect that to continue in 2008, primarily as aittesf the following:

« we face challenges in the U.S., U.K. and Germarychvare our three largest markets, as growthstihfjs,
active users and GMV on the eBay.com platform aséhcountries has slowed. In January 2008, we
announced our plan to implement changes to oustfeeture, seller incentives and standards andfesd
system, all of which may impact our Marketplacegeraie growth

» consumer spending in our major markets, includirggd.S., Germany and the U.K., is expected to takes
in 2008; anc

< we anticipate that ecommerce growth as a wholedgitielerate in 200:

We believe that our operating margin percentagebgiimpacted negatively by the growth of our lowesss
margin businesses, primarily PayPal and Skype, whie growing faster than our Marketplaces busiaeds
investment in buyer and seller initiatives, and rhayaffected by the other changes mentioned adavpartially
offset this trend, we intend to continue to impraperating productivity to keep our operating exgengrowing at
slower pace than revenue.

We announced another stock repurchase progranmurada2008 for $2.0 billion, giving us the ability
repurchase up to $2.85 billion of our common stagler our combined stock repurchase programs. Any
repurchases of our common stock under our comlstadk repurchase programs may impact our liquidity.

In addition to the above, to the extent that th®.dollar fluctuates against foreign currenciestipalarly the
Euro, British pound, Korean won and Australian Bglthe translation of these foreign currency denated
transactions into U.S. dollars will impact our colidated net revenues and, to the extent thatdneyot hedged
successfully, our net income.
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Seasonality

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgasted, our total net revenues and the sequenaaiagly
growth of these net revenues.

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3l December 3:
(in thousands, except percentages)

2005
Net revenue $1,031,72.  $1,086,30. $1,105,51! $1,328,85!
Current quarter vs prior quart 10% 5% 2% 20%
2006
Net revenue $1,390,41! $1,410,78. $1,448,63  $1,719,90.
Current quarter vs prior quart 5% 1% 3% 19%
2007
Net revenue $1,768,07. $1,834,42! $1,889,221  $2,180,60!
Current quarter vs prior quart 3% 4% 3% 15%

We expect transaction activity patterns on our itebgo increasingly mirror general consumer buyatierns
both online and offline, as our business expandtb, thve strongest sequential growth occurring mfthurth quarter.
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Results of Operations
Net Revenues

The following table sets forth, for the periodsgaeted, the breakdown of net revenues by type es¢gmd
geography. In addition, we have provided a tabl&eyf metrics that drive our revenue results. Certa@y metrics
such as “active registered accounts” and “net ToRdyment Volume”, or net TPV, are new metrics rédgen
adopted by management to measure and monitor itmPats segment. These new metrics replace “active
accounts” and “Total Payment Volume” and are definselow.

Percent Percent
Year Ended Change Year Ended Change Year Ended
December 31 from December 31 from December 31
2005 2005 to 200¢ 2006 2006 to 2007 2007

(in thousands, except percent change

Net Revenues by Type
Net transaction revenu

Marketplaces $3,402,30. 24% $4,203,34 22% $5,135,36.
Payment: 1,001,91! 40% 1,401,82. 31% 1,838,53!
Communication: 24,80¢ 677% 192,75¢ 95% 376,71!
Total net transaction revenu 4,429,02! 31% 5,797,92 27% 7,350,61
Advertising and other net revent 123,37t 39% 171,82: 87% 321,71.
Total net revenue $4,552,40. 31% $5,969,74. 29% $7,672,32!
Net Revenues by Segmen
Marketplace: $3,499,13 24% $4,334,29 24% $5,363,89.
Payment: 1,028,45! 40% 1,440,53 34% 1,926,61!
Communication: 24,80¢ 686% 194,92: 96% 381,82:
Total net revenue $4,552,40. 31% $5,969,74. 29% $7,672,32!
Net Revenues by Geography
u.s $2,471,27. 26% $3,108,98! 20% $3,742,67
Internationa 2,081,12i 37% 2,860,75! 37% 3,929,65!
Total net revenue $4,552,40. 31% $5,969,74. 29% $7,672,32

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
(in millions)

Supplemental Operating Data:
Marketplaces Segment:;(

Active users(2 71.6 81.¢ 83.2

Number of listings(3 1,876.¢ 2,365.: 2,340.!

Gross merchandise volume| $44,29¢ $52,47: $59,35:
Payments Segme:

Active registered accounts( 41.3 49.4 57 <

Net total payment volume(t $26,06¢ $35800 $47,47(
Communications Segmel

Registered Users(’ 74.0 171.2 276.<

(1) Rent.com, Shopping.com, and our classifieds website not included in these metri
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(2) All users, excluding users of Half.com, StubHub &mdrnet Auction Co., our Korean subsidiary, whd d&n,
bought, or listed an item within the previous 12nathoperiod. Users may register more than once arad a
result, may have more than one acco

(3) Listings on eBay Marketplaces trading platformsimiyithe period, regardless of whether the listing
subsequently closed successfu

(4) Total value of all successfully closed items betwasers on eBay Marketplaces trading platformsnguitie
period, regardless of whether the buyer and satizrally consummated the transacti

(5) All registered accounts that successfully sentoeived at least one payment or payment revensalgh the
PayPal system within the previol2-monthperiod.

(6) Total dollar volume of payments, net of paymentrsals, successfully completed through the PayRédisn
during the period, excluding the payment gatewasirmss

(7) Cumulative number of unique user accounts, whichugtes users who may have registered via non-Skype
based websites, as of the end of the period. Wsaysregister more than once and, as a result, mag imore
than one accoun

Marketplaces Net Transaction Revenues

Total net transaction revenues from Marketplacesemsed 22% in 2007 compared to 2006. The incinaset
transaction revenues was the result of growth m@MV-based businesses as well as growth in our@biY-
based businesses (Shopping.com, Rent.com andamsif@ds websites), which continued to grow fastan our
overall Marketplaces businesses. GMV increased d@ffhg 2007 compared to 2006, and was due primsrign
increase in conversion rates and average sellinggra weaker U.S. dollar, and inclusion of owb&tub results
(which we acquired in February 2007). GMV growtl2007 occurred across all major categories, witghntiotors,
consumer electronics, home and garden, clothingaandssories and tickets having the most signifioasitive
dollar impact when compared to 2006.

Total net transaction revenues from Marketplacesemsed 24% in 2006 compared to 2005. The incinaset
transaction revenues was due primarily to growtbunGMV-based businesses as well as growth imoorGMV-
based businesses. GMV increased 18% during 200pareuh to 2005, primarily driven by an increasdstifgs
and higher average selling prices offset by lovaeversion rates. GMV growth in 2006 occurred acedsgajor
categories, with the motors, consumer electrorioghing and accessories, computers, home and marde
books/movies/music, sports, and collectibles categdaving the most significant dollar impact wleempared to
2005.

Marketplaces net transaction revenues earned atterally were $2.7 billion in 2007, $2.1 billion 2006 and
$1.7 billion in 2005, representing 52%, 50% and 45%otal Marketplaces net transaction revenuespaetively.
Based on changes in foreign currency rates yearyear, Marketplaces net revenues were positivalyaicted by
foreign currency translation of approximately $2gillion, $30.6 million and $6.7 million in 2002006 and 2005
respectively. Changes in foreign currency ratesimibact our operating results and, to the exthat the U.S. dolle
strengthens, our foreign currency denominatedenatrrues will be negatively impacted.

In 2008, we expect Marketplaces net transactioamags to continue to increase, driven by increbsess of
GMV and continued growth from our non-GMV-basedibasses. In January 2008, we announced changes to o
fee structure, as well as changes to our selleniives and standards and feedback system, ondhiechpplaces
platforms in an effort to increase user activitgrtigularly in our three largest markets, the ULBK. and Germany.
The reaction of our community of buyers and sellerthese changes, as well as the other factocastied above
under “Financial Summary” could impact our reveguawth and may affect future trends.

Payments Net Transaction Revenues

Payments net transaction revenues increased 31%08adn 2007 and 2006, respectively, which was
consistent with our year-oveear increase in net TPV of 33% and 37%, respdygtiiethose periods. Payments |
transaction revenues have grown primarily as atregrowth in our Merchant Services business @nedincrease
in PayPal’s penetration of eBay Marketplaces GM&yRents net transaction revenues continue to be
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derived primarily from eBay Marketplaces transatsioising PayPal. Our Merchant Services net TPV rextpeed
59% year-over-year growth in 2007 and 2006, antesgmted 42% and 35% of PayPal's net TPV in 20d72806,
respectively. The increase in Merchant Serviceslegs resulted from more online merchants, bothedically
and internationally, adding PayPal as a paymenbopDur payments net transaction revenues ascaage of
net TPV was approximately 4% in each of 2007, 2886 2005.

Payments net transaction revenues earned intenalijidotaled $778.3 million in 2007, $533.2 miliin 2006
and $364.5 million in 2005, respectively represemn#i2%, 38% and 36% of total Payments net trarmactivenue:
respectively. International growth in our Paymesggment continues to benefit from the expansiaruof
geographical footprint, the increase in the nuntf@urrencies supported by PayPal over the ladvewmonths and
the increase in cross-border payments, which gemtaer fees. Based on changes in foreign cuyreates year-
over-year, Payments net revenues were positivghaated by foreign currency translation of approsxtaha
$21.4 million, $4.3 million and $5.3 million in 2802006 and 2005, respectively.

In 2008, we expect the Payments net transactioenteas to increase in total and for net transacgwanues
earned internationally to increase in total and percentage of Payments net transaction reveWegxpect
continued growth in our Merchant Services busiressthe number of merchants integrating PayPal @inwebsite:
increases and as we build consumer preferenceafd?d®. In addition, we expect our Payments busiteebenefit
from growth in Marketplaces GMV and increased peiietn of PayPal on eBay Marketplaces, each of whiay
be impacted by, among other things, the factorsudised above under “Financial Summary.”

Communications Net Transaction Revenues

Communications net transaction revenues were $3##lion in 2007 compared to $192.8 million in 2008e
increase in Communications net revenues was dogply to an increase in SkypeOut minutes to 5lihiin
2007 compared to 4.1 billion in 2006 and to pricafiginges. The increase in SkypeOut minutes wagduearily to
the growth in the cumulative number of Skype reget users to 276.3 million at December 31, 200 fr
171.2 million at December 31, 2006.

Communications net transaction revenues were $182i8n in 2006 compared to $24.8 million in 200%et
revenues from the acquisition date of October D@52hrough the end of 2005). The increase ineatnues was
due primarily to a full year of revenues generdtedh our VolP offerings in 2006. Skype registeregns increased
to 171.2 million at December 31, 2006 from 74.7liovil at December 31, 2005.

Net transaction revenues from Communications eaimtechationally totaled $315.4 million in 2007,
$163.7 million in 2006 and $21.4 million in 2008presenting 84%, 85% and 87% of total Communicatiet
transaction revenues, respectively. Skype revenpemarily generated in Europe. Based on changé&séign
currency rates year over year, Communicationsenatnue was positively impacted by foreign curremnagslation
of approximately $32.2 million in 2007 and $5.1 liait in 2006.

In 2008, we expect Communications net transaceéwemues to continue to increase, driven by ourircoed
focus on increasing user activity and expandingpvaducts and features.

Advertising and Other Net Revenues

Advertising and other net revenues totaled $32illfomin 2007, $171.8 million in 2006 and $123.4llon in
2005. Advertising and other net revenues repredeftte of total net revenues during 2007 and 3% taf toet
revenues during 2006 and 2005. Advertising andratherevenues increased 87% and 39% during 2002@06,
respectively, compared to the same periods of tioe pear due primarily to advertising initiativesour
Marketplaces segment and interest earned from bamkertain U.S. PayPal customer account balafe&s. to the
fourth quarter of 2006, certain U.S. PayPal custaameeount balances were maintained in non-intdresting
accounts. We expect advertising revenues to inenea®tal as we continue to benefit from our sfgédt advertising
partnerships that leverage the significant numibeisers on our Marketplaces platform. The declimierest rates
in the U.S. may have a significant impact on th@ant of interest we earn from banks on certain B/Pal
account balances.
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Summary of Cost of Net Revenues, Operating Expensdson-Operating Items and Provision for
Income Taxes

The following table summarizes changes in costebdfravenues, operating expenses, non-operating ieih
provision for income taxes (note that 2007 and 28®6unts reflect our adoption of the modified pexgtjve
method under FAS 123(R)):

Change from Change from
Year Ended December 31, 2005 to 2006 2006 to 2007
2005 2006 2007 in Dollars  in % in Dollars _ in %
(in thousands, except percentage:
Cost of net revenue $ 818,10 $1,256,79: $1,762,97: $438,68¢ 54% 506,18( 40%
Sales and marketir 1,185,92' 1,619,85 1,925,39. 433,92¢ 37% 305,53t 19%
Product developmel 328,19: 494,69! 619,72° 166,50: 51% 125,03 25%
General and administrati 649,52¢ 978,36. 1,156,01! 328,83 51% 177,65 18%
Amortization of acquired intangible

asset: 128,94: 197,07¢ 204,10 68,137 53% 7,02¢ 1%
Impairment of goodwil — — 1,390,93! — —  1,390,93! 10(%
Interest and other income, r 111,09¢ 130,01 154,27 18,91¢ 17% 24,25 19%
Interest expens 3,47¢ 5,91¢ 16,60( 2,43t 70% 10,68 181%
Provision for income taxe 467,28 421,41¢ 402,60( (45,867) (10% (18,81 (4%)

As of January 1, 2006, we began accounting forkshased compensation under FAS 123(R), which requir
the recognition of the fair value of stock-basethpensation. We adopted FAS 123(R) using the matifie
prospective method, which requires the applicatibthe accounting standard as of January 1, 2@0&c¢ordance
with the modified prospective method, the consaéiddinancial statements for 2005 have not beeiatex$to
reflect, and do not include, the impact of FAS R3Stock-based compensation expense related ity eguards
and employee stock purchases for 2005, 2006 and 286 allocated as follows (in thousands):

2005 2006 2007
Cost of net revenue $ 1,881 ¢ 32,98. $ 37,00¢
Sales and marketir 8,69¢ 96,54 81,29¢
Product developmel 6,46¢ 81,48¢ 76,00z
General and administrati\ 14,727 106,39. 107,50:
Total stocl-based compensation expel 31,77: 317,41( 301,81
Tax benefit (13,027 (97,577) (92,726)
Stocl-based compensation expense, net o $18,74¢ $219,83¢ $209,08:

As of December 31, 2007, there was approximateff ¥6million of total unrecognized compensationtcos
excluding tax benefits, related to stock-basedritice awards granted under our equity incentivagldhat cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof three years.

We continue to believe that employee stock-baseehitive plans represent an appropriate and eskentia
component of our overall compensation program. Véatgstock-based awards to substantially all enmg@#eyand
believe that this broad-based program helps uttr@mcs motivate, and retain high quality employdeghe ultimate
benefit of our stockholders. We granted restricti@tk units as part of our annual employee incentdmpensation
program for the first time in 2007. Stock optiorestricted stock units and restricted stock awgrdated during th
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, net oéltatimens/forfeitures, represented approximatelydrld 2% of
our total common stock outstanding as of DecemthePB07 and 2006, respectively. A substantial portf our
stock-based awards granted during 2007 were gramtexisting employees.
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Cost of Net Revenue

2005 2006 2007
(In thousands, except percentages)
Cost of net revenue $ 818,10« $1,256,79. $1,762,97.
As a percentage of net reveni 18.(% 21.1% 23.(%

Cost of net revenues consists primarily of costeeiated with payment processing, customer sugmatisite
operations, and Skype telecommunications costgifffignt cost components include bank transactéms f credit
card interchange, assessments, other payment pioge®sts, employee compensation, contractor dasiiities
costs for our customer support and site operatibgseciation of equipment, amortization of capitad product
development costs and amortization of acquiredldeee technology.

The increase in cost of net revenues of $506.2anitluring 2007 was due primarily to an increaspagment
processing costs, Skype telecommunication costtpoier support and site operations costs. Payneoégsing
costs increased approximately $200.1 million, d¥4th 2007 compared to the prior year due primadlthe 33%
increase in PayPal’s net TPV, an increase in thpgtion of customer transactions funded with dredids, which
have higher associated processing costs, and sextddarketplaces transaction activity. Skype teteoonications
costs increased by $86.2 million, or 64%, in 200mpared to the prior year due to the increase gpSRut
minutes. Aggregate customer support and site dpagtosts increased approximately $153.1 mill@r26%, in
2007 compared to the prior year due to the devedoprand expansion of our customer support andpieations
infrastructure to support our growth in transactiofume as demonstrated through the increasestin®ilV and
net TPV. Cost of net revenues increased as a pgagenf net revenues primarily as a result of ttesvth of our
lower gross margin businesses, particularly PagRdISkype.

The increase in cost of net revenues of $438.4anitluring 2006 was due primarily to an increaspagment
processing costs, Skype telecommunication costsjelrelopment and expansion of our customer suppdrsite
operations infrastructure, and the effect of stbaked compensation expense related to equity awacdesmployee
stock purchases under FAS 123(R). Payment progesssts increased approximately $114.5 millior3@%o, in
2006 compared to the prior year, due primarilyi® 37% increase in PayPal's net TPV and increasti
proportion of customer transactions funded wittditreards. Skype telecommunications costs increbged
$105.5 million in 2006 compared to the prior yeae do the inclusion of a full year of Skype’s co#tggregate
customer support and site operations costs (inetpsiiock-based compensation) increased approxiynatel
$202.8 million, or 52%, in 2006 compared to thepyiear, due primarily to expanding our global sitel support
infrastructure. Stock-based compensation expen$820 million was included in cost of revenue2096
compared to $1.9 million in 2005. Stock-based camspéon expense increased due to our implementation
FAS 123(R) at the beginning of 2006.

Costs of net revenues are expected to increas¢ainaind as a percentage of net revenues during @@€
primarily to growth in PayPal and Skype, each ofaltis growing faster and has a lower gross matttam
Marketplaces.

Sales and Marketing

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentages)
Sales and marketir $1,185,92! $1,619,85 $1,925,39.
As a percentage of net reveni 26.1% 27.1% 25.1%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgleérising costs, marketing programs and employee
compensation for sales and marketing staff.

Sales and marketing expenses increased in totabdugr continued investment in retaining and grapour
active user base. We direct customers to our webpitimarily through a number of online marketihgmnels such
as sponsored search, portal advertising, email a@mg and other initiatives. Our marketing expemsedargely
variable, based on growth in sales and changesas.rGrowth in advertising and marketing costsyelsas
employee-related costs, comprised the majorithefihcreases. Combined advertising and marketiatsco
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increased $222.5 million in 2007 compared to therprear, due to an increase in global televisiod anline
marketing campaigns. Employee-related costs andgb®f contractors increased by $48.7 millionG62as we
continued to expand our domestic and internatiopafations. Sales and marketing expenses as anfegesof net
revenues decreased from 2006, due to more effisfgerding within our Marketplaces segment as wéiruoed to
refine our marketing programs and the growth inayments and Communications segments, each ohwhg
lower relative sales and marketing expenses thaMarketplaces segment.

Sales and marketing expenses increased in totasagercentage of total net revenues in 200&cdoer
continued investment in growing our global userebaisd the effect of stock-based compensation egpeteted to
equity awards and employee stock purchases underi2&(R). Growth in advertising and marketing castsvell
as employee-related costs comprised the majoritieoincreases. Combined advertising and marketists
increased $250.5 million in 2006 compared to therprear, due to an increase in global televisiod anline
marketing campaigns. Employee-related costs, miuding stock-based compensation expense, incrépsed
$69.3 million in 2006 as we continued to expanddmmestic and international operations. Stock-based
compensation expense of $96.5 million was includeghles and marketing expense in 2006 compared to
$8.7 million in 2005. Stock-based compensation agpencreased due to our implementation of FASRP&( the
beginning of 2006.

For 2008, sales and marketing expense is expeztadrease in total due to our increased effortetain
existing active users and increase activity acatlssf our segments. However, sales and marketipgrse as a
percentage of net revenues is expected to decstightly due to improved sales and marketing expdegerage in
our Marketplaces segment and the relative growtiumPayments and Communications segments (eaghioff
has lower sales and marketing expenses than olelfideices segment).

Product Development

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentages)
Product developmel $328,19: $494,69' $619,72
As a percentage of net reveni 7.2% 8.2% 8.1%

Product development expenses consist primarilyngfleyee compensation, contractor costs, facilitests an
depreciation on equipment. Product developmentresgeeare net of required capitalization of majtr and other
product development efforts, including the develepirof our next generation platform architecturgration of
certain platforms, seller tools and Payments sesvrojects. These capitalized costs totaled $&il®n in 2007,
$67.9 million in 2006 and $37.1 million in 2005 daare reflected as a cost of net revenues whentaebin future
periods.

The increase in product development expense of $I@Blion during 2007 was due primarily to an iease in
staffing and consultant costs to support seveedfgim development initiatives to enhance the eseerience and
expand our existing product offerings primarily@s our Marketplaces and Payments segments. Enepteiated
and consultant costs increased by approximately0®8dlion in 2007 compared to the prior year. Dexpation and
facilities expense incurred to support our develephefforts increased by approximately $15.6 millio 2007 as
compared to the prior year. Product developmentesp as a percentage of net revenues decreadaty stigm
2006 as we continued to add capacity at a slowertihan we generate revenue.

The increase in product development expense of.$I68lion during 2006 was due primarily to the &utoh of
employees, contractors and consultants to suppoidus platform and software development initiagiire our
Marketplaces, Payments and Communications segraadtthe effect of stock-based compensation expetested
to equity awards and employee stock purchases Aer123(R). Employeeelated and consultant costs, exclut
stock-based compensation, increased by approxiyn®ddl.5 million in 2006 compared to the prior yestock-
based compensation expense of $81.5 million wdsded in product development expense in 2006 coetptar
$6.5 million in 2005. Stock-based compensation agpencreased due to our implementation of FASRP&( the
beginning of 2006.

For 2008, product development expense is expeotattitease in total and as a percentage of nehuegeas
we develop new site features and functionality iandst in strategic product-based initiatives.
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General and Administrative

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administratiy $ 649,52 $ 978,36: $1,156,01!
As a percentage of net reveni 14.2% 16.4% 15.1%

General and administrative expenses consist piiynairemployee compensation, contractor costs, iprons
for transaction losses associated with PayPaljtfasicosts, depreciation of equipment, provisiendoubtful
accounts, employer payroll taxes on employee shaded compensation, insurance and professional fees

The increase in general and administrative expenis®t77.7 million during 2007 was due primarilyan
increase in employee-related costs, facilitiess;guibfessional services, and transaction lossresepeEmployee-
related costs, consultant costs and facilitiessciostreased by approximately $111.6 million dur2@®7 as
compared to the prior year due primarily to ourtoared focus on consumer protection programs. Bsidaal
services costs increased $35.7 million during 208¥ipared to the prior year. PayPal’s transacties fate, which
is the transaction loss expense as a percentdgmydfal’'s net TPV, decreased to 0.29% during 20fimpared to
0.35% during 2006; however, transaction loss expstill increased by approximately $12.8 milliorchese of the
increase in net TPV. We continue to expect oursaation loss rate to fluctuate depending on mactpfa,
including historical experience of losses, protatiprograms, funding mix and net TPV. The funding reflects
how senders fund their payment transactions (thrangdit cards, electronic funds transfers, buyedit, or existin
PayPal account balances). General and administrakpense as a percentage of net revenue decfease2006
due to our continued leverage of our existing istinacture.

The increase in general and administrative expenfis$328.8 million during 2006 was due primarily to
increased employee-related costs, consultant dugtser Payments transaction loss expenses, areffée of
stock-based compensation expense related to esquiyds and employee stock purchases under FAS 123(R
Employee-related costs and consultant costs inedelayg approximately $112.6 million during 2006 asmpared to
the prior year due to our continued focus on usetegption programs. The transaction loss rate mRayments
segment increased to 0.35% in 2006 compared t@0iRQ005, causing an increase in expense of appaigly
$52.7 million. The increase in the transaction kags were due primarily to higher levels of crexditd chargebacks
from unauthorized credit card transactions, whegutted from our decision to strategically entéo imew customer
segments (new countries and direct card proceskanghg higher loss rates.

For 2008, we expect general and administrative resg&o increase in total due to our continued immrest
across all areas of our business and related agpfinctions, particularly in our consumer pratatprograms, as
well as costs associated with transaction lossesieder, general and administrative expenses arectaqg to
decrease as a percentage of net revenues duedased efficiency in our general and administraiivestions,
which we expect will be partially offset by investnts in our consumer protection programs.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentage:
Amortization of acquired intangible ass $ 128,94: $ 197,07¢ $ 204,10¢
As a percentage of net reveni 2.8% 3.2% 2.7%

From time to time we have purchased, and we expeamintinue the purchase of, assets or businesses t
accelerate category and geographic expansion aserine features, functions, and formats avaikabdeir users ar
maintain a leading role in online ecommerce, paysand communications. These purchase transagenrerally
result in the creation of acquired intangible asgéth finite lives and lead to a corresponding@ase in the
amortization expense in future periods. We amoitizgngible assets over the period of estimateefitensing the
straight-line method and estimated useful livegjiragn from one to eight years. The increase in aization of
acquired amortizable intangibles during 2007 ar@b28bmpared to prior years is due to the businegsisitions
consummated during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets willnease as we make additional acquisitions in thedut
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Impairment of Goodwill

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentages)
Impairment of goodwil $ — —  $1,390,93
As a percentage of net reveni — — 18.1%

Impairment of goodwill was $1.4 billion for the yeanded December 31, 2007. We conducted our annual
impairment test of goodwill as of August 31 in actance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Irgaote
Assets.” As a result of this test, we concluded the carrying amount of our Communications repagrtinit
exceeded its fair value and recorded an impairdesstof approximately $1.4 billion (including a $63 million
payment related to the earn out settlement agretawitgncertain former shareholders of Skype) dutimg year
ended December 31, 2007. The impairment resulted fm updated long-term financial outlook for the®
business developed as part of our strategic plgneynle conducted annually during our third quar@ur estimates
of future operating results for our Communicatioggorting unit are for an early stage business liitited
financial history, as well as developing revenualais. These factors increase the risk of differsretween
projected and actual performance that could impaate estimates of fair value of the Communicadiogporting
unit. See “Note 3 — Business Combinations, Goodavill Intangible Assets” in the consolidated finahci
statements included elsewhere in this report fahér details. We have determined that there werevents or
circumstances from August 31 through December 8Q7 2hat would indicate a further assessment wesssary.
We had no impairment charges in the years endedrbleer 31, 2006 or 2005.

Interest and Other Income, Net

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentages)
Interest and other income, r $ 111,09¢ $ 130,01 $ 154,27.
As a percentage of net reveni 2.4% 2.2% 2.(%

Interest and other income, net consists primafiiyterest earned on cash, cash equivalents argtments as
well as foreign exchange transaction gains andeigsur portion of unconsolidated joint venture amdority
equity investment results and other miscellanemmsactions not related to our primary operations.

Interest and other income, net increased in 20@d@pared to the prior year due primarily to higba&sh, cash
equivalents, and investments balances and higterest rates, partially offset by losses from cantipn of
unconsolidated joint ventures and minority equityeistments. The weighted-average interest raterofash and
interest bearing investments portfolio increased.f86 in 2007 from 3.8% in 2006.

Our interest and other income, net increased al &otd remained relatively constant as a percertfiget
revenues during 2006 as compared to the prior peanarily as a result of increased interest incalae to
increased cash, cash equivalents and investmelatsclea and higher interest rates, offset by thetaash balance
due to our stock repurchase activity in 2006. Tleégimed-average interest rate of our cash andesttéearing
investments portfolio increased to 3.8% in 2006nf2.9% in 2005.

We expect that interest and other income, netQ082will vary primarily based on future interestasand the
level of invested assets, which will be impactedhsyextent of our stock repurchase activity, alt agethe results
of our portion of unconsolidated joint ventures aud minority equity investments.

Interest Expense

2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except percentage:
Interest expens $ 3,47¢ $ 591¢ $ 16,60(
As a percentage of net reveni 0.1% 0.1% 0.2%

Interest expense consists of interest chargesearttount drawn under our credit agreement andicerta
accrued contingencies. The increase in interestresgpduring 2007 compared to the prior year ispdimearily to
interest charges associated with our borrowingguodr credit agreement. In 2008, interest expemsebe
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impacted by our decision to access the availatldditunder our credit agreement. See additionaldson of our
credit agreement in “Note 8 — Commitments and Gma@ncies” to our consolidated financial statemérdiided
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Provision for Income Taxes

2005 2006 2007

(In thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxe $467,28" $421,41¢ $402,60(
As a percentage of net reveni 10.2% 7.1% 5.2%
Effective tax rate 30% 27% 54%

The provision for income taxes differs from the amtbcomputed by applying the statutory U.S. fedeatd
principally due to foreign income with lower taxea and from tax credits that lower the effectave tate, offset by
state taxes, subsidiary losses and an impairmamgelor which we have not provided a benefit ateéofactors
that impact the effective tax rate.

Our effective tax rate in 2007 was 54%, compare2i7& in 2006. The increase was due to the goodwill
impairment charge with respect to our Communicati@porting unit which is non-deductible for taxpaoses,
partially offset by a tax benefit from a rulingussl by a tax authority related to prior periodse Tdwer effective ta
rates in 2006 as compared to 2005 resulted prignfoim the expansion of our international business®d from
changes in our operations in international mark#ts.expect our effective tax rate for 2008 to lgmiicantly lower
than in 2007.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

Consolidated Cash Flow Data
Net cash provided by (used il

Operating activitie: $2,009,89. $2,247,79  $2,641,10
Investing activities (2,452,73) 228,85: (693,149)
Financing activitie: 471,60t (1,260,68) (693,39
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts: (45,23) 133,25! 303,82¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis $ (16,465 $1,349,21)  $1,558,39

We have generated cash from operating activiti@srounts greater than net income in 2007, 20062808,
due primarily to non-cash charges to earnings andbénefits from stock-based compensation. Non-chalges to
earnings included depreciation and amortizatioownlong-term assets, stock-based compensationispn for
doubtful accounts and authorized credits resufiiog increasing revenues and the provision fordaation losses
resulting from increased net TPV processed by HaiNea-cash charges in 2007 also included a $1liébi
goodwill impairment charge, whereas there was nminment charge in the prior years. We expect ashc
provided by operating activities to increase dumarily to higher net income.

Cash paid for income taxes in 2007, 2006 and 2085$@63.0 million, $179.2 million and $40.3 million
respectively, as a substantial portion of our mpetrating losses and tax credits were utilized iD52Beginning in
2006, we were required to make cash payments fortdxes.

Prior to adopting FAS 123(R), we presented allderefits resulting from the exercise of equity aigaas
operating cash flows in the consolidated stateroBoash flows. FAS 123(R) requires cash flows risgifrom
excess tax benefits to be classified as a parsti 8ows from financing activities. Excess tax &f@s represent tax
benefits related to exercised options in exceshafssociated deferred tax asset for such opthma.result of
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adopting FAS 123(R), $84.8 million and $92.4 mitliof excess tax benefits for 2007 and 2006, resdgt have
been reported as a cash inflow from financing &

The net cash used in investing activities in 20@8 due primarily to cash paid for acquisitions #r@purchas
of property and equipment, partially offset by cgsierated by our net investment activity. Thecash provided
by investing activities in 2006 reflected the cgeherated from our net investment activity offseth®e purchase of
property and equipment. The net cash used in imgeattivities in 2005 was due primarily to caslidfar
acquisitions and the purchase of property and eaen, offset by cash generated by our net investanstivity.
Purchases of property and equipment, net total&d.$4million in 2007, $515.4 million in 2006, and3B.3 million
in 2005 related mainly to purchases of computeimgent and software to support our site operationstomer
support and international expansion. Cash expefaeatquisitions, net of cash acquired, totaledraxmately
$863.6 million in 2007, $45.5 million in 2006, a#d.7 billion in 2005. In 2007, acquisition activiyimarily
consisted of $530.3 million earn out payment relateour 2005 Skype acquisition and our 2007 adtipisof
StubHub. In 2006, we acquired Tradera.com. In 280§uisition activity primarily consisted of Remirg, certain
international classifieds websites, Shopping.cokyp® and VeriSign's payment gateway business. 082&e
expect to continue to purchase property and equipared expect such purchases to total between &risP#.0% o
revenue. Also, we may acquire businesses with easich would impact our investing cash flows.

The net cash flows used in financing activitie$693.4 million in 2007 were due primarily to thepuechase c
approximately 44.6 million shares of our commorcktfor an aggregate purchase price of approximately
$1.5 billion, offset by the proceeds from stockioptexercises totaling $507.0 million and $200.Hiom of
proceeds from borrowings under our credit agreeniér net cash flows used in financing activitié$b.3 billion
in 2006 were due primarily to the repurchase ofraxmately 54.5 million shares of our common stéamkan
aggregate purchase price of approximately $1.ibbjlbffset by the proceeds from stock option eisexx of
$313.5 million. The net cash flows provided by finang activities in 2005 were due primarily to peeds from
stock option exercises of $599.8 million. Prio2@06, we had not repurchased our common stock unsierck
repurchase program. Our future cash flows fromtgquwards are difficult to project as such amowamésa function
of our stock price, the number of options outstagdind the decisions by employees to exerciseyeguiards. In
general, we expect proceeds from stock option ésesdo increase during periods in which our syogée has
increased relative to historical levels.

In July 2006, our Board authorized the repurchdsgdo $2.0 billion of our common stock within twears
from the date of authorization. During 2006, weurghased approximately 54.5 million shares of mmimon stocl
at an average price of $30.56 per share for areggtg purchase price of $1.7 billion. In Janua§72®ur Board
authorized, and we announced, an expansion otdle& sepurchase program to provide for the repweltd up to
an additional $2.0 billion of our common stock otte next two years. During 2007, we repurchas@dagmately
44.6 million shares of our common stock at an ayearice of $33.42 per share for an aggregate psechrice of
$1.5 billion, under this stock repurchase programdanuary 2008, our Board authorized, and we amrexj anothe
stock repurchase program of up to $2.0 billionaf @ommon stock, giving us the ability to repurahap to
$2.85 billion of our common stock under our combliséock repurchase programs. Share repurchases aunde
repurchase programs may take a variety of forncdydting structured stock repurchase programs amet ot
derivative transactions. We expect to continueepurchase our common stock in 2008, which wouldeed
financing cash flows or increase financing caslgasa

The positive effect of exchange rates on cash asl equivalents during 2007 and 2006 was due to the
weakening of the U.S. dollar against other foraigrrencies, primarily the Euro. The negative efffatxchange
rates on cash and cash equivalents during 2005lueato the strengthening of the U.S. dollar agaittsér foreign
currencies, primarily the Euro.

In August 2007, we entered into an amendment t®606 credit agreement. The amendment agreement
increased the lender commitments and borrowingagpander the 2006 credit agreement from its pieeel of
$1.0 billion to $2.0 billion, maintained an optitmincrease borrowing capacity by an additiona0gtillion (after
giving effect to the $1.0 billion increase descdlabove) and extended the maturity date by aniaddityear to
November 7, 2012. As of December 31, 2007, $1I®bilvas available under the credit agreem
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We believe that existing cash, cash equivalentsrarestments of approximately $5.0 billion, togetiéth
cash generated from operations and cash availatgagh our credit agreement, will be sufficienfuad our
operating activities, capital expenditures, stagkurchases and other obligations for the foresedahire.

Commitments and Contingencies

We have certain fixed contractual obligations aohmitments that include future estimated payments.
Changes in our business needs, contractual catigelfzovisions, fluctuating interest rates, anidestfactors may
result in actual payments differing from the est@sa\We cannot provide certainty regarding thertgrand amoun
of these payments. We have presented below a synuhtire most significant assumptions used in our
determination of amounts presented in the tabtesrder to assist in the review of this informatieithin the
context of our consolidated financial position,ulés of operations, and cash flows. The followiagle summarizes
our fixed contractual obligations and commitmeimsttjousands):

Operating Purchase

Payments Due By Year Ending December 3 Leases Obligations Total

2008 $ 64,87 $372,15° $437,02°
2009 59,22: 105,09¢ 164,32(
2010 45,96( 58,78¢ 104,74¢
2011 32,34: 45,01¢ 77,36
2012 27,94( 42,56 70,50:
Thereafte 87,68¢ 642 88,33

$318,02. $624,26° $942,28!

Operating lease amounts include minimum rental atmunder our non-cancelable operating leasesfioe
facilities, as well as limited computer and offeguipment that we utilize under lease arrangem@&htsamounts
presented are consistent with contractual termsaamdot expected to differ significantly, unlessulstantial
change in our headcount needs requires us to exparatcupied space or exit an office facility garl

Purchase obligation amounts include minimum pureltasnmitments for advertising, capital expenditures
(computer equipment, software applications, engingalevelopment services, construction contraats) other
goods and services that were entered into througlominary course of business. For those contahctu
arrangements in which there are significant pertoroe requirements, we have developed estimatesjecp
expected payment obligations. These estimates these developed based upon historical trends, wiitable,
and our anticipated future obligations. Given tigmi§icance of such performance requirements within
advertising and other arrangements, actual payneeundsl differ significantly from these estimates.

The table above does not include liabilities ralateunrecognized tax benefits under FASB Integiren
No. 48,“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FI&B"). As we are unable to reasonably predict the
timing of settlement of such FIN 48 liabilitiesetbable does not include $494.3 million of such-oarrent
liabilities recorded on our consolidated balanoeeslas of December 31, 2007.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2007, we had no off-balancetsire@ngements that have, or are reasonably lieehave,
a current or future material effect on our consaid financial condition, results of operationgyidity, capital
expenditures or capital resources. Customer fuptislly PayPal as an agent or custodian on behalfiiofustomel
are not reflected in our consolidated balance sha&&iese funds include funds on behalf of U.S.austs that are
deposited in bank accounts insured by the Fedepb8git Insurance Corporation and funds that U.Stotoers
choose to invest in the PayPal Money Market Furid¢chvtotaled approximately $1.8 billion and $1.8idnm as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The RP&W&@ey Market Fund is invested in a portfolio mgad by
Barclays Global Fund Advisors.
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Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have inadoheited indemnification provisions in certain afir
agreements with parties with whom we have commilerelations, including our standard marketing, podions ant
application-programming-interface license agreemduhder these contracts, we generally indemniid h
harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnifiety far losses suffered or incurred by the indemexifparty in
connection with claims by a third party with resipicour domain names, trademarks, logos and ditzerding
elements to the extent that such marks are apjditatour performance under the subject agreemeatlimited
number of agreements, we have provided an inderfoityther types of third-party claims, which anelémnities
mainly related to various intellectual propertyhtg, In our PayPal business, we have provided @enimity to our
payment processors in the event of certain thimtlypaaims or card association fines against tlee@ssor arising
out of conduct by PayPal or PayPal customers.nbtpossible to determine the maximum potentiss londer thes
indemnification provisions due to our limited histaf prior indemnification claims and the uniquetfs and
circumstances involved in each particular provisibm date, no significant costs have been incurgber
individually or collectively, in connection with oindemnification provisions.

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimags
General

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets and related notes requires us to make judgmen
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets, liabilities, revenue and exgxe e related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Wdee based our estimates on historical experiandeon various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasenalder the circumstances, the results of whiam five basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmed liabilities that are not readily apparentrfrather sources.
Our senior management has discussed the developsetattion and disclosure of these estimatestivittAudit
Committee of our Board. Actual results may diffierfi these estimates under different assumptiogsmditions.

An accounting policy is considered to be critidat requires an accounting estimate to be madedas
assumptions about matters that are highly unceatdine time the estimate is made, and if diffeestimates that
reasonably could have been used, or changes actionting estimates that are reasonably likebyctmur
periodically, could materially impact the consotigld financial statements. We believe the followeni¢jcal
accounting policies reflect the more significartireates and assumptions used in the preparationrofonsolidate
financial statements. The following descriptionsfical accounting policies, judgments and estesahould be
read in conjunction with our consolidated finanatements and other disclosures included irrémsrt.

Provisions for Doubtful Accounts and Authorized Gigs

We are exposed to losses due to uncollectible atsa@und credits to sellers. Provisions for thesmstreprese
our estimate of actual losses and credits basediohistorical experience, are monitored monthhd are made at
the time the related revenue is recognized. Theigiom for doubtful accounts is recorded as a chaogoperating
expense, while the authorized credits are recoadesireduction of revenues. The following tablgsiflates the
provision related to doubtful accounts and autteatieredits as a percentage of net revenues for, 2006, and
2007 (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007
Net revenue: $4,552,40. $5,969,74. $7,672,32!
Provision for doubtful accounts and authorized itse $ 89,49¢ $ 100,72¢ $ 96,46
Provision for doubtful accounts and authorized itseak a % of net
revenues 1.97% 1.6%% 1.2€%

Historically, our actual losses and credits havenbeonsistent with these provisions. However, gitiranges
in trends could result in a material impact to fataonsolidated statements of income and cash flIBased on our
results for the year ended December 31, 2007 @885 point deviation from our estimates would hegeilted in

64




Table of Contents

an increase or decrease in operating income obappately $19.2 million. The following analysis denstrates, fc
illustrative purposes only, the potential effe@mbasis point deviation from our estimates woddenhupon our
consolidated financial statements and is not ireertd provide a range of exposure or expected tienia

(in thousands, except per share data):

—-25 Basis +25 Basis

Points 2007 Points
Provision for doubtful accounts and related auttesticredits $ 77,28 $ 96,46. $115,64:
Income from operatior 632,36: 613,18( 593,99¢
Net income 367,43: 348,25: 329,07(
Diluted earnings per sha $ 027 $ 022 $ 0.2¢

Provision for Transaction Losses

Our Payments segment is exposed to transactioadakse to credit card and other payment misuseekhsis
non-performance of and credit losses from selldrs accept payment through PayPal. We establistvatioes for
estimated losses arising from processing custoramsactions, such as chargebacks for unauthorieelit card use
and merchant-related chargebacks due to non-dglofegoods or services, Automated Clearing HouseC{1")
returns, buyer protection program claims and dedoitl overdrafts. These allowances represent amadation of
the estimated amounts necessary to provide fosardion losses incurred as of the reporting datdding those ¢
which we have not yet been notified. The allowanedsch involve the use of actuarial techniques,raonitored
monthly and are updated based on actual claimsrdptated by our claims processors. The allowanoedased on
known facts and circumstances, internal factorkuding our experience with similar cases, histdricends
involving loss payment patterns and the mix of $eation and loss types. The provision for transadtisses is
reflected as a general and administrative expaneari consolidated statement of income. At Decer3tieR007,
the allowance for PayPal transaction losses tots8&d1l million.

The following table illustrates the provision foansaction losses as a percentage of net TPV fayR&t
operations for the years ended December 31, 2@W& and 2007 (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
Total payment volum $27,485,00 $37,752,00 $47,470,00
Transaction loss expen $  73,77¢ $ 126,43¢ $ 139,25!
As a % of total payment volun 0.271% 0.32% 0.2%%

Determining appropriate allowances for transachi®ses is an inherently uncertain process, anchaté losse
may vary from the current estimates. We regulaplgtate our allowance estimates as new facts becam&rkand
events occur that may impact the settlement orvesgoof losses. The allowances are maintainedeted we deem
appropriate to adequately provide for losses irzliat the balance sheet date. Based on our résutte year
ended December 31, 2007, a five basis point dewidtom our estimates would have resulted in areiage or
decrease in our operating expenses of approxim@gdy7 million. The following analysis demonstraties
illustrative purposes only, the potential effedive basis point deviation from our estimates wdudde upon our
consolidated financial statements for the year dridlecember 31, 2007, and is not intended to prozicenge of
exposure or expected deviation (in thousands, éxmapshare data):

-5 Basis +5 Basis

Points 2007 Points
Transaction loss expen $115,52(  $139,25! $162,99(
Income from operatior 636,91! 613,18( 589,44
Net income 371,98t 348,25: 324,51!
Diluted earnings per sha $ 027 $ 028 $ 0.2¢
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Legal Contingencie:

In connection with certain pending litigation arttier claims, we have estimated the range of prebaksk and
provided for such losses through charges to ousaalated statement of income. These estimates hese based
on our assessment of the facts and circumstaneeshtbalance sheet date and are subject to chasgd upon
new information and future events.

From time to time, we are involved in disputes #dde in the ordinary course of business, and aveat
expect this trend to change in the future. We areeatly involved in certain legal proceedings &ssdssed in
“Iltem 3: Legal Proceedings” and “Note 8 — Commitrizeand Contingencies — Litigation and Other Legal
Matters” to our consolidated financial statementduded elsewhere in this Annual Report on FornK1@e
believe that we have meritorious defenses to thiensl against us, and we intend to defend ourseigesously.
However, even if successful, our defense againtioeactions will be costly and could divert ouamagement’s
time. If the plaintiffs were to prevail on certailaims, we might be forced to pay significant dassgnd licensing
fees, modify our business practices or even beilpiteld from conducting a significant part of oursiness. Any
such results could materially harm our businesscandt result in a material adverse impact on ihanicial
position, results of operations or cash flows bbakny of our three businesses.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We are required to recognize a provision for incaexes based upon the taxable income and temporary
differences for each of the tax jurisdictions iniefhwe operate. This process requires a calculatidaxes payable
under currently enacted tax laws around the warttlan analysis of temporary differences betweemtwk and ta
bases of our assets and liabilities, includingaasiaccruals, allowances, depreciation and amtdizal he tax
effect of these temporary differences are repaatedeferred tax assets and liabilities in our clidsted balance
sheet. We also assess the likelihood that ourefetetd tax assets will be realized from futureatdg income. To
the extent we believe that it is more likely thant that some portion or all of the deferred taveagsll not be
realized, we establish a valuation allowance. Atédaber 31, 2007, we had a valuation allowance daiogoreign
net operating losses based on our assessmentighatare likely than not that the deferred taxeasdll not be
realized. To the extent we establish a valuatitowalnce or change the allowance in a period, weagethe change
with a corresponding increase or decrease in oypravision in our consolidated statement of incammagainst
additional paid-in-capital in our consolidated Imala sheet to the extent any tax benefits would b#verwise been
allocated to equity.

Our U.S. businesses generate sufficient cash thofwlty fund their operating requirements, and wpet that
profits earned outside the U.S. will be fully wéd to fund our continued international expansfatordingly, we
have not provided for U.S. federal income and famevithholding taxes on non-U.S. subsidiaries’ strithuted
earnings as of December 31, 2007, because sudngsare intended to be reinvested indefinitelythimevent that
our future international expansion plans changesainth amounts are not reinvested indefinitely, weld be
subject to U.S. income taxes partially offset bgefgn tax credits.

The following table illustrates the effective tates for 2005, 2006, and 2007 (in thousands, except

percentages):
Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
Provision for income taxe $467,28" $421,41¢ $402,60(
As a % of income before income ta 30% 27% 54%

Historically, these provisions have adequately fotes for our actual income tax liabilities. Ourdte effective
tax rates could be adversely affected by earniegsgdower than anticipated in countries where &eehlower
statutory rates and higher than anticipated in tswhere we have higher statutory rates, by gbsim the
valuations of our deferred tax assets or liabditier by changes or interpretations in tax lawgylaions or
accounting principles. In addition, we are subfedhe continuous examination of our income tamnret by the
Internal Revenue Service and other tax authoritdés regularly assess the likelihood of adversemutes resulting
from these examinations to determine the adequBoyrgorovision for income taxes.
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Based on our results for the year ended Decemhe&(RT/, a one-percentage point change in our poovfer
income taxes as a percentage of income before teowlsl have resulted in an increase or decreaseiprovision
of approximately $7.5 million. The following analyslemonstrates, for illustrative purposes onlg, gibtential
effect such a one-percentage point deviation chamged have upon our consolidated financial stat@nand is
not intended to provide a range of exposure or eepledeviation (in thousands, except per sharg:data

-100 Basit +100 Basit

Points 2007 Points
Provision for income taxe $395,09: $402,60( $410,10¢
Net income 355,76( 348,25: 340,74
Diluted earnings per sha $ 02 $ 028 $ 0.2¢

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 as of the baigim of 2007. Prior to adoption, our policy waskiablish
reserves that reflected the probable outcome ofvkrtax contingencies. The effects of final resalatiif any, were
recognized as changes to the effective incomeati@xin the period of resolution. FIN 48 requireplagation of a
more likely than not threshold to the recognitiom @erecognition of uncertain tax positions. If theognition
threshold is met, FIN 48 permits us to recognitaxabenefit measured at the largest amount ofakdenefit that,
in our judgement, is more than 50 percent likelpéarealized upon settlement. It further requined & change in
judgment related to the expected ultimate resatutibuncertain tax positions be recognized in ew®in the
quarter of such change.

We file annual income tax returns in multiple taxjaorisdictions around the world. A number of yearay
elapse before an uncertain tax position is auditetifinally resolved. While it is often difficulbtpredict the final
outcome or the timing of resolution of any partarulincertain tax position, we believe that our mesgfor income
taxes reflect the most likely outcome. We adjussthreserves, as well as the related interesghndf changing
facts and circumstances. Settlement of any paatiqdsition could require the use of cash.

Advertising and Other Revenues

A portion of our net revenues result from fees aisged with advertising and other services. Neenexes from
advertising are derived principally from the sal@oline advertisements for cash and through bamengements.
Other net revenues are derived principally fromtamtual arrangements with third parties that mptevransaction
services to eBay and PayPal users and interestét&nom banks on certain PayPal customer accolahtss.
Advertising and other net revenues, including bidrensactions, totaled 4% of our consolidatedree¢nues for
2007 and 3% in 2005 and 2006, and were primarihegeed by our Marketplaces segment. Revenue feosterb
arrangements totaled $1.4 million in 2006 and $6ilion in 2005. Revenue from barter arrangemerds wot
significant in 2007. Certain judgments are involinethe determination of the appropriate revengegaition,
including, but not limited to, the assessment dlutation of fair values in multiple element arramgents, the
appropriateness of gross or net revenue recogration for barter transactions, the existence ofparable cash
transactions to establish fair values. We evaludiiether payments made to customers or revenuesceiom
vendors have a separate identifiable benefit arettven they are fairly valued in determining therappiate
classification of the related revenues and expense.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The purchase price of an acquired company is diddaetween intangible assets and the net tangdsiets of
the acquired business with the residual of thelpase price recorded as goodwill. The determinadfdhe value of
the intangible assets acquired involves certaigiuehts and estimates. These judgments can inddutieye not
limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expktiegenerate in the future and the appropriatghted average cost
of capital.

At December 31, 2007, our goodwill totaled $6.3idnil and our identifiable intangible assets totaled
$596.0 million. We assess the impairment of goddvfibur reportable units annually, or more oftéavents or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carmahge may not be recoverable. This assessmeasidbupon a
discounted cash flow analysis and analysis of canket capitalization. The estimate of cash flowased upon,
among other things, certain assumptions about ¢ggdature operating performance and an appropdistmunt
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rate determined by our management. Our estimatésodunted cash flows may differ from actual cteWs due
to, among other things, economic conditions, chargédts business model or changes in operatinigimeance.
Additionally, certain estimates of discounted cistvs involve businesses with limited financial tois/ and
developing revenue models, which increase thedfiglfferences between the projected and actudbpaance.
Significant differences between these estimatesaahdhl cash flows could materially affect our fetfinancial
results. These factors increase the risk of diffees between projected and actual performancedhid impact
future estimates of fair value of all reportingtsnparticularly, our Communications reporting ukite conducted
our annual impairment test of goodwill as of Augdist 2007 in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Gooldarid
Other Intangible Assets.” As a result of this test,concluded that the carrying amount of our Comigations
reporting unit exceeded its fair value and recor@edmpairment loss of approximately $1.4 billiauridg the year
ended December 31, 2007. The impairment chargadeslthe impact of the earn out settlement paymiht
certain former shareholders of Skype and was dé&tedrby comparing the carrying value of goodwilbiar
Communications reporting unit with the implied faalue of the goodwill. See “Note 3 — Business Corations,
Goodwill and Intangible Assets” in the consolidafiedncial statements included elsewhere in thi®refor further
details. There was no impairment of goodwill omitiféable intangible assets in 2006 and 2005.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted FAS 123(R), whighires a fair value measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based paymemtiawnade to our employees and directors, inclueimployee
stock options, employee stock purchases and restratock awards. Stock-based compensation expecsgnized
for 2007 and 2006 was $301.8 million and $317.4iom) respectively. For 2005, stoddlased compensation expe
of $31.8 million was recognized under previous actimg standards. See “Note 12 — Benefit Planghéen
consolidated financial statements included elsewlfrethis report for additional information.

We calculated the fair value of each option awardhe date of grant using the Black-Scholes optidcing
model. The determination of fair value of sharedobgayment awards on the date of grant using aarepticing
model is affected by our stock price as well asiaggions regarding a number of highly complex auntojexctive
variables. The use of a Bla8choles model requires extensive actual employercise behavior data and a num
of complex assumptions including expected life,emtpd volatility, risk-free interest rate and dimidl yield. As a
result, the future stock-based compensation expmagediffer from our historical amounts. The weigaverage
grant-date fair value of stock options granted mw2007 and 2006 was $10.60 and $10.47 per slemmectively,
using the Black-Scholes model with the followingigieed-average assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,
2006 2007
Risk-free interest rat 4.7% 4.5%
Expected life 3years 3.5year
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected volatility 36% 37%

Our computation of expected volatility for 2007 &2@D6 was based on a combination of historicalraatket-
based implied volatility from traded options on stwck. Prior to 2006, our computation of expeateldtility was
based on historical volatility. Our computationecxdpected life was determined based on historiga¢eence of
similar awards, giving consideration to the cortinatterms of the stock-based awards, vesting sdegdnd
expectations of future employee behavior. The @gerate for periods within the contractual lifetlod award is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effethatime of grant.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stashsl&oard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair VaMeasurements” (“FAS 157"). FAS 157 defines fairual
establishes a framework for measuring fair valug expands disclosure of fair value measurementS. F2V
applies under other accounting pronouncementséaaire or permit fair value measurements and, raaagly,
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does not require any new fair value measuremeAS. 17 is effective for fiscal years beginning afte
November 15, 2007. However on December 14, 20@7F-A&SB issued a proposed staff position that wdeldy
the effective date of FAS 157 for nonfinancial asssd nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal years eang after
November 15, 2008. We do not believe that the adomif FAS 157 will materially impact our financigbsition,
cash flows or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"“FFhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Firainc
Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB Statem No. 115,” (“FAS 159"which is effective for fiscal yea
beginning after November 15, 2007. This statementis an entity to choose to measure many financia
instruments and certain other items at fair valugpacified election dates. Subsequent unrealiaets@nd losses
items for which the fair value option has been teléavill be reported in earnings. We do not belithat the
adoption of FAS 159 will materially impact our fimgial position, cash flows or results of operations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141ifRd\2007), “Business Combinations” (“FAS 141(R)").
FAS 141(R) establishes principles and requiremfemtsow an acquirer in a business combination raczeg and
measures in its financial statements the ident#ialssets acquired, liabilities assumed, and angargrolling
interests in the acquiree, as well as the goodwdjuired. Significant changes from current praatgsilting from
FAS 141(R) include the expansion of the definitiofig “business” and a “business combination.” &lbbusiness
combinations (whether partial, full or step acdiosis), the acquirer will record 100% of all assatsl liabilities of
the acquired business, including goodwill, gengratltheir fair values; contingent consideratiofi v recognized
at its fair value on the acquisition date and,dertain arrangements, changes in fair value willdmegnized in
earnings until settlement; and acquisition-reldtadsaction and restructuring costs will be expdmather than
treated as part of the cost of the acquisition. BAS(R) also establishes disclosure requiremerggable users to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of th&ress combination. FAS 141(R) applies prospegtiteebusiness
combinations for which the acquisition date is omfber the beginning of the first annual reportpegiod beginning
on or after December 15, 2008. We are currentiuatiamg the potential impact of this statement.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160ntdatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — An Amendment of ARB No. 51" (“FAS 1B0FAS 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accountirtty an
reporting standards for the noncontrolling inteiest subsidiary and for the deconsolidation ofilbsidiary. It
clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a sulesiy, which is sometimes referred to as minoritgiest, is a third-
party ownership interest in the consolidated ertkigt should be reported as a component of equitlye
consolidated financial statements. Among otherirequents, FAS 160 requires consolidated statenfesperation:
to be reported at amounts that include the amaitributable to both the parent and the noncorigihterest.
FAS 160 also requires disclosure, on the face®ttnsolidated income statement, of the amountsrdgolidated
net income attributable to the parent and to thecantrolling interest. FAS 160 is effective forda years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, begignon or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoptgorohibited.
We are currently evaluating the potential impadhig statement.

ITEM 7A: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time imizing
yields without significantly increasing risk. Totaeve this objective, we maintain our portfolioaafsh equivalent
and short-term and long-term investments in a t\anésecurities, including government and corpeisgcurities
and money market funds. These securities are ggnelassified as available for sale and consedyere recorde:
on the balance sheet at fair value with unrealgaids or losses reported as a separate componaotwiulated
other comprehensive income (loss), net of estimibed

Investments in both fixed-rate and floating-rateeiast-earning instruments carry varying degreestefest
rate risk. The fair market value of our fixed-rageurities may be adversely impacted due to drrisgerest rates.
In general, securities with longer maturities arbjsct to greater interest-rate risk than thosé wftorter maturities.
While floating rate securities generally are subfedess interest-rate risk than fixed-rate sa@g; floating-rate
securities may produce less income than expeciatkifest rates decrease. Due in part to theserf&aaiur
investment income may fall short of expectationsvermay suffer losses in principal if securities aold that
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have declined in market value due to changes @rast rates. As of December 31, 2007, our fixedrime
investments earned a pretax yield of approxim&ied9b6, with a weighted average maturity of one molitimterest
rates were to instantaneously increase (decregsH)Mbasis points, the fair market value of otaltixed-income
investment portfolio could decrease (increase)ppraximately $0.1 million.

As of December 31, 2007, the carrying value of@sh and cash equivalents approximated fair vaide a
represented approximately 84% of our total cashiavestment portfolio, the majority of which werelt in bank
deposits. We held no direct investments in auatide securities, collateralized debt obligatiotsicdured
investment vehicles or mortgaged-backed securities.

Equity Price Risk

We are exposed to equity price risk on the marltetadrtion of equity instruments and equity method
investments we hold, typically as the result oditgtgic investments in third parties that are sulifeconsiderable
market risk due to their volatility. We typicallypdot attempt to reduce or eliminate our markebsxpe in these
equity investments. We did not record an impairnodmatrge during the years ended December 31, 2008, @
2005 relating to the other-than-temporary impairtienthe fair value of equity investments. At Dedmm31, 2007,
the total fair value of our equity instruments aulity method investments was $711.2 million, whighresented
approximately 14% of our total cash and investnpemtfolio. As of January 31, 2008, the value ofeguity
instrument had diminished by approximately $297ifion due to fluctuations in market value.

Foreign Currency Exposures

We are a growing company, with an increasing pripoiof our operations conducted outside the U.&. O
foreign currency exposure continues to evolve agroes internationally. The objective of our foreigrchange
exposure management program is to identify matéaiaign currency exposures and to manage thesesaxgs to
minimize the potential effects of currency flucioas on our reported consolidated cash flow andltesf
operations.

International net revenues result from transactimneur foreign operations and are typically denuated in
the local currency of each country. These operataso incur most of their expenses in the locedericy.
Accordingly, certain foreign operations use thelamirrency, which is primarily the Euro, and tesser extent, th
British pound and Korean won, as their functionakency. Our international operations are subjecisks typical
of international operations, including, but notilied to, differing economic conditions, changegdttical climate,
differing tax structures, other regulations andrietsons, and foreign exchange rate volatility.cAedingly, our
future results could be materially adversely impedty changes in these or other factors. In additib
December 31, 2007, we held balances in cash atdecpsvalents outside the U.S. totaling approxiiyate
$4.0 billion.

Our primary foreign currency exposures are tramnsaceéconomic and translation:

Transaction Exposure

Around the world, we have certain assets and ltas| primarily receivables, investments and actepayabl
(including inter-company transactions) that areaseimated in currencies other than the relevantyéstiunctional
currency. In certain circumstances, changes irfiuthetional currency value of these assets andlikigisi create
fluctuations in our reported consolidated finangiasition, results of operations and cash flows.rié&y enter into
foreign exchange contracts or other instrumentsitomize the short-term foreign currency fluctuasoon such
assets and liabilities. The gains and losses ofotleégn exchange contracts offset the transagj@ns and losses
certain foreign currency receivables, investments@ayables recognized in earnings. As of Dece®bg007, we
had outstanding foreign exchange hedge contradisnetional values equivalent to approximately $8#illion
with maturity dates within 31 days. The hedge et are used to offset changes in the functiamaéncy value ¢
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign qwies as a result of currency fluctuations. Tratisagains and
losses on the contracts and the assets and liedb#ite recognized each period in our consolidsizgment of
income.
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Economic Exposure

We transact business in various foreign curreremgshave significant international revenues as agliosts
denominated in foreign currencies, subjecting Usiteign currency risk. In addition, we charge ouernational
subsidiaries on a monthly basis for their use tdliectual property and technology and for certairporate service
provided by eBay and by PayPal. These chargesementinated in Euros and these forecasted inter-aoynp
transactions represent a foreign currency cash dposure. We purchase foreign exchange contigeterally
with maturities of 12 months or less, to reducevblatility of cash flows primarily related to farasted revenue al
intercompany transactions denominated in certaigido currencies. The objective of the foreign exde contrac
is to better ensure that the U.S. dollar-equivatash flows are not adversely affected by changése
U.S. dollar/foreign currency exchange rate. Purst@Rinancial Accounting Standards No. 133 “Acciinugp for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“BAL33"), we expect the hedge of certain of thesectsted
transactions to be highly effective in offsettimggntial changes in cash flows attributed to a gkan the
U.S. dollar/foreign currency exchange rate. Acaogtli, the effective portion of the derivative’s gair loss is
initially reported as a component of accumulatdeeptomprehensive income (loss) and subsequermiyssified
into the financial statements line item in whick tiedged item is recorded in the same period tleedsted
transaction affects earnings.

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 200@2@08, the realized gains and losses related te thedge
were not significant. The notional amount of ouore@mic hedges receiving hedge accounting treatmast
$515.7 million and $203.0 million as of December 3007 and 2005, respectively. The loss, net afggaecorded
to accumulated other comprehensive income as offber 31, 2007 and 2005 was not significant. Wendichave
any economic hedges in place as of December 38,200

Translation Exposure

As our international operations grow, fluctuatigmshe foreign currencies create volatility in saported
results of operations because we are requiredrsatidate the results of operations of our foraigmency
denominated subsidiaries. We may decide to purdioasign exchange contracts or other instrumentdfset the
earnings impact of currency fluctuations. Such @mis will be marked-to-market on a monthly basid any
unrealized gain or loss will be recorded in intesesd other income, net.

Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may adversepaghour financial position as the assets andlifigsi of oul
foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollarsreparing our consolidated balance sheet. Tieeteof foreign
exchange rate fluctuations on our consolidatedfired position for the year ended December 31, 20@i5 a net
translation gain of approximately $645.2 milliorhi§ gain is recognized as an adjustment to stodkns| equity
through accumulated other comprehensive incomeitidddlly, foreign exchange rate fluctuations malyersely
impact our operating results as the revenues apenses of our foreign operations are translatedin®. dollars in
preparing our consolidated statement of income.éfffext of foreign exchange rate fluctuations pesly impacted
our consolidated net revenues and operating indontée year ended December 31, 2007 by approxignate
$276.2 million and $145.7 million, respectivelynggared to the prior year.

We consolidate the earnings of our internationhkgliaries by converting them into U.S. dollaraatordance
with SFAS No. 52 “Foreign Currency Translation” 88 52”). Such earnings will fluctuate when theraishange
in foreign currency exchange rates. We enter istnsiactions to hedge portions of our foreign cuayetenominate
earnings translation exposure using either exchaaggacts or other instruments. All contracts thedge
translation exposure mature ratably over the quarterhich they are executed. During the year erldedember 3
2007, the realized gains and losses related te thedges were not significant.

A hypothetical uniform 10% strengthening or weakegni the value of the U.S. dollar relative to &ro,
British pound and Korean won in which our revenarg profits are denominated would result in a desgéncreas
to operating income of approximately $13.7 millidinere are inherent limitations in the sensitidhalysis
presented, due primarily to the assumption thaifor exchange rate movements are linear and imstaotis. As a
result, the analysis is unable to reflect the piaérffects of more complex market changes thatctarise, which
may positively or negatively affect income.
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ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and accompgmptes listed in Part IV, Item 15(a)(1) of tisnual
Report on Form 10-K are included elsewhere in Ameual Report.

ITEM 9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedureBased on the evaluation of our disclosure costaod
procedures (as defined in the Rules 13a-15(e) &dellh(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884he
Exchange Act) required by Exchange Act Rules 1316 15d-15(b), our principal executive officerdaour
principal financial officer have concluded thatodishe end of the period covered by this report,disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in internal controls.There were no changes in our internal controés éimancial reporting as defin
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) that occurred duing most recently completed fiscal quarter thaehaaterially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah®eporting. Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internalrobotrer financial reporting. Our management, idahg our
principal executive officer and principal financ@ficer, conducted an evaluation of the effecte®nof our intern:
control over financial reporting based on the framk in Internal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission. Based on its evaluation under taméwork
in Internal Control — Integrated Frameworlour management concluded that our internal cbaotrer financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has beditealiby
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registiblic accounting firm, as stated in their rémdrich
appears in Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on FaO¥K.

ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 10: DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfendur 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of tearyended December 31, 2007.

Code of Ethics, Governance Guidelines and Committe€harters

We have adopted@ode of Business Conduct and Ethitat applies to all eBay employees. We have also
adopted &ode of Ethics for Senior Financial Officetsat applies to our senior financial officers, imtihg our
principal executive officer, principal financialfmfer and principal accounting officer. Ti@®mde of Ethics for Senior
Financial Officersis included in our Code of Business Conduct andcEthosted on our website at
http://investor.ebay.com/governance.ciive will post any amendments to or waivers from@oele of Ethics for
Senior Financial Officerst that location.

We have also adoptéslovernance Guidelines for the Board of Directargl a written committee charter for
each of our Audit Committee, Compensation Commijtael Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Each of these documents is available on our websitip://investor.ebay.com/governance.cfm.
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ITEM 11: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfiendur 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of tearyended December 31, 2007.

ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfendur 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of tearyended December 31, 2007.

ITEM 13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfiendur 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of tearyended December 31, 2007.

ITEM 14: PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statenfiendur 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to thedf
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of tearyended December 31, 2007.
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PART IV

ITEM 15: EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:

1. Consolidated Financial Statemen

Page
_Number
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing 78
Consolidated Balance She 79
Consolidated Statement of Incol 80
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Inc 81
Consolidated Statement of Stockhol¢ Equity 82
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc 83
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 84
2. Financial Statement Schedu

Schedule I— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 11t
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All other schedules have been omitted becausentbhemation required to be set forth therein is aygplicable
or is shown in the financial statements or notesdto.

3. Exhibits.
Filed with Incorporated by Reference
No. Exhibit Description this 10K Form File No. Date Filed
2.01 Sale and Purchase Agreement dated as of 8-K 00024821 9/15/2005
September 11, 2005, by and among Registrant, Skype
Technologies S.A. and the parties identified on
Schedule 1 theret:
2.02 Earn Out Agreement dated as of September 11, 2005, 8-K 00024821 9/15/2005
by and among Registrant, Skype Technologies S.A.
and the parties identified on Schedule | ther
2.03+ Form of Option Assumption Agreeme 8-K 00C-24821 10/18/200:!
2.04+ Form of EMI Rollover Agreemen 8-K 00C-24821 10/18/200:!
2.05 Amendment No. 1 to Earn Out Agreement dated as of 10K 00024821 2/24/2006
December 29, 2005, by and among Registrant, Skype
Technologies S.A. and the parties identified on
Schedule | theretc
3.01 Registrant’'s Amended and Restated Certificate of 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2005
Incorporation
3.02 Registrar's Amended and Restated-laws. 8-K 00C-24821 1/16/2008
4.01 Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant’s S-1 33359097 8/19/1998
Common Stock
4.02 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of 8-K 00024821 9/15/2005
September 11, 2005, by and among Registrant and the
parties identified on Schedule | there
10.01+ Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by S-1 33359097 7/15/1998
Registrant with each of its directors and executive
officers.
10.02+ Registrar's 1996 Stock Option Plan, as amenc S 33359097 7/15/199¢
10.03+ Registrar's 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amenc 10-K  00C-24821 2/28/2007
10.04+ Registrar’'s 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amenc 10-K  00C-24821 2/28/2007
10.05+ Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
1998 Equity Incentive Plal
10.06+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
1998 Equity Incentive Pla
10.07+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement)
under Registra’s 1998 Equity Incentive Pla
10.08+ Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employee 10-Q 00024281 7/27/2007
Stock Purchase Pla
10.09+ Registrant’s 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan, as 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
amended
10.10+ Registrant’s 1999 Global Equity Incentive Plan, as 10-Q 00024281 7/27/2007
amended
10.11+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200.

1999 Global Equity Incentive Pla
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No.
10.12+

10.13+
10.14+

10.15+
10.16+
10.17+
10.18+
10.19+
10.20+
10.21+
10.22+
10.23+
10.24+
10.25+
10.26+
10.27+
10.28+

10.29

10.30

10.31

21.01

Filed with Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description this 1C-K Form File No. Date Filed
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
Registrar’'s 1999 Global Equity Incentive Ple
Registrar’'s 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amenc 10-K  00C-24821 2/28/2007
Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
2001 Equity Incentive Pla
Registrant’s 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
amended
Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Electing 10-Q 00024821 4/25/2006
Director Award Agreement, as amend
Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan New Director 10-Q 00024821 4/25/2006
Award Agreement, as amendk
eBay Incentive Plar 10-Q 00C-24821 7/27/200&
eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Pl 8-K 00C-24821 12/20/200
Summary of Compensation Payable to Named 10-Q 00024821 4/25/2007
Executive Officers
Employment Letter Agreement dated January 16, S-1 33359097 8/19/1998
1998, between Margaret C. Whitman and Regist
Stock Option Agreement dated June 9, 1998 between 10K 00024821 3/31/2003
Registrant and Scott D. Coc
Employment Letter Agreement dated August 20, S-1 33359097 9/1/1998
1998, between Michael R. Jacobson and Regis:
Offer Letter to William C. Cobb dated November 22, 10K 00024821 3/25/2002
2000.
Offer Letter to John Donahoe dated November 16, 8-K 00024821 2/24/2005
2004.
Offer Letter to Elizabeth Axelrod dated December 7, 8-K 00024821 3/10/2005
2004 and addendum thereto dated February 16,
Offer Letter to Robert H. Swan dated February 10, 8-K 00024821 2/21/2006
2006.
Letter Agreement regarding supplemental relocation 8-K 00024821 7/13/2006
assistance dated July 12, 2006 to Robert H. S
Credit Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2006, by 8-K 00024821 11/13/200
and among Registrant, Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the other lenders named
from time to time thereir
Amendment Agreement dated as of August 2, 2007, 8-K 00024821 8/3/2007
by and among Registrant, Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and other lenders named from
time to time therein
Form of Earn Out Settlement Agreement dated as of 8-K 00024821 10/1/2007

September 28, 2007 among Registrant, Skype
Luxembourg Holdings S.a.r.l., Skype Technologies

S.A., Herho Holdings B.V. and each Earn out Se

List of Subsidiaries X
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No.

23.01
24.01
31.01

31.02
32.01

32.02

Exhibit Description

Filed with
this 1C-K

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Date Filed

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consi

Power of Attorney (see signature pag

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Ofig

as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac
of 2002.

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Oféic

as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac
of 2002.

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Ofig

as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac
of 2002.

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Offig

as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac
of 2002.

X
X
X

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatomygplarrangemer
(b) See the Exhibits listed under Iltem 15 (a) (3) ab
(c) The financial statement schedules required byittis are listed under Item 15 (a) (2) abc
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of eBey:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{g)(&sent
fairly, in all material respects, the financial fiim of eBay Inc. and its subsidiaries at Decenffer2007 and
December 31, 2006, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for each of the threesygathe period
ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accaungirinciples generally accepted in the United e3taif
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financsahtement schedule listed in the index appeamagultem 15(a)
(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, itifermation set forth therein when read in conjimectwith the related
consolidated financial statements. Also in our @pinthe Company maintained, in all material respesffective
internal control over financial reporting as of Bather 31, 2007, based on criteria establishédt@mnal Control —
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COS!
The Company’s management is responsible for theaadial statements and the financial statemeradidi, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effeciss of internal
control over financial reporting, included in Mamagent’s Report on Internal Control over FinanciapBrting
appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is xpress opinions on these financial statementsheffihancial
statement schedule, and on the Company'’s inteamdta over financial reporting based on our ingggd audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaiBlo
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audits to obtain reasonableasse about
whether the financial statements are free of maltarisstatement and whether effective internal mver
financial reporting was maintained in all materespects. Our audits of the financial statemermsided examining
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amouadtslianlosures in the financial statements, assg$s@accounting
principles used and significant estimates made édgagement, and evaluating the overall financiaéstant
presentation. Our audit of internal control oveaficial reporting included obtaining an understagdif internal
control over financial reporting, assessing thk tiimt a material weakness exists, and testingeaalliating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobibiased on the assessed risk. Our audits aldadiedt performing
such other procedures as we considered necessidugy dircumstances. We believe that our auditsigeoa
reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrsté&ements, the Company changed the manner ichvithi
accounts for stock-based compensation in 2006.igkislsed in Note 13 to the consolidated finand&ksnents, the
Company changed the manner in which it accountarioertainty in income taxes in 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipieee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that: (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in reasendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (iiyvule reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as nactsgarmit preparation of financial statementsadgordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are breadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (iii) provide reasoeassurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitexd acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegsts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP
San Jose, California

February 28, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31 December 31
2006 2007
(in thousands, excep
par value amounts)

ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 2,662,79. $ 4,221,19.
Shor-term investment 554,84 676,26«
Accounts receivable, n 393,19! 480,55'
Funds receivabl 399,29 427,33’
Other current asse 960,46 1,317,15I
Total current asse 4,970,58! 7,122,50!
Long-term investment 277,85: 138,23
Property and equipment, r 998,19¢ 1,120,45:
Goodwill 6,544,27: 6,257,15:
Intangible assets, n 682,97 596,03t
Other asset 20,12: 131,65:
Total asset $13,494,01 $15,366,03

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 8339 $ 156,61
Funds payable and amounts due to custo 1,159,95: 1,513,57
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 681,66¢ 1,151,13!
Deferred revenue and customer advait 128,96« 166,49!
Income taxes payab 464,41¢ 111,75¢
Total current liabilities 2,518,39! 3,099,57!
Deferred and other téliabilities, net 31,78¢ 510,55
Other liabilities 39,20( 51,29¢
Total liabilities 2,589,37! 3,661,43!

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder' equity:
Common Stock, $0.001 par value; 3,580,000 sharte®ared; 1,368,512 and

1,350,219 shares outstandi 1,431 1,45¢
Additional paic-in capital 8,034,28: 8,996,30:
Treasury stock at cost, 62,250 and 107,522 sl (1,669,42) (3,184,98)
Retained earning 3,842,15! 4,190,541
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 696,19 1,701,27!

Total stockholder equity 10,904,63 11,704,60

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $13,494,01 $15,366,03

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Net revenue:
Cost of net revenue
Gross profi
Operating expense
Sales and marketir
Product developmel
General and administrati\
Amortization of acquired intangible ass
Impairment of goodwil
Total operating expens
Income from operatior
Interest and other income, r
Interest expens
Income before income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net income
Net income per shar
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average share
Basic

Diluted

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except per share amount:
$4,552,40. $5,969,74. $7,672,32!
818,10 1,256,79. 1,762,97.
3,734,29  4,712,94! 5,909,35

1,185,92  1,619,85  1,925,39:
328,19 494,69 619,72’
649,52¢  978,36.  1,156,01!
128,94 197,07¢ 204,10«

— —  1,390,93:

2,292,59 3,289,99: 5,296,17

1,441,70 1,422,951  613,18(
111,09 130,01 154,27

(3,479 (5,916 (16,600

1,549,321 1,547,05 750,85

(467,28Y) (421,419 (402,600
$1,082,04 $1,12563' $ 348,25

$ 0.7¢ 08C $ 0.2¢
$ 0.7¢ $ 0.7¢ $ 0.28

1,361,70¢ 1,399,25. 1,358,79
1,393,87" 1,425,47. 1,376,17

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

$1,082,04. $1,125,63' $ 348,25:

Net income
Other comprehensive (loss) incor

Foreign currency translatic (140,459 588,15( 645,20:

Unrealized gains on investmel 1,92 8,32 589,56t
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hec 1,29 (199 (17%)
Estimated tax provision on above ite (1,272 (3,216 (229,519

Net change in accumulated other comprehensive) (lossme (138,51) 593,060 1,005,07!
Comprehensive incorr $ 943,53: $1,718,701 $1,353,33!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock
Balance, beginning of ye
Common stock issue
Balance, end of ye:i
Additional paic-in-capital:
Balance, beginning of ye
Common stock and stock based awards issued anched
Stoclk-based compensatic
Stock option income tax bene
Structured stock repurchas

Reclassification to additionpaic-in-capitalon adoption of FAS 123(l

Balance, end of ye:
Unearned stoc-based compensatio
Balance, beginning of ye
Unearned stoc-based compensation, net of cancellat|
Amortization of unearned sto-based compensatic

Reclassification to additionpaic-in-capitalon adoption of FAS 123(l

Balance, end of ye:
Treasury stock at cos
Balance, beginning of ye
Common stock repurchased,
Balance, end of ye:i
Retained earning:
Balance, beginning of ye
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN ¢
Net income
Balance, end of ye:i
Accumulated other comprehensive incol
Balance, beginning of ye
Change in unrealized gains on investments, netx
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on cash flalgés net of ta
Foreign currency translation adjustm
Balance, end of yei
Total stockholder equity

Number of Shares

Common stock

Balance, beginning of ye
Common stock issue

Common stock repurchased/forfei

Balance, end of yei

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

$ 1,347 $ 141: $ 1,431
65 19 27
1,412 1,431 1,45¢

485598  7,272,74. 8,034,28:
1,862,190 331,89 517,28
107,98 326,61  306,45:
446,57¢  14856! 130,66
— 7,615

— (45,54() —
7,272,74 _ 8,034,28, _ 8,996,30:

(4,827 (45,540 —

(64,726) — —
24,01 — —
— 45,54( —
(45,540 — —
(274) (274) (1,669,42)

—  (1,669,15) (1,51555)
(274 (1,669,42) (3,184,98)

1,634,461 2,716,51.  3,842,15I

— — 14t
1,082,04. 1,125,63 348,25!
2,716,51. 3,842,151  4,190,54

241,64.  103,13( 696,19
1,16¢ 503: 360,04
77¢ (116€) (170)
(140,459  588,15(  645,20:
103,13( _ 696,19°  1,701,27
$10,047,98 $10,904,63 $11,704,60

1,338,60:  1,404,18  1,368,5L:
65,57t 19,04¢ 26,97¢
— (54,719 (45,279
1,404,18  1,368,51 _ 1,350,21!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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eBay Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net income $1,082,04 $1,125,631 $ 348,25:
Adjustments
Provisions for doubtful accounts and authorizedlits¢ 89,49¢ 100,72¢ 96,46
Provision for transaction loss 73,77 126,43 139,25!
Depreciation and amortizatic 378,16! 544,55: 601,70°
Impairment of goodwil — — 1,390,93i
Stocl-based compensatic 31,77: 317,41( 301,81
Deferred income taxe 91,69( (227,85() (123,37)
Tax benefit from stock based compensa 267,14. 148,56! 143,20:
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic — (92,379 (84,830
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisiffects:
Accounts receivabl (151,99) (169,75() (185,616
Funds receivabl (132,60¢) (146,900 (25,780)
Other current asse (49,37) (443,53() (416,27°)
Other noi-current asset (4,612 10,12¢ (88,717
Accounts payabl 564 32,98t 36,95
Funds payable and amounts due to custo 251,87( 575,13 336,87!
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 17,06: (31,027 (18,825
Deferred revenue and customer advait 3,64¢ 47,85¢ 37,80
Income taxes payable and other tax liabili 61,24 329,77 151,26:
Net cash provided by operating activit 2,009,89: 2,247,79. 2,641,10!
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipment, (338,28) (515,44 (453,96
Proceeds from sale of corporate airc 28,29( — —
Purchases of investmer (1,324,35) (583,267 (270,676
Maturities and sales of investme 1,928,53! 1,380,22 888,75
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (2,732,23)) (45,505 (863,569
Other (14,696 (7,159 6,30¢
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (2,452,73) 228,85. (693,146
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 599,84! 313,48:. 506,95!
Repurchases of common stock, — (1,666,54) (1,485,39)
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic — 92,37: 84,83(
Payment of headquarters facility lease obliga (126,39() — —
Principal payments on lo-term obligation: (1,849 — —
Proceeds from borrowings under credit agreer — — 200,22(
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 471,60¢ (1,260,68) (693,399
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvaénts (45,23) 133,25! 303,82¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (16,465 1,349,21. 1,558,39!
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 1,330,04! 1,313,58! 2,662,79.
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $1,313,581 $2,662,79. $4,221,19
Supplemental cash flow disclosur
Cash paid for intere: $ 347¢ % 591¢ $ 10,47«
Cash paid for income tax 40,25¢ 179,16 363,04
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Common stock options assumed pursuant to acqua: 107,86: — 10,361
Common stock issued for acquisiti 1,262,67. 18,43¢ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

83




Table of Contents

eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — The Company and Summary of Significant Aaunting Policies:
The Company

eBay Inc. (“eBay”) was incorporated in CalifornfaMay 1996, and reincorporated in Delaware in Ap8i98.
eBay’s purpose is to pioneer new communities ardgbadvorld, built on commerce, sustained by trast] inspired
by opportunity. eBay brings together millions ofybts and sellers every day on a local, nationaliaigdnational
basis through an array of websites. eBay providdia® marketplaces for the sale of goods and sesyignline
payment services and online communication offerbogs diverse community of individuals and busiesss

eBay has three operating segments: Marketplacgmdtdas and Communications. The Marketplaces segment
enables online commerce through a variety of diffieplatforms, including the traditional eBay websour
classifieds websites, Half.com, our comparison phmapsite (Shopping.com), our secondary tickettfqulen
(StubHub), and Rent.com. The Payments segmenthvaoicsists of our PayPal, Inc. (“PayPal”) businessbles
individuals or businesses to securely, easily andkty send and receive payments online. The Conications
segment, which consists of our Skype Technologfe$§'Skype”) business, enables Voice over Internettétol
(VolIP) calls between Skype users, as well as pesvidw-cost connectivity to traditional fixed-lia@d mobile
telephones.

”ou ”

When we refer to “we,” “our,” “us” or “eBay” in teidocument, we mean the current Delaware corparatio
(eBay Inc.) and its California predecessor, as aglll of our consolidated subsidiaries.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmgn
principles requires management to make estimaggassumptions that affect the reported amountss#ta and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets latullities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expensegdheneporting period. On an ongoing basis, wéuate our
estimates, including those related to provisiomsifubtful accounts and authorized credits, theipion for
transaction losses, legal contingencies, incomestaadvertising and other net revenues, stock-bamagensation
and goodwill and intangible assets. We base oimasts on historical experience and on variousrahlsumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the ciramss. Actual results could differ from those eatés.

Principles of consolidation and basis of presemtati

The accompanying financial statements are congetlidand include the financial statements of eBayan
majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant interapany balances and transactions have been elediirat
consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements include 100%e assets and liabilities of these majority-edn
subsidiaries and the ownership interests of mipamitestors are recorded as minority interestsestiments in
private entities where we hold more than a 20%ddrs than a 50% ownership interest are accountagsing the
equity method of accounting and the investmentrizadas included in long-term investments, while share of the
investees’ results of operations is included ieri@st and other income, net. Investments in prigatiéies where we
hold less than a 20% ownership interest and wherdawnot have the ability to significantly influenthe operatior
of the investee are accounted for using the cogttadeof accounting and are included in long-tereestments.

Certain prior period balances have been recladsific¢onform to the current period presentation.

Fair value of financial instruments

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, higiplydiinvestments with original or remaining matiestof
three months or less when purchased. Our finamgaluments, including cash, cash equivalents, @tiso
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

receivable, funds receivable, accounts payablelSpayable and amounts due to customers are catrexst,
which approximates their fair value because ofstiart-term maturity of these instruments.

Short and long-term investments, which include retakle equity securities and government and cotpora
bonds, are classified as available-for-sale andrteg at fair value using the specific identificatimethod.
Unrealized gains and losses are excluded frommgsrand reported as a component of other comprizleensome
(loss), net of related estimated tax provisionbemefits. Additionally, we assess whether an othan-temporary
impairment loss on our investments has occurredaldeclines in fair value or other market condifioDeclines in
fair value that are considered other than tempaaegyecorded as an impairment of investmentsdrcéimsolidated
statement of income.

Derivative instruments

We use derivative financial instruments primariydign exchange currency contracts to hedge foraigrenc
risk. We also may use other derivative instrumantsdesignated as hedges such as forwards to fieckign
currency balance sheet exposures. We do not usaitile financial instruments for speculative pusps. We
account for our derivative and hedging activitiesgoant to Financial Accounting Standards No. 188cbunting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging ActivitigSFAS 133"). The assets or liabilities associatathwur
derivative instruments and hedging activities @wrded at fair value in other current assetslwgraturrent
liabilities, respectively, in our consolidated bada sheet. See “Note 6 — Derivative Instruments’aféull
description of our derivative financial instrumexttivities and related accounting policies

Concentrations of credit risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivabléuanid receivable are potentially subject to cotregion of
credit risk. Cash and cash equivalents are pladdfiwancial institutions that management belieses of high
credit quality. Our accounts receivable are derivech revenue earned from customers located itte and
internationally. Accounts receivable balances atdes] through customer credit cards, debit caadd, PayPal
accounts, with the majority of accounts receivaigléected upon processing of credit card transastigVe maintai
an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable antiaized credits based upon our historical expege
Historically, such losses have been within our eigtgons. However, unexpected or significant futtlianges in
trends could result in a material impact to futst@ements of income or cash flows. Due to thdivelg small
dollar amount of individual accounts receivable,gederally do not require collateral on these badanThe
provision for doubtful accounts is recorded asargé to general and administrative expense, whédetovision fo
authorized credits is recognized as a reductiarebfevenues.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 20062@0d, no customers accounted for more than 10fetof
revenues. As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, nomeass accounted for more than 10% of net accoexntivable

Allowances for transaction losses

Our Payments segment is exposed to transactioedakee to credit card and other payment misuseghss
non-performance of and credit losses from selldrs accept payment through PayPal. We establistvatioes for
estimated losses arising from processing custoraesactions, such as chargebacks for unauthorieelit card use
and merchant related chargebacks due to non-dgldfegoods or services, Automated Clearing HougeC{1”)
returns, buyer protection program claims and dedoitl overdrafts. These allowances represent anradation of
the estimated amounts necessary to provide fosardion losses incurred as of the reporting datdding those ¢
which we have not yet been notified. The allowanedsch involve the use of actuarial techniques,monitored
monthly and are updated based on actual claimsrdptated by our claims processors. The allowanoedased on
known facts and circumstances, internal factorkding our experience with similar cases, histdricends
involving loss payment patterns and the mix of $estion and loss types. Additions to the
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allowance, in the form of provisions, are reflecésta general and administrative expense in owsatioiated
statement of income. At December 31, 2006 and 2B@7allowance for transaction losses totaled $@liton and
$80.1 million, respectively, and was included a®Hset to other current assets and accrued expemstother
current liabilities in our consolidated balanceethe

Foreign currency

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries use the locatency of their respective countries as their fiomal
currency. Assets and liabilities are translateeixahange rates prevailing at the balance sheet.d@éwenues, costs
and expenses are translated into United Stateardalt average exchange rates for the period. @aoh#osses
resulting from translation are recorded as a corapbaf accumulated other comprehensive income)(loss

Realized gains and losses from foreign currenaystiations are recognized as interest and othemiecoet.

Funds receivable and funds payable

Funds receivable and payable relate to our Paynsegtaent and arise due to the time taken to clear
transactions through external payment networks. Wustomers fund their account using their bankactor
credit card, or withdraw money to their bank acdaurthrough a debit card transaction, there ikaring period
before the cash is received or settled by PayRBahlly one to three business days for U.S. traimsegtand up to
five business days for international transactidfence, these funds are treated as a receivabkyable, as the ca
may be, until the cash is settled.

Customer accounts

Based on differences in regulatory requirementscamamercial law in the jurisdictions where PayRamates,
PayPal holds customer balances either as dirdotskgainst PayPal or as an agent or custodiarmloalfoof
PayPals customers. Customer balances held as directckadgminst PayPal are included on our consolidaéshbe
sheet as customer accounts with an offsetting ouliability in funds payable and amounts due tstomers. The
customer accounts can be invested only in spedifigels of liquid assets.

All customer funds held by PayPal as an agent siociian on behalf of our customers are not reftetteour
consolidated balance sheet. These off-balance &ledd totaled approximately $1.5 billion and $kilion as of
December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Theskaddince sheet funds include funds held in the th&.are
deposited in bank accounts insured by the FedexpbBit Insurance Corporation and funds that custecteoose to
invest in the PayPal Money Market Fund. The PajRaley Market Fund is invested in a portfolio maréhbg
Barclays Global Fund Advisors.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicdlless accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and
amortization are computed using the straight-lirthad over the estimated useful lives of the asgetserally, one
to three years for computer equipment and softwgréo 30 years for buildings and building impronts, ten
years for aviation equipment, the shorter of fieang or the term of the lease for leasehold impnarés, thre:
years for furniture and fixtures and three years/&hicles.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of the net tangible and idietie
intangible assets acquired in a business combmadtitangible assets resulting from the acquisgtiohentities
accounted for using the purchase method of acaugiatie estimated by management based on the fa& vh
assets received. ldentifiable intangible assets@mgrised of purchased customer lists and usey, braglemarks
and trade names, developed technologies, andiotaegible assets. Identifiable intangible assetshaing
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amortized over the period of estimated benefitgigire straight-line method and estimated usefeklirkanging from
one to eight years. Goodwill is not subject to atimation, but is subject to at least an annualsssent for
impairment, applying a fair-value based test.

We evaluate goodwill, at a minimum, on an annualdand whenever events and changes in circumstance
suggest that the carrying amount may not be reatlerimpairment of goodwill is tested at the réjpgrunit level
by comparing the reporting unit’s carrying amoumtjuding goodwill, to the fair value of the repiag unit. The
fair values of the reporting units are estimatedgis combination of the income or discounted dishs approach
and the market approach, which utilizes comparetepanies’ data. If the carrying amount of the répg unit
exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered imgzhand a second step is performed to measurantioeint of
impairment loss, if any. We conducted our annugaimment test as of August 31, 2007. As a resulhisftest, we
concluded that the carrying amount of our Commuiooa reporting unit exceeded its fair value anmbrded an
impairment charge of approximately $1.4 billionidgrthe year ended December 31, 2007. The impatrofearge
includes the impact of the earn out settlement matrto certain former shareholders of Skype anddedsrmined
by comparing the carrying value of goodwill in dlommunications reporting unit with the implied faalue of the
goodwill. See “Note 3 — Business Combinations, Gaitlcand Intangible Assetsfor further details. There were
events or circumstances from that date through Dbee 31, 2007 that would impact this assessment.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenevents or changes in circumstances indicatdtibat
carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not lm®verable. An asset is considered impaired ifarsyéng amount
exceeds the future net cash flow the asset is éxgbéa generate. If an asset is considered to paiied, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the atmuwhich the carrying amount of the asset exsésdair
market value. We assess the recoverability of @ug{lived and intangible assets by determining twhethe
unamortized balances can be recovered throughamdised future net cash flows of the related as$éis amount
of impairment, if any, is measured based on prepbdiscounted future net cash flows.

Revenue recognition

Our net revenues result from transaction, advagiand other fees generated in our Marketplacesneats
and Communications segments. Revenues are recdgmiEn evidence of an arrangement exists, thesféred
and determinable, no significant obligation remaind collection of the receivable is reasonablyiess

Our Marketplaces segment generates transactionueseor listing, final value fee and feature fard lead
referral fees. Listing and feature fee revenueseaegnized ratably over the estimated period efigting, while
revenues related to final value fees are recograzéiae time that the transaction is successfudhctuded. A
transaction is considered successfully concludegivat least one buyer has bid above the selleg'sifsed
minimum price or reserve price, whichever is higlaithe end of the transaction term. Lead reféemrevenue is
generated from lead referral fees based on the aeuofliimes a user clicks through to a merchangbsite from
our websites. Lead referral fees are recognizélddrperiod in which the user clicks through toterchant’s
website.

Our Payments segment earns transaction revenuagfiaessing transactions for certain customergefiees
resulting from a payment processing transactiorrezegnized once the transaction is complete.

Our Communications segment revenues are recognilzed the related service offering is provided. The
majority of Communications segment transaction neres are prepaid. We record customer advancesdpaiol
amounts in excess of revenues recognized as antliaiility.

Our advertising revenues are derived principalbnfithe sale of online advertisements. To datedthation of
our advertising contracts has ranged from one waéke years, but is generally one week to one .y&dvertising
revenues on contracts are recognized as “impressfoe., the number of times that an advertisement
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appears in pages viewed by users of our websitegjaivered; as “clicks” (which are generated e@mie users on
our websites click through our text-based adveriesats to an advertiser’'s designated website) anaged to
advertisers; or ratably over the term of the ages@nwhere such agreements provide for minimum nipiath
quarterly advertising commitments or where suchmmdments are fixed throughout the term. Bartergeaions ar
valued on amounts realized in similar cash traisagtccurring within six months prior to the dafehe barter
transaction. To the extent that significant deljvebligations remain at the end of a period orezlbn of the
resulting account receivable is not considered gibtey revenues are deferred until the obligaticatssfied or the
uncertainty is resolved. These amounts are inclinlddferred revenues in our consolidated balaheets Revenue
from barter arrangements totaled $6.7 million aha@ $nillion for the years ended December 31, 20662006
respectively, with the reciprocal arrangements gpeatognized as an operating expense. Revenuebaoier
arrangements was not significant in 2007. The sesvare normally received in the same period irchviiie
reciprocal services are provided. In certain cirstances, we are required to record, as a reducticevenue,
payments to a party who is also a customer. Thagments primarily consist of certain promotionaiaties which
result in payments to our users.

Our other revenues are derived principally fromtcaetual arrangements with third parties that pevi
transaction services to eBay and PayPal userserest earned from banks on certain PayPal custacceunt
balances. Revenues from contractual arrangemetttghiid parties are recognized as the contracedces are
delivered to end users. Revenues from intereshiecare recognized when earned.

We evaluate whether payments made to customeeyenues earned from vendors have a separate idblatif
benefit and whether they are fairly valued in d®ieing the appropriate classification of the retatevenues and
expense. For revenue agreements with multiple eélelbles we ensure all undelivered elements areuated for at
fair value and recognized as revenue when delivered

Provisions for doubtful accounts, transaction lsssed authorized credits are made at the timevefhiee
recognition based upon our historical experiente provision for doubtful accounts and transacki@mses are
recorded as charges to operating expense, whilgrtvésion for authorized credits is recognizedasduction of
net revenues.

Product development costs

Costs related to the planning and post implemeantathases of our website development efforts awrded a
an operating expense. Direct costs incurred irdéhvelopment phase are capitalized and amortizedtbge
product’s estimated useful life of one to threergess charges to cost of net revenues.

Advertising expense

We expense the costs of producing advertisemetie dime production occurs and expense the cost of
communicating advertising in the period during vihibe advertising space or airtime is used. Inteadeertising
expenses are recognized based on the terms ofdividual agreements, which is generally over treater of the
ratio of the number of impressions delivered ohertbtal number of contracted impressions, payepek; or on a
straight-line basis over the term of the contrAdvertising expenses totaled $665.1 million, $8#hilion and
$1.0 billion during the years ended December 3052Q006, and 2007, respectively.

Stock-based compensation

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Statsed@SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share Based
Payment” (“FAS 123(R)") using the modified prospeettransition method beginning January 1, 2006.
Accordingly, during 2006 and 2007, we recordedlsfoased compensation expense for awards grantedtpribut
not yet vested, as of January 1, 2006, as if thevédue method required for pro forma disclosuneler FAS 123
were in effect for expense recognition purposepisaeld for estimated forfeitures. For these awargshave
continued to
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recognize compensation expense using the accaleaatertization method under FIN 28. For stock-basedrds
granted after January 1, 2006, we have recogniaetbensation expense based on the estimated gterfadaalue
method using the Blac&echoles valuation model. For these awards, we feagnized compensation expense L
a straight-line amortization method. As FAS 123(@juires that stock-based compensation expensadeel lon
awards that are ultimately expected to vest, stimded compensation for 2006 and 2007 has beenecfinic
estimated forfeitures. When estimating forfeitums,consider voluntary termination behaviors ad a®krends of
actual option forfeitures. We recognize a beneditf stock-based compensation in equity if an inenetal tax
benefit is realized by following the ordering preiains of the tax law. In addition, we account fug indirect effects
of stock-based compensation on the research tait ared the foreign tax credit through the inconagesnent.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniityedpproach, which requires the recognition axes
payable or refundable for the current year andrdedetax liabilities and assets for the future ¢arsequences of
events that have been recognized in our finantaééments or tax returns. The measurement of duarehdeferred
tax assets and liabilities is based on provisidrenacted tax laws; the effects of future changeax laws or rates
are not anticipated. If necessary, the measureofatfdferred tax assets is reduced by the amousmypfax benefits
that are not expected to be realized based oradaitvidence.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accoréanith Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FA$B”
Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertairitylncome Taxes” (“FIN 48"). Accordingly, we repatliability
for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from urai@rtax positions taken or expected to be takentax return. We
recognize interest and penalties, if any, relabeginrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement afi€ial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair
Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”). FAS 157 definds value, establishes a framework for measuringvaiue
and expands disclosure of fair value measuremEAS.157 applies under other accounting pronouncésribat
require or permit fair value measurements and, raoegly, does not require any new fair value measwnts.
FAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginningeaflovember 15, 2007. However on December 14, 2@ ASE
issued a proposed staff position that would dédiayetifective date of FAS 157 for nonfinancial assetd
nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal years beginniafjer November 15, 2008. We do not believe thatathaption of
FAS 157 will materially impact our financial positi, cash flows or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"“Fhir Value Option for Financial Assets and Firainc
Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB Statem No. 115" (“FAS 159")which is effective for fiscal yea
beginning after November 15, 2007. This statemennfis an entity to choose to measure many findncia
instruments and certain other items at fair valugpacified election dates. Subsequent unrealiaets@nd losses
items for which the fair value option has beenteldavill be reported in earnings. We do not belithet the
adoption of FAS 159 will materially impact our fimgial position, cash flows or results of operations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141idee\2007), “Business Combinations” (“FAS 141(R)").
FAS 141(R) establishes principles and requiremimtow an acquirer in a business combination ratzeg and
measures in its financial statements the ident#ialssets acquired, liabilities assumed, and angartrolling
interests in the acquiree, as well as the goodwdjuired. Significant changes from current praatésailting from
FAS 141(R) include the expansion of the definitiohs “business” and a “business combination.” &bbusiness
combinations (whether partial, full or step acdiosis), the acquirer will record 100% of all assats liabilities of
the acquired business, including goodwill, gengratltheir fair values; contingent consideratiofl i recognized
at its fair value on the acquisition date and,certain arrangements, changes in fair value willdmognized in
earnings until settlement; and acquisition-relatadsaction and restructuring costs will be expdmagher than
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treated as part of the cost of the acquisition. BAS(R) also establishes disclosure requiremerggable users to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of tharmss combination. FAS 141(R) applies prospegtiteebusiness
combinations for which the acquisition date is omfber the beginning of the first annual reportpegiod beginning
on or after December 15, 2008. We are currentijuatiamg the potential impact of this statement.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160ntdatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — An amendment of ARB No. 51" (“FAS 16&AS 160 amends ARB 51 to establish accounting an
reporting standards for the noncontrolling inteiest subsidiary and for the deconsolidation ofilas&diary. It
clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a sulesiy, which is sometimes referred to as minoritgiest, is a third-
party ownership interest in the consolidated ertigt should be reported as a component of equitlye
consolidated financial statements. Among otherirequents, FAS 160 requires consolidated statenfesperation:
to be reported at amounts that include the amattributable to both the parent and the noncomtigihterest.
FAS 160 also requires disclosure, on the face®ttnsolidated income statement, of the amountsmgolidated
net income attributable to the parent and to thecantrolling interest. FAS 160 is effective forda years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, begignon or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoptogprohibited.
We are currently evaluating the potential impadhid statement.

Note 2 — Net Income Per Share:

Basic net income per share is computed by divittiegnet income for the period by the weighted ayera
number of common shares outstanding during the@geBiluted net income per share is computed biditig the
net income for the period by the weighted averagaber of shares of common stock and potentialiytidié
common stock outstanding during the period. Thetidié effect of outstanding options, restrictecc&tanits and
nonvested stock is reflected in diluted earningsspare by application of the treasury stock metlddch starting
on January 1, 2006, includes consideration of stided compensation required by FAS 123(R). THeviatg
table sets forth the computation of basic and edutet income per share for the periods indicatethusands,
except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007
Numerator:
Net income $1,082,04. $1,125,63¢ $ 348,25:
Denominator
Weighted average common sha 1,361,74 1,403,45! 1,359,28:
Weighted average nonvested common stock subject to
forfeiture/repurchas (40) (4,209 (48Y)
Denominator for basic calculatic 1,361,70: 1,399,25. 1,358,79
Weighted average effect of dilutive securiti
Weighted average nonvested common stock subject to
forfeiture/repurchas 40 4,204 48t
Employee stock optior 32,12% 22,01% 16,89
Denominator for diluted calculatic 1,393,87! 1,425,47. 1,376,17:
Net income per shar
Basic $ 0.7¢ % 08C §$ 0.2¢€
Diluted $ 0.7¢ % 0.7¢ $ 0.2¢
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The calculation of diluted income per share excdualeanti-dilutive shares. For the years endededier 31,
2005, 2006 and 2007, the number of anti-dilutivarel, as calculated based on the average closaeyqgirour
common stock for the period, amounted to approxtyat6.7 million, 73.7 million and 83.4 million stess,
respectively.

Note 3—Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intangible Asss:

Our purchase acquisitions in 2007, 2006 and 20®5 aggregate purchase prices in excess of $10mmill
were as follows:

StubHub, Inc.

On February 13, 2007, we acquired all of the ontliteg shares of StubHub, Inc. (“StubHub”) for atot
purchase price of $292.4 million. The purchasegmwi@s comprised of cash totaling $283.2 million1$tillion in
estimated acquisition-related expenses and themguisn of StubHub’s outstanding common stock opgtjoralued
at approximately $8.1 million. The fair value oulBHub stock options assumed was determined usBigck-
Scholes model. StubHub is an online marketplacef#éleditates the resale of event tickets and @duded within ou
Marketplaces segment.

We accounted for the acquisition as a taxable @selransaction and, accordingly, the purchase pas bee
allocated to the tangible assets, liabilities as=iirand identifiable intangible assets acquire@das their
estimated fair values on the acquisition date. @teess of the purchase price over the aggregatediaies was
recorded as goodwill. The fair value assigned ¢miifiable intangible assets acquired is determingdg the
income approach, which discounts expected futush @aws to present value using estimates and gssums
determined by management. Purchased intangiblésaa®eamortized on a straight-line basis overdlkpective
useful lives. Our preliminary allocation of the phase price is summarized below (in thousands):

Net liabilities assumed, net of cash of $25, $(15,667)
Goodwill 221,60«
Trade namt 44,40(
User bast 29,00(
Developed technolog 13,10(

Total $292,44:

The estimated useful economic lives of the ideaitif intangible assets acquired are three yeathddarade
name and developed technology and five years ®usier base.

The results of operations for periods prior to acquisition of StubHub, were not material to ounsmlidated
statement of income and, accordingly, pro formalte®f operations have not been presented.

In 2006, we did not make any acquisitions withtaltaggregate purchase price in excess of $10mill

In 2005, we acquired Rent.com, Shopping.com, SlypkVeriSign's payment gateway business for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $4.bbijlkesulting in goodwill of $3.4 billion and idgfable
intangible assets of $0.6 billion.
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Goodwill

Goodwill information for each segment is as follofiwsthousands):

December 31 Goodwill Earn Out Impairment December 31
2006 Acquired Settlement of Goodwill Adjustments 2007
Reportable segment
Marketplace: $2,648,02° $285,50¢ $ — 3 — $ 83,26« $3,016,79
Payment: 1,348,63. — — (26C)  1,348,37.

Communication: 2,574,97! — 530,33 (1,390,93) 204,96¢ 1,919,34,
$6,571,63" $285,50¢ $530,33: $(1,390,93) $ 287,97( $6,284,51.

Investments accounted for under the equity metli@toounting are classified on our balance shektrag
term investments. Such investments include idexuié intangible assets, deferred tax liabilitied gaodwill.
Goodwill related to our equity method investmeis|uded above, was approximately $27.4 millioroas
December 31, 2006 and 2007.

The changes in goodwill during the year ended Déegrl, 2007 were substantially due to the recgrdin
goodwill for completed acquisitions, the earn aettlement with certain former shareholders of Skympairment
charges related to Skype and foreign currency ldor adjustments.

We conducted our annual impairment test of goodweilbf August 31, 2007 in accordance with SFASINQ,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” As a resafithis test, we concluded that the carrying antadiour
Communications reporting unit exceeded its faiueadnd recorded an impairment charge of approxignate
$1.4 billion during the year ended December 31,720®ie impairment charge includes the impact ofetu® out
settlement payment described below and was detedhiiy comparing the carrying value of goodwill ur o
Communications reporting unit with the implied faalue of the goodwill. We determined the fair \@ahbf the
Communications reporting unit using the income apph, which requires estimates of future operatsglts and
cash flows discounted using an estimated discaiat Our estimates resulted from an updated lomg-ti@ancial
outlook developed as part of our strategic planeiyae conducted annually during our third quar@ur estimates
of future operating results for our Communicatioggorting unit are for an early stage business liitited
financial history, as well as developing revenuealgls. These factors increase the risk of differermdween
projected and actual performance that could imfadate estimates of fair value of the Communicagiogporting
unit.

In conjunction with our acquisition of Skype in Z)Qve agreed to certain performance-based earn out
payments. During the year ended December 31, 20®&ntered into an earn out settlement agreeménteach of
the former shareholders of Skype who had electe@dnn out alternative at the time of the acquoisjtunder which
we were relieved of all obligations under the araiearn out agreement in exchange for an aggregatepayment
of €375.1 million, or approximately $530.3 millioBoodwill was recorded because the earn out seftieamount
was considered additional purchase price.
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Intangible Assets
The components of acquired identifiable intangdsdsets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2001 December 31, 200
Gross Net Weighted Gross Net Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Usefu Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Usefu
Amount  Amortization Amount Economic Life _Amount  Amortization _Amount Economic Life
(years) (years)

Intangible asset:

Customer lists and user be $ 545527 $ (240,34() $305,18° 6 $ 588,71: $ (334,86 $253,85( 6
Trademarks and trade nan 480,35¢ (171,39() 308,96¢ 5 572,91¢ (292,85¢) 280,06 5
Developed technologie 103,35: (63,917 39,43¢ 4 125,50¢ (85,447 40,06 4
All other 58,11¢ (26,237 31,88 4 62,052 (38,54¢)  23,50¢ 4

$1,187,35. $ (501,87 $685,47" $1,349,18! $ (751,70!) $597,48:

All of our acquired identifiable intangible assate subject to amortization. Acquired identifialviangible
assets are comprised of customer lists and user trademarks and trade names, developed teches|agid other
acquired intangible assets including patents amtractual agreements. No significant residual vaduestimated fc
the intangible assets. The increase in intangiddets during the year ended December 31, 200 tedguimarily
from certain intangible assets acquired as pavuofacquisition of the outstanding shares of StubbBsiwell as
other acquisitions completed during the year. Tditecarrying amount of intangible assets relatenitoequity
investments, included above, totaled approximéaklp million and $1.4 million, as of December 3208 and
2007, respectively. Aggregate amortization expdosmtangible assets totaled $136.4 million, $22@illion and
$229.2 million for the years ended December 3152@006 and 2007, respectively. Included in amatidn of
intangibles for the year ended December 31, 2@0& charge of $10.9 million for in-process reseanuth
development related to an asset purchase commlatety the period.

Expected future intangible asset amortization femmuisitions completed as of December 31, 2008 is a
follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years

2008 $233,14¢
2009 211,65:
2010 117,31!
2011 25,53(
2012 9,75¢
Thereaftel 83

$597,48:

Note 4—Segments:

Operating segments are based upon our internahizagen structure, the manner in which our operatiare
managed, the criteria used by our Chief Operatiagiglon Maker (CODM) to evaluate segment perfornecanmd
the availability of separate financial informatidlie have three operating segments: Marketplacgsy&as and
Communications.
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Since October 14, 2005, the results from our Conications segment reflect Skype’s operations. The
following table summarizes the financial performainé our reporting segments (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 200

Marketplaces Payments Communications  Consolidatec

Net revenues from external custom $3,499,13 $1,028,45 $ 24,80¢ $4,552,40:
Direct costs 2,008,21! 725,61¢ 25,82 2,759,65;
Direct contributior 1,490,92; 302,83¢ (1,012) 1,792,74
Operating expenses and indirect costs of net reg 351,04
Income from operation 1,441,70
Interest and other income, r 111,09¢
Interest expens (3,479
Income before income tax $1,549,32i

Year Ended December 31, 200

Marketplaces Payments Communications  Consolidatec

Net revenues from external custom $4,334,291  $1,440,531 $ 194,92 $5,969,74.
Direct costs 2,503,96. 1,102,971 221,81¢  3,828,69!
Direct contributior 1,830,32! 337,61: (26,899 2,141,04:
Operating expenses and indirect costs of net reag 718,08¢
Income from operation 1,422,95I
Interest and other income, r 130,01°
Interest expens (5,916
Income before income tax $1,547,05

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Marketplaces Payments Communications  Consolidatec

Net revenues from external custom $5,363,89. $1,926,611 $ 381,82: $7,672,32!
Direct costs 3,017,89! 1,534,62 337,33¢ 4,889,86!
Direct contributior 2,345,99 391,98¢ 44,48 2,782,46!
Operating expenses and indirect costs of net res 2,169,28!
Income from operation 613,18(
Interest and other income, r 154,27
Interest expens (16,600
Income before income tax $ 750,85:

Direct contribution consists of net revenues frottemal customers less direct costs. Direct costisidle
specific costs of net revenues, sales and marketipgnses, and general and administrative expensesvhich
segment managers have direct discretionary corstioh as advertising and marketing programs, custsmpport
expenses, bank charges, site operations expemedscpdevelopment expenses, billing operationgaire
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technology and facilities expenses, transactiorerges, provisions for doubtful accounts, authorazedits and
transaction losses. Segment managers do not hsstetitbnary control over expenses such as our catgaoenter
costs (consisting of certain costs such as corpan@nagement, human resources, finance and lagad)tization o
intangible assets, stock-based compensation expanseimpairment of goodwill, as they are not eatdd in the
measurement of segment performance.

The following tables summarize the allocation df meenues and the long-lived assets based on agogr
(in thousands):

December 31,

2005 2006 2007
u.S $2,471,27. $3,108,98!I $3,742,67:
Germany 718,13 895,99 1,030,16!
United Kingdom 593,42 778,18" 1,074,48
Rest of world 769,56¢ 1,186,57 1,825,00:
Total net revenue $4,552,40. $5,969,74. $7,672,32!

December 31

2006 2007
u.s $ 917,88 $1,018,64
International 100,43( 142,53
Total lon¢-lived tangible asse! $1,018,31°  $1,161,18

Net revenues attributed to the U.S. and internatigeographies are based upon the country in vthielseller,
payment recipient, advertiser or end-to-end semprosider is located, as the case may be. LongHassets
attributed to the U.S. and international geographie based upon the country in which the as$etased or
owned.

Note 5—Investments:

At December 31, 2006 and 2007, short and long-teuestments were classified as available-for-sale
securities, except for restricted cash, and arerteg at fair value as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 200!

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Shor-term investments
Restricted cas $ 1268 $ 54 % —  $12,73¢
Corporate debt securitit 433,19. 36 (64C) 432,58
Government and agency securi 109,65:. 1 (13¢)  109,51!

$55552 $ 91 $ (776 $554,84:

Long-term investments

Restricted cas $ 2,04t $ —  $ — $ 2,04t
Corporate debt securitit 210,15¢ 15¢ — 210,31
$212,20:0 $ 158 $ —  $212,36:.
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December 31, 200°

Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Shor-term investments

Restricted cas $17,40: $ 9 3 —  $17,41(
Corporate debt securitit 37,80: — (644 37,15¢
Government and agency securi 1,02t 2 — 1,027
Time deposits and oth 22,42¢ — — 22,42¢
Equity instrument: 8,501 589,73: — 598,24

$87,16: $589,74' $ (644 $676,26

Long-term investments

Restricted cas $ 885 $ — 8 — $ 8,852
Corporate debt securitit 16,46¢ 5 (8) 16,46:
$25317 $ 5 $ (8) $ 25,31«

The following table summarizes the fair value anasg unrealized losses of our short-term and leng-t
investments, aggregated by type of investmentunstnt and length of time that individual securitiese been in a
continuous unrealized loss position, at DecembeRBQ7 (in thousands):

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Corporate debt securitit $3592 $ (6449 $ 502 $ (8) $40,94¢ $ (652

Our investment portfolio consists of both corporate government securities that have a maximumnatf
five years. The corporate and government secuth@swe invest in are generally deemed to be Iseky based on
their credit rating from the major rating agencigise longer the duration of these securities, theersusceptible
they are to changes in market interest rates and pields. As interest rates increase, those deesipurchased at a
lower yield show a mark-to-market unrealized I03% unrealized losses are due primarily to chaimgesings and
interest rates. We expect to realize the full valfiall these investments upon maturity or saleofBecember 31,
2007, the losses on these securities have an averagaining duration of approximately one monthstReted cash
is held primarily in money market funds and intétesaring accounts for letters of credit relateicharily to various
lease arrangements.

Effective during 2007, we began to account foriouestment in MercadoLibre as an available-for-sale
marketable equity security due to MercadoLibreigahpublic offering of its common stock in August 2007. As
of December 31, 2007, our investment was recortiéiravalue and reported as a short-term investmth
unrealized gains, net of tax, excluded from eamismgd reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income.
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The estimated fair value of short and long-ternestments classified by date of contractual matartity
December 31, 2007 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2007
One year or less (including restricted cash of £10) $ 78,02!
One year through two yea 16,46:
Two years through three yes —
Restricted cash of $8,852 within 10 ye 8,852
$ 103,33

Equity and cost method investments

We have certain investments accounted for usingdfuity and cost method of accounting totaling
$65.5 million in 2006 and $112.9 million in 200hé& total of these investments, including identiaibtangible
assets, deferred tax liabilities and goodwill, @essified on our balance sheet as long-term invessts. Our
consolidated results of operations include, asnapoment of other income, our share of the net ircomoss of the
equity method investments together with amortizaggpense relating to acquired intangible assais s@are of th
results of investees’ results of operations issignificant for any period presented.

Note 6—Derivative Instruments:

We recognize all derivative instruments on the hedasheet at fair value. Changes in the fair véilag gains
or losses) of the derivatives are recorded eadbgbér the consolidated statement of income or andated other
comprehensive income (loss). For derivative instrate that are designated and qualify as cash fedgés, the
effective portion of the derivative’s gain or Iassnitially reported as a component of accumulattiter
comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently sfitabinto the financial statements line item ihigh the
hedged item is recorded in the same period thedsted transaction affects earnings.

Transaction Exposure

As of December 31, 2007, we had outstanding foreigrhange hedge contracts with notional valuesvatgrit
to approximately $171.8 million with maturity dateghin 31 days. The hedge contracts are usedfsetoéhanges
in non-US dollar denominated functional currenclueaof assets and liabilities as a result of fanegchange rate
fluctuations. Transaction gains and losses on onéracts and the assets and liabilities are reeegreéach period in
interest and other income, net.

Translation Exposure

We consolidate the earnings of our internationhkgliaries by converting them into U.S. dollarsgtordance
with Financial Accounting Standards No. 52 “Fore@umrency Translation” (“FAS 52”). Such earningslwi
fluctuate when there is a change in foreign curyenchange rates. We enter into transactions tgépdrtions of
our foreign currency denominated earnings trarssiagixposure using foreign exchange contracts. g¥itracts that
hedge translation exposure mature ratably oveqtfagter in which they are executed. Translatiomgand losses
are recorded as a component of accumulated othgpretiensive income (loss). During the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the realized gaid losses related to these hedges were noticigi

97




Table of Contents

eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Economic Exposure

We transact business in various foreign currermieshave significant international revenues as asttosts
denominated in foreign currencies, subjecting usiteign currency risk. In addition, we charge ouernational
subsidiaries on a monthly basis for their use taliactual property and technology and for certairporate service
provided by eBay and by PayPal. These chargesemm@ntinated in Euros and these forecasted inter-aoynp
transactions represent a foreign currency cash éxposure. We purchase foreign currency exchangeasts,
generally with maturities of 12 months or lesstagduce the volatility of cash flows primarily reddtto forecasted
revenue and intercompany transactions denominateertain foreign currencies. The objective offreign
exchange contracts is to better ensure that theddlr-equivalent cash flows are not adversely affectediange
in the U.S. dollar/foreign currency exchange rRigrsuant to FAS 133, we expect the hedge of ceofdimese
forecasted transactions to be highly effectiveffaedting potential changes in cash flows attriluie a change in
the U.S. dollar/foreign currency exchange rate.okdmngly, we record as a component of accumulatkdro
comprehensive income all unrealized gains and $ossdated to the foreign exchange contracts tltative hedge
accounting treatment. During the years ended Deeefih 2006 and 2007, the realized gains and lostssd to
these hedges were not significant. For derivatigériments designated as hedges, hedge ineffeetigedetermine
in accordance with FAS 133, did not have a sigaiftdmpact on earnings for years ended Decembe2(5,
2006, or 2007. The notional amount of our econdmaigtges receiving cash flow hedge accounting tre#tmas
$515.7 million as of December 31, 2007. The lossespf gains, recorded to accumulated other cohgmsve
income as of December 31, 2007 were not significamtounts included in accumulated other comprelvensi
income at December 31, 2007 will be subsequentiassified into the financial statements line itemvhich the
hedged item is recorded in the same period the#sted transaction affects earnings. We did not lbay
economic hedges in place as of December 31, 2006.

Note 7—Balance Sheet Component:

December 31
2006 2007
(in thousands)

Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivabl $476,06( $ 576,77:
Allowance for doubtful accoun (68,407 (82,090
Allowance for authorized credi (14,469 (14,127

$393,19!  $ 480,55

December 31
2006 2007
(in thousands)

Other current assets:

Customer accoun $763,75°  $1,086,24
Prepaid expense 64,00: 70,18¢
Deferred tax assets, r 67,87¢ —
Prepaid income taxe — 70,36¢
Other 64,82: 90,36:

$960,46:  $1,317,15i

98




Table of Contents

eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

December 31
2006 2007
(in thousands)

Property and equipment, net:

Computer equipment and softw: $1,274,28.  $1,651,13
Land and buildings, including building improveme 355,22: 399,94¢
Leasehold improvemen 197,83! 237,82.
Furniture and fixture 77,91t 90,80(
Aviation equipment and oth 40,83¢ 52,20

1,946,09 2,431,901
Accumulated depreciatic (947,89:) (1,311,459

$ 998,19¢ $1,120,45.

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 28®¢apitalized $79.6 million and $110.6 million of
software development costs, respectively, the ritgjof which relates to site and other product depment efforts
Total depreciation expense on our property andpegent was $240.6 million in 2005, $324.6 million2@06 and
$372.5 million in 2007.

December 31
2006 2007
(in thousands)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Acquisition related accrued expen: $ 11,090 $ 10,21¢
Compensation and related bene 162,88 221,51
Advertising 97,41¢ 104,81
Contractors and consultar 59,37: 77,40:
Professional fee 62,94( 70,50°
PayPal transaction loss accr 32,14( 28,50¢
VAT accrual 61,65: 68,54
Borrowings from credit agreeme — 200,22(
Deferred tax liabilities, ne — 150,08
Other current liabilitie: 194,16t 219,33:

$ 681,66 $1,151,13
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Certain transactions that result in overdraftsustomer accounts are included in the transactiss ieserve ai
are recorded as an offset to other current assstst December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007e thalances
were $47.5 million and $51.6 million, respectively.

December 31
2006 2007
(in thousands)

Accumulated other comprehensive incom

Foreign currency translatic $696,45( $1,341,66!
Unrealized (losses) gains on investme (527) 589,04!
Unrealized losses on cash flow hed — (17%)
Estimated tax benefit (provision) on above ite 26C (229,254

$696,19° $1,701,27

Note 8—Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Arrangements

We have lease obligations under certain non-cabletperating leases. Future minimum rental payment
under our non-cancelable operating leases, at Demed1, 2007, are as follows (in thousands):

Operating

Year Ending December 31 Leases
2008 $ 64,87(
2009 59,22:
2010 45,96(
2011 32,34
2012 27,94(
Thereafte 87,68¢
Total minimum lease paymer $318,02:

Rent expense in the years ended December 31, 2006,and 2007 totaled $14.4 million, $25.8 milliand
$35.4 million respectively. As a result of varimishleasing arrangements that we have enteredietare
expecting approximately $8.2 million in subleassoime through 2012. There were no material captads at
December 31, 2006 or 2007.

Credit Agreement

In November 2006, we entered into a credit agreémvbith provided for an unsecured $1.0 billion fivear
revolving credit facility. Loans under the crediraement bore interest at either (i) LIBOR plusagm ranging
from 0.25 percent to 0.45 percent or (i) a formdsed on the Bank of America, or Agent’s, printe  on the
federal funds effective rate.

In August 2007, we entered into an amendment t@®606 credit agreement. The amendment increased the
lender commitments and borrowing capacity unde2®@6 credit agreement from its prior level of $kilion to
$2.0 billion, maintained an option to increase baing capacity by an additional $1.0 billion (aftgving effect to
the $1.0 billion increase described above) andneled the maturity date by an additional year toétober 7, 2012
Loans under the amended credit agreement will inéerrest at LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.20qent to
0.50 percent. Subject to certain conditions statdde credit agreement, we may borrow, prepayrabdrrow
amounts under the credit facility at any time dgrihe term of the credit agreement. Funds borrowed
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under the credit agreement may be used for workapital, capital expenditures, acquisitions an@oteneral
corporate purposes of eBay and its subsidiarieselitiered into the 2006 credit agreement in ordent@ance our
financial flexibility. As of December 31, 2007, wad $200.2 million outstanding under our credieagnent and
these amounts were included within accrued expeasg®ther current liabilities on the consolidadbaetance sheet.
The interest rate as of December 31, 2007 was 5.86%f December 31, 2007, we were in compliandé the
financial covenants associated with the credit exgent.

Litigation and Other Legal Matters

In April 2001, two of our European subsidiariesagEsmbH and eBay International AG, were sued by s
Rolex S.A. and certain of its affiliates in the ictpl court of Cologne, Germany. The suit subsetiyearas
transferred to the regional court in Dusseldorfrrzany. Rolex alleged that our subsidiaries werdriging Rolex’s
trademarks as a result of users selling counteRfeliex watches through our German website. Theadsit alleged
unfair competition. Rolex sought an order enjoining sale of Rolex-branded watches on the websiteedl as
damages. In December 2002, a trial was held imitter, and the court ruled in favor of eBay orcallses of
action. Rolex appealed the ruling to the HigheriBeagl Court of Dusseldorf, and the appeal was haaflctober
2003. In February 2004, the court rejected Rolapseal and ruled in our favor. Rolex appealedtliag to the
German Federal Supreme Court, a hearing took plefare that court in December 2006, and a writ@zision wa:
issued in June 2007. The court’s decision fountéBay must take reasonable measures to prevanteace once
it is informed of clearly identified infringemerand that eBay may in certain circumstances bediapbn first
notice of infringement. The court referred the daaek to the Higher Regional Court to determinetivbe in some
circumstances, a low starting listing price wadisigit to indicate that a listing was infringinig. July 2007, the
German Federal Supreme Court extended the reable Bblexdecision inlVD v. eBay. The court held that (i) in
certain circumstances, a duty of care could beddorexist to competitors requiring eBay to takasanable
measures to prevent illegal items from being lig®n where the competitors were not directly leafyrand
(i) such duty would extend to listings by the sageéler in the same category (not just identicatirigs). Prior to
these decisions, we had implemented proactive messol find and remove illegal listings from ourbsées; these
decisions may require us to undertake further effand will subject us to liability if our effortse deemed to be
insufficient. We expect that this ruling will likeresult in increased costs and litigation agairssin Germany
although we do not currently believe that it wédbuire a major change in our business practices.

In August 2006, Louis Vuitton Malletier and Chrasti Dior Couture filed two lawsuits in the Paris @af
Commerce against eBay Inc. and eBay Internatiol Phe complaint alleges that we violated Frenchl&wv by
negligently broadcasting listings posted by thiadtigs offering counterfeit items bearing plairgiffrademarks, and
by purchasing certain advertising keywords. Théngifés seek approximately EUR 37 million in damagéround
September 2006, Parfums Christian Dior, Kenzo PasfiParfums Givenchy, and Guerlain Société aled fil
lawsuit in the Paris Court of Commerce against elBayand eBay International AG. The complaint gdie that we
have interfered with the selective distributionwertk the plaintiffs established in France and tlieoean Union b
allowing third parties to post listings offeringrgéne perfumes and cosmetics for sale on our weshshhe plaintiff
in this suit seek approximately EUR 9 million inndiages and injunctive relief. We filed our initialéfs responding
to the first complaint in February 2007, and inibaefs in response to the second complaint wiged fn April
2007. We believe that we have meritorious defetsésese suits and intend to defend ourselves oigly. Other
luxury brand owners have also filed suit againsbiusave threatened to do so, seeking to holdaiéelifor
counterfeit items listed on our websites by thiadties, for “tester” and other not for resale cansuproducts listed
on our websites by third parties, for the misustademarks in listings, for alleged violationssetective
distribution channel laws, for non-compliance ofisomer protection laws or in connection with padrsh
advertisements.

In September 2001, MercExchange LLC filed a conmplagainst us, our Half.com subsidiary and RetuynBu
Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern fiict of Virginia (No. 2:01-CV-736) alleging infroiement of three
patents (relating to online consignment auctiohnetogy, multiple database searching and electronic
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consignment systems) and seeking a permanent tigarend damages (including treble damages fofwill
infringement). Following a trial in 2003, the jurgturned a verdict finding that we had willfullyfimged the paten
relating to multiple database searching and ela@rconsignment systems, and the court enteredradgfor
MercExchange in the amount of approximately $30iomi) plus pre-judgment interest and post-judgnietarest.
The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circatéel reduced the award to $25.5 million. In May &0®@llowing
appeals to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fddgrauit and the U.S. Supreme Court, the SupremearC
remanded the case back to the district court fidhéw action. In parallel with the federal courbpeedings, at our
request, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office dgreeeexamine each of the patents in the suijrfonthat
substantial questions existed regarding the vglafithe claims contained in them. In separateoastin 2005, the
Patent and Trademark Office initially rejectedadlthe claims contained in the three patents ih suiSeptember
2007, the Patent and Trademark Office tentativpjyraved some of the claims and rejected othersagwed in the
patent that underlies the jury verdict, which re¢ato electronic consignment systems. We requéiséedhe district
court stay all proceedings in the case pendinditia¢ outcome of the reexamination proceedings, and
MercExchange has renewed its request that theaflistiurt grant an injunction. In July 2007, theidadenied
MercExchange’s request for an injunction and rdabed the proceedings related to one of the pateifitbe stayed
and another of the patents will not be stayed pendction by the Patent and Trademark Office. Mrctange
appealed the court’s order denying the injunctand we filed a motion seeking that the court finel hon-stayed
patent invalid. In December 2007, the district ¢outed that it could not consider eBay’s motioosjfidgment as a
matter of law and a new trial, because it viewerl2803 verdict for MercExchange (amounting to apipnately
$30 million, plus interest) as final, subject toatounting. We have appealed that ruling.

With the appeals pending, in February 2008, thégsmagreed to settle to dismiss all claims anckajsp
stemming from the lawsuit. As a part of the setdameBay will purchase all three patents involirethe lawsuit,
and related technology and inventions, as well laease to another search-related patent porttblab was not
asserted in the lawsuit. These assets will alloayet® further enhance its operations and trustsaifety effort on it
ecommerce sites. The reserves recorded in our kdatesl financial statements properly reflect aability as of
December 31, 2007 in connection with this settlemen

In June 2006, Net2Phone, Inc. filed a lawsuit @ thS. District Court for the District of New Jeyse
(No. 06-2469) alleging that eBay Inc., Skype Tedbgies S.A., and Skype Inc. infringed five patemtsmed by
Net2Phone relating to po-to-point Internet protocol. The suit seeks anrigfion against continuing infringement,
unspecified damages, including treble damages iltfulinfringement, and interest, costs, and fedge have filed
an answer and counterclaims asserting that thetsadee invalid, unenforceable, and were not igi&th The partie
have completed fact discovery and claim constradtioefing. The pretrial conference is scheduledlime 2008,
and we expect a trial date to be scheduled for sam2®08. We believe that we have meritorious defeland
intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In August 2006, Peer Communications Corporaticedfé lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the teas
District of Texas (No. 6-06CV-370) alleging thataBInc., Skype Technologies S.A., and Skype Irftinged two
patents owned by Peer Communications relating tfmium network access. The suit seeks an injundigainst
continuing infringement, unspecified damages, aerést, costs, and fees. The parties are in theeps of
conducting discovery and claim construction brigfiand a trial date has been scheduled for Oc®@s. We
believe that we have meritorious defenses and dntieilefend ourselves vigorously.

In September 2006, Mangosoft Intellectual Propény, filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Courtrfthe
Eastern District of Texas (No. 2-06CV-390) allegthgt eBay Inc., Skype Technologies S.A., and SiSpiaware
S.a.r.l. infringed a patent owned by Mangosofttietato dynamic directory services. The suit semksnjunction
against continuing infringement, unspecified dansaged interest, costs, and fees. We have filezhawer and
counterclaims asserting that the patents are mhvatienforceable, and not infringed. We receivethéial
scheduling order from the court that sets someosliesy deadlines, but not a trial date. The padiesin the process
of conducting discovery We believe that we haveitmgous defenses and intend to defend oursehgarously.
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In February 2007, our StubHub subsidiary was saodlé U.S. District Court for the Central Distraft
California (No. CV-07-1328in a purported class action lawsuit alleging thab&lub violated the Fair and Accur
Credit Transaction Act by allegedly printing redsipontaining more than the last five digits ofedit card number
or the expiration date of a credit card by shovilnggsame on an on-screen receipt. The complaiks see
compensatory and punitive damages and attornegs\ée believe that we have meritorious defensesraadd to
defend ourselves vigorously.

In March 2007, a plaintiff filed a purported antist class action lawsuit against eBay in the Wadbéstrict of
Texas alleging that eBay and its wholly owned gilibsy PayPal “monopolized” markets through various
anticompetitive acts and tying arrangements. Thapff alleges claims under sections 1 and 2 ef$imnerman Act,
as well as related state law claims. The compkeks treble damages and an injunction. In Ap6I72the plaintiff
re-filed the complaint in the U.S. District Couot fthe Northern District of California (No. 07-C\t882-RS), and
dismissed the Texas action. In May 2007, the caseagnsolidated with other similar lawsuits
(No. 07-CV-01882JF). In June 2007, we filed a motio dismiss the class action complaint. We belibat we
have meritorious defenses and intend to defencetuas vigorously.

In May 2007, Netcraft Corporation filed a lawsuitthe Western District of Wisconsin
(No. 07-C-0254C) alleging that eBay and PayPalngfd two of its patents entitled “Internet billingethods.” The
suit seeks an injunction against continuing infemgent, unspecified damages, and interest, costdeas. In
September 2007, we filed a motion for summary judgnof noninfringement on both patents. In Decen288Y7,
the U.S. District Court for the Western DistrictWisconsin entered a judgment granting our motarstimmary
judgment of no-infringement on both of the patents that Netcaaferted against eBay and PayPal. Netcraft
Corporation has appealed the judgment.

In October 2007, PartsRiver filed a lawsuit in Besstern District of Texas (No. 2-07CV-440-DF) aitegthat
eBay, Microsoft, Yahoo!, Shopziila, PriceGrabbed &riceRunner infringed its patent relating to skanethods.
The suit seeks an injunction against continuingrigEment, unspecified damages, interest, costsfems. The
defendants have moved to transfer venue and thiepare conducting discovery. Fact discovery d¢uso$chedule:
for July 2009, and trial is tentatively scheduled ®ctober 2009. We believe that we have meritaridefenses and
intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In October 2007, Flexiworld Technologies, Inc.dile lawsuit in Western District of Washington
(No. 3:07-CV-05565-BHS) alleging that Skype infratbits patent titled “Apparatus, Methods, and Systéor
Anonymous Communication.” The suit seeks an injmcagainst continuing infringement, unspecifiedhdges,
and interest, costs, and fees. Flexiworld has absgrved Skype. We believe that we have meriteromfenses and
intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

In December 2007, Klausner Technologies Inc. fdddwsuit in Eastern District of Texas
(No. 2-07CV-525) alleging that eBay, Apple, AT&T o, AT&T Mobility, Comcast Corp., CSC Holdings,
GotVoice Inc. and Simulscribe infringed Klausngratent titled “Telephone Answering Service LinkiDggplayed
Data with Recorded Audio Message” (some of thentidats, but not eBay, are accused of infringingcsd
Klausner patent). The suit seeks an injunctionresjaiontinuing infringement, unspecified damagesd, iaterest,
costs, and fees. Klausner has served its comgiatragreed to an extension of time to answer. Wevsethat we
have meritorious defenses and intend to defencetuas vigorously.

Other third parties have from time to time claimadd others may claim in the future, that we haderiged
their intellectual property rights. We are subjicadditional patent disputes, and expect that Wienereasingly be
subject to patent infringement claims as our sesviexpand in scope and complexity. In particula gwpect that
we may face additional patent infringement claimslving various aspects of our Marketplaces, Paysand
Communications businesses. We have in the pastfbesad to litigate such claims. We may also becomoee
vulnerable to third-party claims as laws such a&sDgital Millennium Copyright Act, the Lanham Aand the
Communications Decency Act are interpreted by thets, and as we become subject to laws in juttisais where
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the underlying laws with respect to the potentatility of online intermediaries like ourselvesaither unclear or
less favorable. We believe that additional lawsalksging that we have violated copyright or tradeklaws will be
filed against us, especially in Europe. Intelletpraperty claims, whether meritorious or not, tinee consuming
and costly to resolve, could require expensive gharin our methods of doing business, or couldireqgus to enter
into costly royalty or licensing agreements.

From time to time, we are involved in other dispude regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordyneourse of
business. The number and significance of theseitis@nd inquiries are increasing as our busingsmes and our
company grows larger. Any claims or regulatory @udi against us, whether meritorious or not, coeltirne
consuming, result in costly litigation, requirergficant amounts of management time, and resuheéndiversion of
significant operational resources.

As part of the earn out settlement agreement wighfarmer shareholders of Skype who had electeddhe ou
alternative at the time of the acquisition (See tt\® — Business Combinations, Goodwill and Intatgg#ssets” in
these consolidated financial statements for furtledails), we agreed that if, on or prior to Magdh 2008, eBay
sells or transfers to an unaffiliated third pameggrities representing greater than 50% of thetandéng voting
power of, or economic interest in, Skype or alsobstantially all of the assets of Skype and itsgliaries, taken as
a whole, we would pay up to an addition&B8.4 million, or approximately $195.2 million, the aggregate, to the
former shareholders of Skype.

Indemnification Provisions

In the ordinary course of business, we have inadoheited indemnification provisions in certain afir
agreements with parties with whom we have commlereiations, including our standard marketing, potions ant
application-programming-interface license agreemdudhder these contracts, we generally indemniid h
harmless, and agree to reimburse the indemnifiety far losses suffered or incurred by the indemeqifparty in
connection with claims by a third party with resipcour domain names, trademarks, logos and diteerding
elements to the extent that such marks are apjdicatour performance under the subject agreeneatlimited
number of agreements, we have provided an inderfoityther types of third-party claims, which anelémnities
mainly related to various intellectual propertyhtg, In our PayPal business, we have provided @enimity to our
payment processors in the event of certain thimtlypdaims or card association fines against tlee@ssor arising
out of conduct by PayPal or PayPal's customeis.rbt possible to determine the maximum poteiisd under
these indemnification provisions due to our limitestory of prior indemnification claims and theigure facts and
circumstances involved in each particular provisibm date, no significant costs have been incurgber
individually or collectively, in connection with oindemnification provisions.

Note 9—Related Party Transactions:

We have entered into indemnification agreements eatch of our directors, executive officers andaderthe!
officers. These agreements require us to indenmiéh individuals, to the fullest extent permittgdlelaware law,
for certain liabilities to which they may becomépact as a result of their affiliation with us.

All contracts with related parties are at rates tmnohs that we believe are comparable with thosered into
with independent third parties. There were no niateglated party transactions in 2005, 2006 ar@ir2@s of
December 31, 2007, there were no significant ansopayable or amounts receivable from related martie

Note 10—Preferred Stock:

We are authorized, subject to limitations presatibg Delaware law: to issue Preferred Stock in @neore
series; to establish the number of shares includtdn each series; to fix the rights, preferenaed privileges of
the shares of each wholly unissued series andaedated qualifications, limitations or restrictiorss1d to increase or
decrease the number of shares of any series (bbetmw the number of shares of a series thenandstg) withou
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any further vote or action by the stockholdersDatember 31, 2006 and 2007, there were 10 millames of
$0.001 par value Preferred Stock authorized farasse, and no shares issued or outstanding.

Note 11—Common Stock:

Our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, atitles us to issue 3,580 million shares of commoaokstA
portion of the shares outstanding are subjectporahase or forfeiture over a foyear period from the earlier of t
issuance date or employee hire date, as applicAb@ecember 31, 2006 and 2007 there were 551,6@6 a
431,202 shares subject to repurchase rights aiforé, respectively.

At December 31, 2007, we had reserved 210.9 mifileares of common stock available for future issaan
under our stock option plans, including 126.7 millshares related to outstanding stock optionsestdcted stock
units and 84.2 million shares available for futgrant. In addition, as of December 31, 2007, werkadrved
approximately 4.0 million shares of common stoc&itable for future issuance under our deferredkstoit plan,
and approximately 5.2 million shares of common lstmailable for future issuance under our emplateek
purchase plan.

Treasury Stock

In June 2006, our Board of Directors authorizetbalsrepurchase program for $2.0 billion of our coom
stock, excluding broker commissions. In January72@0r Board authorized an expansion of the stepkirchase
program to provide for the repurchase of up todditepnal $2.0 billion of our common stock by Janua009. In
January 2008, our Board approved an additionakstgurchase program, for further details see “Ndte—
Subsequent Events.” The stock repurchase activider our stock repurchase program during 200@rssarized
as follows (in thousands, except per-share amaunts)

Average Value of Remaining
Shares Price per Shares Amount
Repurchasec Share Repurchasec Authorized
Balance at January 1, 20 54,52¢ $30.5¢/ $1,665,45 $ 334,55(
Additional authorization in January 20 — — — 2,000,001
Repurchase of common sta 44,55¢  $33.4Z 1,489,23. (1,489,23)
Balance at December 31, 2C 99,08 $31.8¢ $3,154,68. $ 845,31¢

These repurchased shares are recorded as tretmtkyaed are accounted for under the cost method. N
repurchased shares have been retired.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we entetedtructured equity hedging transactions. Adoag to
the terms of the transactions, on the maturity,datee market price of our common stock exceeagde-
determined price, we had the option to settle tduesiaction in cash or shares of our common stébtke Imarket
price of our common stock was below that pre-deiteechprice, we were required to settle the tramsastin shares
of our common stock. The structured equity trarieacictivity during 2007 is summarized as followsillion,
except per-share amounts):

Settlement Transaction Cash Settlement  Cash Premium Shares of Stock  Effective Price

Date Amount Amount Received Repurchased per Share
Q107 3/30/07  $99.€ $102.< $2.7 — —
Q207 6/29/07  $93.7 — — 3.C $31.4(
Q307 9/28/07  $98.Z $103.1 $5.C — —
Q407 12/21/0° $47.7 — — 14 $33.4:
Q4'07 12/28/0} $47.€ — — 14 $33.3¢
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Our stock repurchase programs may be limited onitexted at any time without prior notice. Stockueghase:
under these programs may be made through a vafi@jyen market and privately negotiated transastiorcluding
structured stock repurchase transactions or o@rative transactions, at times and in such ansast
management deems appropriate and will be funded fr@ company’s working capital or other financing
alternatives. The timing and actual number of shaepurchased will depend on a variety of factocfuiding
corporate and regulatory requirements, price ahdraharket conditions. The programs are intendeoply with
the volume, timing and other limitations set farifRule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Adi934.

During 2007, we entered into a $200 million volumeighted average price share repurchase agreefAteat.
result of this agreement, we repurchased approgisnat8 million shares of our common stock at grctive price
per share of $34.24.

In addition to the above mentioned stock repurchiastgares of stock were returned to us as padrtdio
agreements that we entered into with certain op8lkg/former shareholders. We did not pay any maopeta
consideration for the return of these shares. We hiso repurchased shares of stock from employees.

Note 12—Benefit Plans:
Equity Incentive Plans

We have equity incentive plans for directors, @ficand employees that consist of stock optiossiiceed
stock units, nonvested shares and performance beseitted stock units. At December 31, 2007, 8 hdillion
shares were authorized under our equity incentiaespand 84.2 million shares were available founrfeigrant.

All stock options granted under these plans gelyevakt 25% one year from the date of grant (0b%2six
months from the date of grant for grants to exgsemployees) and the remainder vest at a ratéd8f2 per month
thereafter, and generally expire seven to 10 yieans the date of grant. The cost of stock optiendetermined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model ondhée of grant.

Restricted stock units and nonvested shares an¢egréo eligible employees under our equity inaenfilans.
In general, restricted stock units and nonvestadestivest over one to five years, are subjecte@thployees’
continuing service to the company and do not havexgiration date. The cost of restricted stocksuand
nonvested shares is determined using the fair waloer common stock on the date of grant.

In 2007, certain executives were eligible for parfance based restricted stock units. The numbezstficted
stock units ultimately received depends on ourress performance against specified performancetsasgt by the
Compensation Committee. If the performance critar@asatisfied, the performance based restricteak stnits will
be granted and one-half of the grant will vest iarth following the end of the performance period tre
remaining half will vest one year later.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an employee stock purchase plan for gib&i employees. Under the plan, shares of our comm
stock may be purchased over an offering period withaximum duration of two years at 85% of the loafehe
fair market value on the first day of the applieabffering period or on the last day of the six-thopurchase
period. Employees may purchase shares having a waluexceeding 10% of their gross compensatiomglan
offering period. During the years ended Decembe2805, 2006, and 2007, employees purchased ajppatedy
1.4 million, 1.6 million, and 2.0 million sharesaterage prices of $25.55, $27.32 and $26.84 meeshespectivel
At December 31, 2007, approximately 5.2 millionrgiseof common stock were reserved for future issea@ur
employee stock purchase plan contains an “evergpgrenision that automatically increases, on eaamtudiry 1, the
number of shares reserved for issuance under thtogee stock purchase plan by the number of shanehased
under this plan in the preceding calendar year.
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Employee Savings Plans

We have a savings plan, which qualifies under 8retD1(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Particigati
employees may contribute up to 25% of their ansakdry, but not more than statutory limits. In 2@®& 2006, we
contributed one dollar for each dollar a participaontributed, with a maximum contribution of $1068er
employee. In 2007, we contributed one dollar fahedollar a participant contributed, with a maximaantribution
of $2,000 per employee. Our non-U.S. employeesavered by various other savings plans. Our expefsehese
plans were $8.6 million in 2005, $14.9 million iA@ and $20.4 million in 2007.

Deferred Stock Unit Plan

We have a deferred stock unit plan under whichrdedestock units have to date, been granted norege®
directors elected to our Board of Directors aftecBmber 31, 2002. Under this plan, each new direeteives a
one-time grant of deferred stock units equal toréseilt of dividing $150,000 by the fair marketwalof our
common stock on the date of grant. Each defer@ksinit constitutes an unfunded and unsecured iseohy us to
deliver one share of our common stock (or the eaaint value thereof in cash or property at ourtelay. Each
deferred stock unit award granted to a new non-eyag director upon election to the Board vests 2B%year
from the date of grant, and at a rate of 2.08%mnpanth thereafter. If the services of the directerterminated at al
time, all rights to the unvested deferred stockwusihall also terminate. In addition, directors relgct to receive, in
lieu of annual retainer and committee chair feabatrthe time these fees would otherwise be payableon a
quarterly basis in arrears for services providadly vested deferred stock units with an initi@lwe equal to the
amount based on the fair market value of commockstbthe date of grant. Deferred stock units angaple
following the termination of a director’s tenureasdirector. All eBay officers, directors and emyges are eligible
to receive awards under the plan, although, to, datards have been made only to new non-employeetdis. As
of December 31, 2007, 47,481 units have been awandéer this plan.

Valuation Assumptions

We calculated the fair value of each option awardhe date of grant using the Black-Scholes optidcing
model. The following weighted-average assumptioasawised for each respective period:

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007
Risk-free interest rate 3.8% 4.7% 4.5%
Expected life 3years 3years 3.5year
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 36% 36% 37%

Our computation of expected volatility for 2006 &2@D7 was based on a combination of historicalraacket-
based implied volatility from traded options on stwck. Prior to 2006, our computation of expeateldtility was
based on historical volatility. Our computationexdpected life was determined based on historiga¢eence of
similar awards, giving consideration to the cortwiatterms of the stock-based awards, vesting stbe@nd
expectations of future employee behavior. The @gerate for periods within the contractual lifetlhod award is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effethatime of grant.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense related to emuiéyds and employee stock purchases for 2005, 2006
2007 was allocated as follows (in thousands, exgepshare amounts):

2005 2006 2007
Cost of net revenue $ 1,881 $ 32,98. $ 37,00¢
Sales and marketir 8,69¢ 96,54° 81,29¢
Product developmel 6,46¢ 81,48¢ 76,00z
General and administratiy 14,725 106,39: 107,50¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel 31,77: 317,41( 301,81
Tax benefil (13,029 (97,5779 (92,726
Stocl-based compensation expense, net o $18,74¢ $219,83¢ $209,08:

In general, the stock-based compensation expenseif@quity incentive awards are recognized olveirt
respective vesting periods. Total stock-based cosgieon costs included in capitalized developmestwas
$8.8 million and $8.4 million for the years endeeld@mber 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Thereneasock-
based compensation costs included in capitalizedldpment costs during 2005.

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the intringadue of Skype’s and Shopping.caminvested common stc
options assumed in the acquisition was recordethaarned stock-based compensation. Upon the adagitio
FAS 123(R) in January 2006, the unearned stockebesmpensation balance of $45.5 million was rediasisto
additional paid-in capital.

Pro Forma Information for Periods Prior to the Adam of FAS 123(R)

Pro forma information regarding option grants madeur employees and directors and employee stock
purchases is as follows (in thousands, excepthpeesaamounts):

Year Ended
2005

Net income, as reporte $1,082,04.
Add: Amortization of stock-based compensation expestetermined under the intrinsic value method

(net of cancellations 18,74¢
Deduct: Total stoc-based compensation expense determined under fa@ based method, net of t _ (248,26()
Pro forma net incom $ 852,53.
Earnings per shar

Basic— Reportec $ 0.7¢

— Pro forma $ 0.62
Diluted — Reportec $ 0.7¢
— Pro forma $ 0.61
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Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option acjivinder our equity incentive plans as of and ferybar
ended December 31, 2007 (in thousands, excephpes amounts):

Weighted Average

Remaining
Weighted Average  Contractual Term Aggregate

Shares Exercise Price (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at January 1, 20 136,61: $ 30.5¢
Granted and assum 20,73¢ 31.2¢
Exercisec (24,907 18.27
Forfeited/expired/cancelle (14,58) 37.0¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 117,86:. 32.4F 572 $ 489,48(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 105,81¢ 32.1¢ 5.6¢ 471,37¢
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 75,64¢ 30.9: 5.4¢ 428,02:

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated aslifference between the exercise price of the Uyithey
awards and the quoted price of our common stoclkeédtember 31, 2007, 54.9 million options were ia-thoney.

The weighted average graaidte fair value of options granted during the y@a@5, 2006 and 2007 was $11
$10.47 and $10.60, respectively. During the ye88522006 and 2007, the aggregate intrinsic valugptions
exercised under our equity incentive plans was $/tfllion, $283.6 million and $402.4 million, re=gively,
determined as of the date of option exercise. A3axfember 31, 2007, there was approximately $32flbn of
total unrecognized compensation cost related kstptions granted under our equity incentive pldiat cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof two years.

Restricted Stock Units and Performance Based RestriStock Units Activity

A summary of the status of and changes in restristeck units granted under our equity incentianplas of
December 31, 2007 and changes during the year dbeleeimber 31, 2007 is presented below (in thousaxdept
per share amounts):

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair
Shares Value (per share)

Oustanding at January 1, 2C 50€ % 28.1:
Awarded 9,22¢ 32.8:¢
Vested (129 28.1:
Forfeited (779 32.02
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8,83: 32.7(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 6,011

As of December 31, 2007, there was approximatedB¥®million of unrecognized compensation costteglac
restricted stock units granted under our equitgmize plans. That cost is expected to be recodrozer a
weighted-average period of three years.

Performance based restricted stock units are ohtdad in the table above, as the awards are aotep until
the conditional performance is met. As of Decen83er2007 there were 174,000 performance basedctesdtstock
units expected to vest with a remaining unrecoghemmpensation cost of $4.1 million.
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Nonvested Shares Activity

A summary of the status of and changes in nonvestarkes granted under our equity incentive plads an
assumed in acquisitions as of December 31, 200¢haadges during the year ended December 31, 2G0iésente
below (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair
Shares Value (per share)

Nonvested at January 1, 20 56€ $ 31.9i
Granted — —
Vested (110 36.0¢
Forfeited (25 39.8¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 431 30.4¢

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20€07air value of awards vested under our stockgplaas
$2.5 million and $3.7 million respectively, detemad as of the date of vesting. There were no awagsting in
2005. As of December 31, 2007, there was approein&6.9 million of unrecognized compensation cetited to
nonvested shares granted under our equity inceplares. That cost is expected to be recognized avezighted-
average period of two years.

Non-stockholder approved stock option grants

Prior to our initial public offering in 1998, ourddrd of Directors approved three stock option grantside of
formally approved stockholder plans to two indepridlirectors upon their joining our Board of Dies and to a
executive officer upon his hiring. All of such agti grants vested 25% one year from the date ot,grad the
remainder vested at a rate of 2.08% per month dfftereand expire 10 years from the date of grané dptions
granted to the independent directors were immegliateercisable, subject to repurchase rights hgldsy which
lapsed over the vesting period. The terms and tiondiof such grants are otherwise identical toquatified optior
grants made under the stock option plan in effettiiat time. At the time of such grants, memberswfBoard of
Directors (and their affiliates) beneficially ownedexcess of 90% of our then outstanding votirigriests. We have
previously disclosed such option grants in our pectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Cassion on
September 25, 1998 in connection with our initiablic offering under the headings “Management —ebiior
Compensation” and “Management — Compensation Aearents.” Prior to 2004, one director and the exeeut
officer had exercised all available options undeirtrespective grants. At December 31, 2007, sartgemained
outstanding to one independent director, with 1353,éhares to be issued upon exercise of the odtatanptions at
an average exercise price of $0.39. There werda@s remaining available under these non-stockhalpproved
plans for future grants as of December 31, 2007.

Note 13 — Income Taxes:

The components of pretax income in consolidatedpeonies for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006
2007 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007
United State! $ 943570 $ 776,55. $717,61:
International 605,75! 770,50: 33,230

$1,549,32  $1,547,05  $750,85:

110




Table of Contents

eBay Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The provision for income taxes is composed of thieing (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
Current:
Federa $382,92! $460,26: $402,23!
State and loce 89,717 122,39¢ 38,081
Foreign 79,83¢ 66,61( 85,64¢
552,48 649,26¢ 525,97
Deferred:
Federa (37,65)) (146,87) (81,74%
State and loce (7,100 (32,33) (13,976
Foreign (40,43%) (48,64 (27,650

(85,19) (227,85  (123,37)
$467,280  $421,41¢ $ 402,60

The following is a reconciliation of the differenbetween the actual provision for income taxestard
provision computed by applying the federal statptate of 35% for 2005, 2006, and 2007 to inconferieeincome
taxes (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
Provision at statutory ra $542,28. $541,47. $ 262,79
Permanent difference
Foreign income taxed at different ra (149,469 (230,35() (404,00)
Goodwill impairmen — — 486,82¢
Change in valuation allowan 12,581 35,65: 34,98
Stoclk-based compensatic — 26,17¢ 24,51¢
State taxes, net of federal ben 53,691 58,54: 15,67
Tax credits (9,136 (1,142) (7,766
Other 17,31¢ (8,939 (10,42

$467,280 $421,41t $ 402,60

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe future tax consequences of differences betwhe
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities andrtresipective tax bases using enacted tax ratefeict éor the year
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in which the differences are expected to revergmificant deferred tax assets and liabilities é¢sinsf the following
(in thousands):

December 31

2006 2007
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss and cred $111,137 $ 159,33
Accruals and allowance 88,88 162,16t
Stoclk-based compensatic 103,38¢ 158,76
Net unrealized (gains) loss 4,024 4,14¢
Net deferred tax asse 307,43: 484,41
Valuation allowanct (69,777 (119,15

237,65¢ 365,25¢

Deferred tax liabilities
Acquisitior-related intangible (171,42) (152,06%)
Depreciation and amortizatic (30,139 (36,467)
Available-for-sale securitie — (235,89¢)
(201,567  (424,42)
$ 36,098 $ (59,16¢)

As of December 31, 2007, our federal, foreign aatesnet operating loss carryforwards, or NOLsjricome
tax purposes were approximately $44.8 million, $848illion, and $49.5 million, respectively. Thelization of a
portion of the NOLs is subject to an annual limdatunder Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Ghdeto a
change of ownership. However, we do not believé sumual limitation will impact our realization tife NOLs. If
not utilized, the federal net operating loss camyfrds will begin to expire in 2019, the state oygtrating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2009, and fbeeign net operating loss carryforwards will betp expire in
2009. As of December 31, 2007, our state tax cozdityforwards for income tax purposes were appnakely
$7.9 million. If not utilized, the state tax credarryforwards will begin to expire in 2015.

We have not provided for U.S. federal income andifm withholding taxes on $3.8 billion of
non-U.S. subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings aBedember 31, 2007, because such earnings arel@ud¢a be
indefinitely reinvested in the operations and ptgtmcquisitions of our International operatiobigon distribution
of those earnings in the form of dividends or othise, we would be subject to U.S. income taxesjémtitbo an
adjustment for foreign tax credits). It is not greable to determine the income tax liability tiaight be incurred if
these earnings were to be distributed.

On January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions§f48. The adoption of FIN 48 resulted in a $145,000
adjustment to beginning retained earnings.

The following table reflects changes in the unredped tax benefits since January 1, 2007:

(in thousands’

Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits asmfaig 1, 200° $ 385,70(
Gross amounts over increases in unrecognized tafitefor tax positions taken during 20 108,55!
Gross amounts of unrecognized tax benefits as oéeer 31, 200 $ 494,25
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The total liabilities for unrecognized tax benefaad the increase in these liabilities in 200atesd primarily to
the allocations of revenue and costs among ouafjlmiierations. Our liabilities for unrecognized teenefits are
recorded as deferred and other tax liabilities,imeur consolidated balance sheet. If recognittesiportion of
liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits that webdlecrease our provision for income taxes and asgr®ur net
income is $328.8 million. The impact on net incomraiéects the liabilities for unrecognized tax betsefiet of certai
deferred tax assets and the federal tax benediiadé income tax items.

Over the next twelve months, our existing tax posg will continue to generate an increase in liabgs for
unrecognized tax benefits. We recognize interedtoarpenalties related to uncertain tax positiosnsicome tax
expense. The amount of interest and penaltiesfriak denefits, accrued as of January 1, 2007 sekMber 31,
2007 was approximately $7.7 million and $16.3 roilli respectively.

We are subject to taxation in the U.S. and vargiates and foreign jurisdictions. We are under émation by
certain tax authorities for the 2003 tax year. Meterial jurisdictions that are subject to potdréiemination by ta
authorities for tax years after 2002 primarily unbé the U.S., California, France, Germany, Switret] and
Singapore.

Note 14—Subsequent Events

In January 2008, our Board authorized another steglirchase program to provide for the repurchasg ¢to
an additional $2.0 billion of our common stock with expiration from the date of authorization. 8eussion of
our stock repurchase programs at “Note 11 — Com8tonk.”

On January 30, 2008, we completed the acquisitiail of the equity securities of Fraud Sciences. L&
company with expertise in online risk tools, inaele transaction with an aggregate transaction \alue
approximately $169 million. The total purchase enall be allocated to the tangible and identif@abitangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed basedeimetstimated fair values as of the acquisitioredat
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Supplementary Data— Quarterly Financial Data-Unaudited:

The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtloe eight
quarters ended December 31, 2007. This quarteidynration has been prepared on the same basig as th
Consolidated Financial Statements and includesdfistments necessary to state fairly the inforonafior the
periods presented.

Quarterly Financial Data
(Unaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts)

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3l December 3:
2006
Net revenue $1,390,41'  $1,410,78  $1,448,63  $1,719,90
Gross profit $1,106,82: $1,113,90. $1,128,64. $1,363,58.
Net income $ 248,28. $ 249,99 $ 280,89t $ 346,46
Net income per sha-basic $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 02C $ 0.2t
Net income per sha-diluted $ 017 $ 017 $ 0.2C % 0.2t
Weightec-average share
Basic 1,406,30! 1,411,92! 1,406,38; 1,380,57
Diluted 1,437,58. 1,435,75 1,426,117 1,402,74
Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3l December 3.
2007
Net revenue $1,768,07.  $1,834,42' $1,889,22 $2,180,60
Gross profit $1,374,38"  $1,417,64 $1,442,69° $1,674,63
Net income (loss $ 377,17¢ $ 37582 $ (935,63) $ 530,88t
Net income (loss) per shi-basic $ 0.2¢ % 028 $ (0.69) $ 0.3¢
Net income (loss) per shi-diluted $ 027 % 027 $ (0.69 $ 0.3¢
Weightec-average share
Basic 1,366,91! 1,361,04 1,354,78 1,352,07
Diluted 1,384,28 1,378,69 1,354,78 1,368,06
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The Financial Statement Schedule IIVALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as parof this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Balance at Charged/ Charged tc Charges Balance at
Beginning of  Credited to Other Utilized/ End of
Period Net Income Account Write-offs Period

(in thousands)

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and
Authorized Credits

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 78,637 $ 89,49¢ $ — $ (94,54 $ 73,58t

Year ended December 31, 2C 73,58t 100,72¢ — (91,449 82,86¢

Year ended December 31, 2C 82,86: 96,46 — (83,109 96,21%
Allowance for PayPal Transaction Losse

Year ended December 31, 2C 30,38¢ 73,77 — (53,889 50,27:

Year ended December 31, 2C 50,27: 126,43¢ — (97,185 79,52¢

Year ended December 31, 2C 79,52¢ 139,25! — (138,679) 80,10%
Tax Valuation Allowance

Year ended December 31, 2C 216,12¢ 13,19¢ 3,24( (154,85)) 77,71

Year ended December 31, 2C 77,71% 28,51 6,42( (42,86%) 69,771

Year endeDecember 31, 20C 69,77 34,98: 14,39: — 119,15¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenitied
Registrant has duly caused this report to be sigmets behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duthearized, in the
City of San Jose, State of California, on the 2&th of February, 2008.

eBay Inc.

By: /s/ Margaret C. Whitma

Margaret C. Whitman
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Margaret C. Whitman, Robert H. SwarB&ird Radford, 11l, and Michael R. Jacobson, aadh or
any one of them, each with the power of substitytfos or her attorney-in-fact, to sign any amenisi¢o this
report, with exhibits thereto and other documemtsannection therewith, with the Securities andHaxge
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming alltteach of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substituteubstitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg Act of 1934, as amended, this report has &igaead
below by the following persons on behalf of theisgignt and in the capacities and on the datesane.

Principal Executive Officer: Principal Financial Officer:
By: /s/ Margaret C. Whitman By: /s/ Robert H. Swan
Margaret C. Whitman Robert H. Swan
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic

Principal Accounting Officer:

By: /s/ H. Baird Radford, IlI

H. Baird Radford, IlI
Vice President, Corporate Controller and Interim
Chief Accounting Office
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By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

By:

Additional Directors

/sl Pierre M. Omidyar

By: /s/ Fred D. Anderson

Pierre M. Omidyar

Founder, Chairman of the Board and Direc

/s/ Edward W. Barnholt

Fred D. Anderson
Director

By: /s/ Philippe Bourguignon

Edward W. Barnholt
Director

/s/ Scott D. Cook

Philippe Bourguignon
Director

By: /s/ John Donahoe

Scott D. Cook
Director

s/ Rajiv Dutta

John Donahoe
CEC-designate & Directo

By: /s/ William C. Ford, Jr.

Rajiv Dutta
President, eBay Marketplaces & Direci

/sl Robert C. Kagle

William C. Ford, Jr.
Director

By: /s/ Dawn G. Lepore

Robert C. Kagle
Director

/s/ David M. Moffett

Dawn G. Lepore
Director

By: /s/ Richard T. Schlosberg, IlI

David M. Moffett
Director

/s Thomas J. Tierney

Richard T. Schlosberg, i
Director

Thomas J. Tierney
Director

Date: February 28, 2008
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2.04+
2.05

3.01
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4.01

4.02
10.01+

10.02+
10.03+
10.04+
10.05+
10.06+

10.07+

10.08+
10.09+
10.10+
10.11+

10.12+

EXHIBIT INDEX
Filed with Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Description this 10K Form File No. Date Filed
Sale and Purchase Agreement dated as of 8-K 00024821 9/15/2005
September 11, 2005, by and among Registrant, Skype
Technologies S.A. and the parties identified on
Schedule 1 theret:
Earn Out Agreement dated as of September 11, 2005, 8-K 00024821 9/15/2005
by and among Registrant, Skype Technologies S.A.
and the parties identified on Schedule | ther
Form of Option Assumption Agreeme 8-K  00(-24821 10/18/200!
Form of EMI Rollover Agreemen 8-K  00(-24821 10/18/200!
Amendment No. 1 to Earn Out Agreement dated as of 10K 00024821 2/24/2006
December 29, 2005, by and among Registrant, Skype
Technologies S.A. and the parties identified on
Schedule | theretc
Registrant’'s Amended and Restated Certificate of 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2005
Incorporation
Registrar's Amended and Restated-laws. 8-K  00(-24821 1/16/200¢
Form of Specimen Certificate for Registrant’s S-1 33359097 8/19/1998
Common Stock
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of 8-K 00024821 9/15/2005
September 11, 2005, by and among Registrant and the
parties identified on Schedule | there
Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by S-1 33359097 7/15/1998
Registrant with each of its directors and executive
officers.
Registrar's 1996 Stock Option Plan, as amenc S-1 33359097 7/15/199¢
Registrar's 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amenc 10-K  00C-24821  2/28/2007
Registrar’'s 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amenc 10-K  00C-24821  2/28/2007
Form of Stock Bonus Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
1998 Equity Incentive Plal
Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
1998 Equity Incentive Pla
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (and 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement)
under Registra’s 1998 Equity Incentive Pla
Registrant's Amended and Restated 1998 Employee 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
Stock Purchase Pla
Registrant’s 1998 Directors Stock Option Plan, as 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
amended
Registrant’s 1999 Global Equity Incentive Plan, as 10-Q 00024821 7/27/2007
amended
Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
1999 Global Equity Incentive Pla
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 10K 00024821 2/28/2007

Registrar’'s 1999 Global Equity Incentive Ple
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10.13+
10.14+

10.15+
10.16+
10.17+
10.18+
10.19+
10.20+
10.21+
10.22+
10.23+
10.24+
10.25+
10.26+
10.27+
10.28+

10.29

10.30

10.31

21.01
23.01
24.01

Filed with Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description this 1C-K Form File No. Date Filed
Registrar’'s 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, as amenc 10-K  00C-24821  2/28/2007
Form of Stock Option Agreement under Registrant’s 10-Q 00024821 10/27/200
2001 Equity Incentive Pla
Registrant’s 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan, as 10K 00024821 2/28/2007
amended
Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan Electing 10-Q 00024821 4/25/2006
Director Award Agreement, as amend
Form of 2003 Deferred Stock Unit Plan New Director 10-Q 00024821 4/25/2006
Award Agreement, as amendkt
eBay Incentive Plar 10-Q 00C-24821  7/27/200&
eBay Inc. Deferred Compensation Pl 8-K  00C-24821 12/20/200
Summary of Compensation Payable to Named 10-Q 00024821 4/25/2007
Executive Officers
Employment Letter Agreement dated January 16, S-1 33359097 8/19/1998
1998, between Margaret C. Whitman and Regist
Stock Option Agreement dated June 9, 1998 between 10K 00024821 3/31/2003
Registrant and Scott D. Coc
Employment Letter Agreement dated August 20, S-1 33359097  9/1/1998
1998, between Michael R. Jacobson and Regis:
Offer Letter to William C. Cobb dated November 22, 10K 00024821  3/25/2002
2000.
Offer Letter to John Donahoe dated November 16, 8-K 00024821 2/24/2005
2004.
Offer Letter to Elizabeth Axelrod dated December 7, 8-K 00024821 3/10/2005
2004 and addendum thereto dated February 16,
Offer Letter to Robert H. Swan dated February 10, 8-K 00024821 2/21/2006
2006.
Letter Agreement regarding supplemental relocation 8-K 00024821 7/13/2006
assistance dated July 12, 2006 to Robert H. S
Credit Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2006, by 8-K 00024821 11/13/200
and among Registrant, Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the other lenders named
from time to time thereir
Amendment Agreement dated as of August 2, 2007, 8-K 00024821  8/3/2007
by and among Registrant, Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and other lenders named from
time to time therein
Form of Earn Out settlement Agreement dated as of 8-K 00024821 10/1/2007

September 28, 2007 among Registrant, Skype
Luxembourg Holdings S.a.r.l., Skype Technologies
S.A., Herho Holdings B.V. and each Earn out Se
List of Subsidiaries

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP consi

Power of Attorney (see signature pag

X X X
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No.
31.01

31.02
32.01

32.02

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Date Filed

Filed with
Exhibit Description this 1C-K
Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Ofig X

as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac

of 2002.

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Offig X
as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlgy Ac

of 2002.

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Ofig X
as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac

of 2002.

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Offig X
as required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlgy Ac

of 2002.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygolarrangemet
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007
DOMESTIC SUBSIDIARIES

Baazee.com, Inc., a Delaware corpora

Blackthorne Software, Inc., a Delaware corpora
Camino Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporal
CARad Inc., a Delaware corporati

EachNet, Inc., a Delaware corporat

eBay Domestic Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corpore
eBay International Inc., a Delaware corpora

eBay Real Estate Inc., a Delaware corpora

eBay Partner Network, Inc., a Delaware corpora
Global Commerce Services, Inc., a Delaware corjuor:
Half.com, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporat
Marketplace Insurance Inc., a Hawaii corpora
MicroPlace, Inc., a Delaware corporati

PayPal Asset Management, Inc., a Delaware corjpor
PayPal Data Services, Inc., a Delaware corpor:
PayPal Gift Card Services, Inc., a Arizona corgore
PayPal Global Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corpora
PayPal, Inc., a Delaware corporat

PayPal Insurance Services, Inc., a Delaware catipar
ProStores, Inc., a Delaware corporal

The Commercial Exchange Co., Inc., a Delaware catjpm
Shopping.com International Holding, Inc., a Delagvaorporatior
Shopping.com Inc., a Delaware corporal

Skype Inc., a Delaware corporati

Skype Delaware Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corpore
StubHub, Inc., a Delaware corporati

StumbleUpon, Inc., a Delaware corporat

Viva Group, Inc dba Rent.com, a Delaware corpore
Rent.com Arizona Brokerage, LL

Viva.com Realty Brokerage, LLC (Florid

Viva.com Realty Brokerage, LLC (Kentuck
Rent.com Hawaii, LLC

Viva Realty Indiana, LLC

Viva Realty Minnesota, LLC (db# Rent.con”
Rent.com Nevada, LL!

Viva Group New Hampshire, LLC (db“Rent.con”
Viva Realty Washington, LL(

Rent.com Ohio, LLC

Viva Oregon, LLC

Rent.com Pennsylvania, LL

Viva Realty Utah, LLC

Rent.com Vermont, LL(

Viva VA PA, LLC (Virginia)

VGI Delaware, LLC

Exhibit 21.01
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23.

24,

25.
26.

27.

29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42,
43.
44,
45,
46.
47.
48.
49,
50

INTERNATIONAL SUBSIDIARIES

Al Markt B.V.

Baazee.com Private Limite

DealTime (Europe) B.V

DealTime (Germany) Gmb

EachNet.com (Hong Kong) Limite
EachNet.com Limite

EachNet.com Network Information Services
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd

eBay Advertising Group Gmb

eBay Asia Pacific Regional Management
Services Ltd.

eBay Australia and New Zealand Pty Limit
eBay Australia Pty Lt

eBay Austria Gmbt

eBay Belgium Holdings S.A

eBay Belgium SPRI

eBay Europe Sa

eBay Europe Services Lt

eBay Canada Limite

eBay CS Vancouver Inc

eBay France SA

eBay Global Holdings B.v

eBay GmbH

eBay EachNet.com Network Information Services
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd

eBay e-Commerc&echnology Operations (Shangh
Co., Ltd.

eBay Engineering & Research Center (Shanghai) CoReople’s Republic of China

Ltd.

eBay India Centre Private Limite
eBay India Pvt. Ltd.

eBay International Advertising Gmkt
eBay International AC

eBay International Hong Kong Ltc
eBay Internet Support (Shanghai) Co., L
eBay Ireland Limitec

eBay Israel Holding Ltd

eBay ltalia S.r.l

eBay Japan K.}

eBay KTA (UK) Limited

eBay Motors Gmbt

eBay Motors India Private Limite
eBay Mauritius Holding Private Limite
eBay Netherlands B.\

eBay New Ventures K.k

eBay Polska sp z o.

eBay PRC AC

eBay Promotions (UK) Ltd

eBay Singapore Services Private Limi
eBay Spain International, S.

eBay Sverige AE

eBay Taiwan Company Ltc

eBay UK Limited

EU Liaison Office BVBA
Gumtree.com Australia Pty LI

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

The Netherland
Mauritius
Netherland:
Germany

Hong Kong
Cayman Island

People’s Republic of China

Germany
Korea

Australia
Australia
Austria
Belgium
Belgium
Luxembourg
Ireland
Canads
Canads
France

The Netherland
Germany

People’s Republic of China

People’s Republic of China

India
India
Switzerland
Switzerland

Hong Kong Peop’s

China

Ireland

Israel

Italy

Japar

United Kingdom
Germany

India

Mauritius

The Netherland
Japar

Poland
Switzerland
United Kingdom
Singapore
Spain

Sweder

Taiwan

United Kingdom
Canads
Belgium
Australia

Percent Ownershig

If Less Than 100%

99.98%




Name

51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.

63.

64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.

80.

82.
83.
84.
85.
86.
87.
88.
89.
90.
91.

92.
93.
94,
95.
96.
97.
98.
99.
100.
101.
102.
103.
104.

GumTree.com Limitet
High Options Sdn Bh
Hortensia B.V.

Inter Bazat

Internet Auction Co., Lt
Intoko Limited

Marktplaats B.V

mobile.de & eBayMotors Gmb
Opusforum Gmbt

PChome eBay Co., Ltc

PayPal Asia Services Ltc
PayPal Australia Pty Limite
PayPal (BVI) Holdings Inc.
PayPal CA Limitec

PayPal Deutschland Gmt
PayPal (Europe) Ltd

PayPal Europe Services Lt
PayPal France SA

PayPal Hong Kong Limite
PayPal Information Technologies (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd.

PayPal International Limite
PayPal ltalia s.r.|

PayPal Nederland B.\

PayPal Services Canada Limit
PayPal Singapore Private Limit
PayPal Spain S.1

PayPal (UK) Limitec

PayPal 2 Sal

PayPal 3 Sal

Rent New Ventures Limite

S Technologies Limite
Shanghai eBay Network Information Services
Co., Ltd.

Shopping.com Australia Pty Ltc
Shopping.com Gmbl
Shopping.com Ltd.
Shopping.com France S/
Shopping.com UK Ltd.
Shopping Epinions International Lt
Skype Communications S.a |
Skype Czech Republic s.r.
Skype Deutschland Gmb
Skype Hong Kong Limite:
Skype Limited

Skype Poland Sp. z o.

Skype Software S.a. r

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

United Kingdom
Malaysia

The Netherland
Portugal

Korea

United Kingdom
Germany

India

Ireland

Italy

Korea
Mauritius
People’s Republic of China

Percent Ownershig
If Less Than 100%

99.9t%

France

Spain

The Netherland

Germany

Germany

Taiwan 35%
Mauritius

Australia

British Virgin Islands
Canade

Germany

United Kingdom

Ireland

France

Hong Kong

People’s Republic of China

Ireland

Italy

The Netherland
Canade
Singapore
Spain

United Kingdom
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Ireland

United Kingdom
China 50%

Australia
Germany
Israel

France

United Kingdom
Ireland
Luxembourg
Czech Republi
Germany
Hong Kong
Ireland

Poland
Luxembourg




Name

105.
106.
107.
108.
109.
110.
111.
112.
113.
114.
115.
116.
117.
118.

Skype Sweden Al

Skype Technologies S.A

Skype Technologies O

Skyper Limited

Skype Luxembourg Holdings S.a |
Sonorit ApS

Sonorit Holding AS

Sv. Bilannonse

Tel-Online Limited

TOM Eachnet Holdings (BVI) Inc
TOM Eachnet PRC Holdings (BVI) Inc
Tradera AB

Tradera Nordic AE

Via-Online GmbH

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

Percent Ownershig
If Less Than 100%

Sweder
Luxembourg
Estonia

Bahamas
Luxembourg
Denmark

Norway

Sweder

Cayman Island
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Sweder

Sweder

Germany
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos.
333-130045, 333-133220 and 333-136120), Form Se$.(833-97727 and 333-117914), and Form S-8 (Nos.
333-64179, 333-87593, 333-41944, 333-58046, 33297333-100426, 333-107832, 333-117913, 333-127971,
333-129072, 333-136118, 333-140942, 333-143880,1333.31, 333-149132) of eBay, Inc. of our repoteda
February 28, 2008 relating to the consolidatednfia statements, financial statement scheduleland
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, CA
February 28, 200
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Margaret C. Whitman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,rimalight of the circumstances under which sueteshents were
made, not misleading with respect to the perioccoad by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahcondition, results of operations and cash floivhe registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAitgs 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cobotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actédul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedorres
be designed under our supervision, to ensure thtgnal information relating to the registrant,lirding its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over fgiah
reporting to be designed under our supervisioprtwide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabil
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerall
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisin
report our conclusions about the effectiveness@efdisclosure controls and procedures, as of tHegthe
period covered by this report based on such evahjand

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fisgelrter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartettie case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, ae@sonably likely to materially affect, the reggstt’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat
internal control over financial reporting, to thegistrant’s auditors and the audit committee ofrdggstrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivafanttions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadg®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to reggutbcess,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmific
role in the registrant’s internal control over fircéal reporting.

Date: February 28, 2008

/sl Margaret C. Whitman

Margaret C. Whitman
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of eBay;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,rimalight of the circumstances under which sueteshents were
made, not misleading with respect to the perioccoad by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahcondition, results of operations and cash floivhe registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAitgs 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cobotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actédul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedorres
be designed under our supervision, to ensure thtgnal information relating to the registrant,lirding its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over fgiah
reporting to be designed under our supervisioprtwide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabil
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerall
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisin
report our conclusions about the effectiveness@efdisclosure controls and procedures, as of tHegthe
period covered by this report based on such evahjand

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fisgelrter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartettie case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, ae@sonably likely to materially affect, the reggstt’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat
internal control over financial reporting, to thegistrant’s auditors and the audit committee ofrdggstrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivafanttions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadg®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to reggutbcess,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmific
role in the registrant’s internal control over fircéal reporting.

Date: February 28, 2008

/s/ Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Margaret C. Whitman, hereby certify pursuani®U.S.C. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Se®i6rof
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying annual report on Form 10-Ktli@ryear ended December 31, 2007 fully complies

with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Sectib(d}of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(i) The information contained in such report faidresents, in all material respects, the finanmaidition
and results of operations of eBay Inc.

Date: February 28, 2008

/sl Margaret C. Whitman

Margaret C. Whitman
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notghéled as part
of this report.
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

I, Robert H. Swan, hereby certify pursuant to 18.0. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Section &0
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

(i) The accompanying annual report on Form 10-Ktli@ryear ended December 31, 2007 fully complies

with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Sectib(d}of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(i) The information contained in such report faidresents, in all material respects, the finanmaidition
and results of operations of eBay Inc.

Date: February 28, 2008

/s/ Robert H. Swan

Robert H. Swan
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notghéled as part
of this report.



